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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGMMME

Sixteenth SPREP Meeting
Apia, Samoa

13-16 September 2005

PROVISIONAL AGENDA

Agenda ltem l: Official Opening

Agenda Item 2: Appointment of Chair and Vice-Chair

Agenda Item 3: Adoption of Agenda and Working Procedures

Agenda Item 4: Action Taken on Matters Arising from Fifteenth SPREP Meeting

Agenda ltem 5: Performance Review/Overview of Developments in 2004

5.1 Presentation of Annual Report for 2004 and Director's Overview of Progress
since the Fifteenth SPREP Meeting

5.2 Performance Monitoring and Evaluation Report on the 2004 Annual Work
Programme and Budget

5.3 Financial Reports

5.3.1 Report on Members' Contributions
5.3.2 Audited Annual Accounts for 2004
5.3.3 Auditor's Advice on the revised Financial Regulation

Agenda Item 6: Regional Conventions

6.1 Outcomes of the Conference of Plenipotentiaries under the SPREP
Convention to Consider and Adopt amendments to its protocols

Agenda Item 7: 2006 Work Programme and Budget

7.1 Island Ecosystems Programme Issues

7.1.1 Island Biodiversity Programme of Work
7.1.2 International Waters Project
7.1.3 Endorsement of the Pacific Islands Regional Ocean Policy Integrated

Action Strategt and SPkEP's activities related to the PIROP
7.1.4 SPREP/Convention for Migratory Species Secretariat collaboration to

lsslst PICTs on Marine Mammals

7.2 Pacific Futures Programme Issues

7.2.1 Climate Change Issues
7.2.2 Strategt for Solid Waste Management in Pacific Island Countries and

Tenitories
7.2.3 Increasing Integration of Pacific Island Territories into the Work

Programme of the Secretariat
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7.3 Effects of Human Population on the Environment

7.4 Consideration and Approval of Proposed Work Prograrnme and Budget for 2006
and Indicative Budgets for 2007 and 2008

Agenda Item 8: Institutional Matters

8.1 Appointment of SPREP Director

8.2 Proposed Procedures for Reappointment of Incumbent Directors in the Future

8.3 Proposed Amendrnents to the Current Procedures for Recruitment of Post of
Director (Paper by Ausfralia)

Agenda ltem 9: Regional Cooperation

9.1 Report of the CROP Heads

Agenda Item 10: Items Proposed by Members

Agenda ltem 1l: Statements by Observers

Agenda Item 12: Other Business

Agenda Item 13: Date and Venue of Seventeenth SPREP Meeting

Agenda Item 14: Adoption of Report

Agenda Item 15: Close

l8 March 2005
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

Sixteenth SPREP Meeting
Apia, Samoa

13-16 September 2005

Agenda Item 2: Appointment of Chair and Vice-Chair

Purpose of Paper

1 . In accordance with the "Rules of Procedure of the SPR.EP Meeting" (Rules 8.1

and 8.2), where a Meeting is hosted by the Secretariat, the Chair shall rotate
alphabetically. Where a Meeting is not hosted by the Secretariat, the Chair shall be
provided by the host country.

2. Accordingly, the Chair of the Sixteenth SPREP Meeting will be France, the
next in alphabetical order since the Secretariat last hosted the SPREP Meeting (t4SM,
Apia 2003) at which time the Chair was Fiji.

3. Rule 8.3 also provide that the Vice-Chair shall rotate alphabetically whether or
not the Meeting is hosted by the Secretariat. The Vice-Chair of the Fifteenth SPREP
Meeting was New Zealmd. Under the principle of alphabetical rotation, therefore,
Niue should be appointed Vice-Chair of the Sixteenth SPREP Meeting.

Recommendation

4. The Meeting is invited to:

2l June 2005

'r't 
''1""
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGMMME

Sixteenth SPREP Meeting
Apia, Samoa

13-16 September 2005

Agenda ltem 3: Adoption of Agenda and Working Procedures

Agenda

1. The Revised Provisional Agenda appears in the Working Paper documentation
as I 6 S IvI/O ffi c i alslProvisional Agenda/Rev. L

Hours of Work

2. Suggested hours of work for the Meeting are contained in the attached
( 1 6SIWOfficialsAVP. 3/Att. I ).

Sub-committees

3. A Report Drafting Committee would need to be appointed to assist with the
preparation of the report of the Meeting. While the membership of the Committee is
open-ended it should comprise a core of 5 or 6 members one of which should be from a

French speaking member. The Vice-Chair would chair the Report Drafting Committee.

Recommendation

4. The Meeting is invited to:

2l June 2005

."t-_._
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

Sixteenth SPREP Meeting
Apia, Samoa

13-16 September 2005

Agenda ltem 4: Action Taken on Decisions Made by
Fifteenth SPREP Meeting

Purpose of Paper

1. To report on action taken on the decisions of the 15th SPREP Meeting as ouflined
below.

Agenda Topic Report
Paragraph
Number

Matters Arising Action Taken

Item 5.1:
Secretariat's
performance
Monitoring and
Evaluation Report on
the 2003 Work
Programme and
Budget

l4 The following consensus points emerged
from subsequent discussion :

r Future Meetings will include more
detailed discussion of programme
outcomes, achievements, challenges
and lessons learned as well as long-
term objectives and vision for the
future. Further, discussion would
include the status of the regional
environment and information from
Members on the value of SPREP's
work at the national level.

o Need for a breakdown of financial
information similar to that included in
the proposed Work Programme and
Budget for 2005.

Secretariat has, where feasible,
taken these into account in
improving the 2004 Performance
Monitoring and Evaluation report
addressed under Agenda Item 5.2.

Item 5.2.1:
Report on Members'
Contributions

l8 The Meeting:
. encouraged the Secretariat to continue

to work with countries with
outstanding contributions to have
these paid at an early date.

Secretariat collected USD I 94,69 I
as at 3l December 2004 of
outstanding contributions of
USD37l ,765 as at the I 5'h SPREP
Meeting.

25 The Meeting:
r endorsed the draft SPREP Action

Plan for Managing the Environment
of the Pacific Islands Region for 2005
- 2009 as amended for recommending
to the Environment Ministers'
Meetine for aporoval.

The Action Plan is now published
and distributed.
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Matters Arising

Item:7.1:
SPREP Strategic
Programmes 2004 -
201 3

The Meeting noted that the document
would be revised and refined over time,
taking into account the following points:
r that there was a need to show how the

strategic programmes link back to the

Action Plan
. that more detail was required in the

activities under the outputs of the
proglammes

e that increased clarity was required
about what will be achieved at the
component level

. that indications were required as to
how to maintain equity in the
assistance provided to Members

r that the development of country
profiles would be a useful tool for the
Secretariat to monitor the equity and
performance of its work to Membas;

. that the Pacific Futures progratnme
was of key interest for France, which
is keen to see countries in the region
contribute to the global improvemant
of environmental governance; and

r that the Secretariat assist countries in
identifying their capacity building
priorities, developmert of appropriate
indicators in environmental reporting
and monitoring for standardisation

The Secretariat will continue to
take account ofareas fornecessary
improvements to the Strategic
Programme matrix both from
members, stakeholders and its
own experience in the
implementation of the Strategic
Programme and do another
reviedrevision of the Strategic
Frogramme in 3 years time but no
later than the mid+erm of the
Strategic Programmes.

The Strategic Programmes
document has now been published
and distributed.

The Meeting:
. approved the second draft of the

Secretariat Strategic Programmes as

amended;

o noted that the Strategic Programmes
was a living document that would be
refined and improved over time; and

o approved the realigned organization
structure (attached to the Shategic
Programmes) for phased
implementation as current
employment contracts expire and as

funding becomes available
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Agenda Topic Report
Paragraph

Number

Matters Arising Action Taken

Item 8.1:
Triennial CROP
Remuneration
Review on
Professional Staff

35 After some discussion and clarification.
the Meeting approved:
. a one off 50% increase for SPREP

professional staff for 2004, based on
satisfactory performance, to be
effective from I January 2004 on the
basis that it would not be funded
through a Membership contributions
lncrease;

o all 15 recommendations of the 2004
CRWG report (attached as Annex
VII), including a 5o/o equal increase
across the CROP and SPREP
professional staff salary scale,
effective from I January 2005, and on
the basis that it would not be funded
through a Membership contributions
increase; and

c the stabilisation mechanism (attached
as Annex VtrI) also to be effective
from I January2005.

These decisions have now been
implemented.

Item E.2:
Triennial
Remuneration
Review of SPREP
Support Staff

37 The Meeting approved:
r the upgrading of the minimum salary

of all five grades of support staff to
the 75' percentile of the local
ernployment market as stipulated in
the Staff Regulations while the
maximum remain at currett levels.
The new scale is attached as Annex
IX;

r extension of the current maximum
salary at which overtime rates are
based from WST28,600 p.a. to
WS$T36,200 p.a.; and

r (i) and (ii) become effective from I
January 2004.

These decisions have now been
implemented.

Item 9:
Recommendations of
the joint Task Force
(JTF) on SPREP
Core Services and
Budeet

39 The Meeting:
. approved the conclusions of the JTF

and the changes as proposed in the
revised Financial Regulations.

The decisions ofthe JTF had been
incorporated into the revised
Financial Regulations which had
been approved and entered into
force.

Item 11.1.1:
Regional Support
Mechanism for
National Capacity
Self-Assessments

43 The Meeting supported SPREP's
involvement in assisting countries in the
process and noted:
. the importance of the process and the

short time frame for its completion;
. the potential for the Secretariat to

back-stop national activities
particularly in relation to the
development of the toolkit and
benchmarking;

Following endorsement by
Mernbers of the NCSA Pacific
Regional Support Mechanism the
following actions have been taken:
o Support to members in

development of Project
Document for GEF approval and
funding.t

I
I
I
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Matters Arising

o potential linkages with related
activities, such as the national
biodiversity capacity assessment,

millennium development goal

reporting and national sustainable
devel opment strategies;

r several countries had commenced
implernentation of the NCSA;

r the need to consider subsequent work
to build capacity following the
assessment;

o Australia's commitment of
AUD$413,000 to support the project.

r 2 sub-regional workshops held
on the NCSA process and
methodology for Thematic
Assessments

o Newsletter developed and
circulated

o Support for in-country activities
(national workshops and
meetings)

o Development of guide on the

UNFCCC for use in stocktaking
o Development of a self

assessment tool for use by
NBSAP national coordinators

The Meeting:
o endorsed the approach proposed by

the Secretariat.

Item ll.2.l:
Pacific Islands
Environment Outlook
2004

The Meeting
e noted the development of the PIEO

2004"
r undertook to provide comments to the

Secretariatby l5 October2004; and
. agreed that PIEO 2004 would be

circu.lated to Members by November
2004.

Comments received and
incorporated. Revised draft sent

in full form to some members in

November. Subsequently a final
edit by UNEP/SPREP reduced the

document to fit within a 100 page

framework. Final product released

at the Mauritius International
meeting. Copies received by
SPREP in May. Sent by Circular
to Member sin June 2005. E-
version soon to be available via
the SPREP website.
The PIEO has now been published
and distributed.
r Project Brief was submitted to

the GEF Council meeting in
June. Project Briefis now
converted into a UNDP hoject
Document prior to GEF CEO
flidorsement.

o Consultation meetings were held
with SOPAC and the CROP
Energy Working Group to
ansure compl anentarity.
PIGGAREP activities have been
agreed to with the CROP Energy
Working Group and reflected in
the Group's endorsed Pacific
Islands Regional Energy
Strategic Action Plan.

Itrm 11.2.2:
Climate Change,
Climate Variability
and Sea Level Rise

ln discussion, the Meeting:
. approved the second phase of PIREP

so long as there were sufficient funds
to carry out the activities;

. expressed some concem about
possible duplication of work with
SOPAC's energy work and the need
to collaborate closely with SOPAC
and other relevant CROP agencies;
and

r noted the inadequacy of funds for
Phase I and encouraged wide
consultation with stakeholders.



l6SlWOfficials/TVP.4
Page 5

Agenda Topic Report
Paragraph

Number

Matters Arising Action Taken

. Through tight control on
expenditures, the PIREP was
extended from November 2004
based on its original budget.

. Widespread consultations
have been conducted with both
national, regional and
international stakeholders
through country team meetings,
national workshops, meetings of
the CROP Energy Working
Group and Project Advisory
Committee, the 2004 Regional
Energy Meeting and regional
workshops.

52 The Meeting:
r endorsed the approach taken by the

Secretariat to address greenhouse gas

mitigation and adaptation measures;
o endorsed the approach made by the

Secretariat in support of assisting
Pacific Island Countries with Second
Nafional Communications,

. strongly encouraged participating
countries to approve ODS regulations;

o endorsed the initiative taken by the
Secretariat to address waste ozone
depleting substances;

o noted the recommendation of the ad
hoc Working Group on Climate
Change; and

r requested PIREP to collaborate with
SOPAC in the implementation of
Phase 2.

Preliminary discussions have
been conducted with relevant
staff at SPREP about their role
in the implementation of the
PIGGAREP, thus supporting
SPREP's programmatic
approach.

In collaboration with UNDP,
SPREP is developing a Pacific
Adaptation to Climate Change
Proposal to be submitted to
GEF for funding in 2006.
SPREP has supported Samoa,
Cook Islands and FSM carry
out their stocktaking and
proposal development and
further work will be carried out
in this area.

The establishment of ODS
regulations is a precursor to
conducting train-the-trainer
workshops for customs officers
on controlling the imports of
ODS and how ODS regulations
would be implemented in each
country. ln April 2005, SPREP
conducted the first customs
training in the Republic of the
Marshall Islands as it was the
only core country that has
passed ODS regulations.
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Matters Arising

Developing this initiative from
a concept note into a proposal

is "on hold" due to the

commitments of each country
to cornplete the current phase

ofthe Project. The Secretariat
plans to convene a regional

thematic workshop in Nadi,
Fiji in the third quarter of 2006

to discuss lessons leamt from
the project and future
directions. It is envisaged that
future directions would include
developing this initiative
further into a proposal. As
well, a component on "research
and development" to highlight
any possible environmental and
health impacts of ozone layer
depletion in the Pacific region
would be included.
A regional meeting in Madang
l2 June 2005 adopted the
Pacific Islands Framework for
Action on Climate Change
2006-201 5.

Consulted SOPAC and other
stakeholders on co-fi nancin g

thePIGGAREP.
Implementation details will be

discussed later in 2005 with the

PICs, UNDP and the co-
financing partners during the

UNDP hoject Document
preparation process.

r Confirmation of SOPAC's and

any other CROP Energy
Working Group's role in the

implementation of the

PIGGAREP will be confirmed
with the PICs, UNDP and GEF
in a regional workshop,
planned to be held later in
2005, as part of the UNDP
Project Document preparation

The Meeting noted:
. with appreciation France's stated

intention to increase its level of
funding support to the Secretariat and

to the region in general;

Item 11.3:
Proposed work
programme and
Budget for 2005 and
lndicative budgets for
2006 and 2007



l6SlWOfficialsAVP.4
PageT

Agenda Topic Report
Paragraph
Number

Matters Arising Action Taken

with appreciation the new work
programme and budget format;
that the format may be periodically
refined to provide Members with a

better means to evaluate work
progranrme impl ementafi on ;

the positive development in reducing
the unsecured proportion of the
budget from 24Yo in 2004 to 19% in
2005;
Australia's focus on support to the
organization through programme
funding to achieve agreed outcomes;
New Zealand's preference for
providing programme funding
(currently tagged to specific staff
positions), with flexibility to support
one-offprojects where the need arose;
risks associated with preparing annual
budgets on the basis that all Membsr
contributions would be received;
the allocation of some donor
programme funds to cover a shortfall
in the core budget arising from
outstanding member contributions;
the potential for the Secretariat to
access additional sources of funding
assistance, particularly in relation to
the EU, through Mernber Pacific
French territories;
the need to develop and implement the
Resourcing Strategy to shengthen
collaboration with existing and new
partners;

that activities and verifiable indicators
for the annual work programme need
to be more specific than is provided in
the Action Plan and the Strategic
Programmes;

the need to include costs associated
with executive appointments in the
2005 work period;
that the Environmental Irnpact
Assessmeat Ofiicer is currently
unfunded;
the need to secure funds for the Donor
Liaison Officer post and for continued
support to the PEIN initiative;

The Secretariat has to the best of
its ability taken on board and
incorporated relevant suggestions
made here by last years Meeting in
developing the 2006 Work
Programme and Budget.
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Matters Arising

. opportunities to use experts in French
Member teritories to support
implementation of specific work
programme activities;

r the need to clearly identify activities,
within the Pacific Futures Programme,
that address management and public
education regarding rapid population
growth; and

r the availability of a strategy for the

Year of Action Against Waste and the
draft Solid Waste Management

A discussion paper has been

prepared and circulated and
will be addressed under
Agenda item 7.3

The Meeting:
r requested the Secretariat to investigate

the possibility of increasing the

Project Management Fee from non-
member countries and organizations
to help free up funds for
prograrnmatic work;

. requested increased clarity in relation
to personnel and personnel costs
associated with outputs;

. requested the Secretariat to produce a

discussion paper addressing the
effects of human population on the
environment, in close consultation
with other CROP agencies including
the University of the South Pacific;
and

. approved the proposed 2005 Work
Programme and Budget on the
understanding that the Secretariat
would adjust the allocation of funds to
reflect negotiations with donors and

circulate the revised final document to
Members within one month and where
possible, the revised final document
would also incorporate greater

specificity in work program activities
and verifi able indicators.

The 5' Environment Ministers
Meeting did endorse the SPREP

Meeting Officials
recommendation in this regard and

the Secretariat has now used the

name change and the Depositary
has on the official and legal level
informed Parties of the approval
for ratifications.

The Meeting:
. agreed that the new name for the

Organisation be the Paciltc Regional
Environment Programme (while
retaining the acronym SPREP) and the
Secretariat be the Secretariat for the

Pacific Regional Environment
Programme (SPREP).

Item l2.l:
Proposed Name
Change for SPREP
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Agenda Topic Report
Paragraph
Number

Matters Arising Action Taken

. agreed to recommend this change to
the 5th Environment Ministers'
Meeting for endorsement by
consensus ofall Parties attending the
SPREP Environment Ministers'
Meeting, and that the proposed name
changes may be used immediately
thereafter.

6l The Meeting:
. requested the Secretariat to prepare a

paper for the next SPREP Meeting
with a view to harmonising with
practices evolving in other CROP
agencies on reappointment of
incumbents and a mechanism to
enable all Pacific island sountries and
territories to comment on the
performance of the incumbsnt
director;

o aPPointed a SAC with representatives
from Australia, Cook Islands, Fiji,
France, Republic of Marshall Islands,
New Zealand, Tokelau, Samoa and the
United States, chaired by French
Polynesia as Chair of the SPREP
Meeting; and

. approved a Terms of Reference for the
Position of Director, attached as

Annex X.

A paper has been prepared and
circulated and will be

addressed under Agenda item
8.2

The SAC had met to carry out
its duties and its report will be

discussed under Agenda Item
8.1

The approved TOR was used in
the advertisement of the post.

62 To meet concems expressed at the 14'
SPREP Meeting, the Secretariat proposed
to the Meeting a new sec{ion to be added
to Staff Regulation I I as follows:

Appointment of Director and Staff
Regulation 1l

Staff

"(e) When appointing staff, the
Director shall comply with the SPREP
recruitmert procedures and will ensure
that these processes are transparert,
equitable and based on merit."

The new approved sub section (e)
is now incorporated into an

amended Staff Regulations.

Item 12.3:
Proposed
Amendment to Staff
Resulations

63 The Meeting noted:
r that the Secretariat was developing a

policy on sexual harassment that
would be made available to Members.

A policy has been approved and is
be available on request.
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Agenda Topic Report
Paragraph
Number

Matters Arisiug Action Taken

64 The Meeting:
r requested that copies of the detailed

recnritment procedures of the
organisation be made available to
Members;

r requested that Members resident in
Samoa be involved in the recruitment
of senior staff positions, such as the
new Programme Manager positions;
and

. approved the proposed amended text

o With the coming on board now
of the Corporate Services
Manager, he will be
coordinating the compilation of
various existing policies and

procedures into a single
manual.

r The Secretariat, called on the

help of SPREP mennbers

resident in Apia to participate
in the selection panels for the 3

Manaser oosts.

Item 12.4:
Revised Financial
Regulations

66 The Meeting: 
I. requested that the Secretariat seek the 
J

advice of its current auditors on the
adequacy of the new financial
Regulations.

. agreed that the wording of 8ft) (i) and

80) (ii) be amended as follows:
o 80) (0 replace "after

consideration of donor
requirements" with "in a rnnner
consistent with donor
requiranents".

o 8(b) (ii) replac€"consultation with
donors where appropriate" with
"in a manner consistent with donor
requirernents".

. agreed that the wording of regulation
l0 be amended as follows:
o Change "two thirds of the previous

year's approved budgetary
expenditure" to "one quarter ofthe
previous year's approved
budgetary expenditure" as well as

to seek the advice of the auditors

on the amount of expenditure
permitted.

. requested additional wording for
Regulation l6c to reflect the idea that
if requested by donors then any
interest generated from programme

and project funding should revert back
to the programme and not be credited
to the core fund. This r€quest is to be

acfioned from the 2006 Budget;

The auditors opinion is provided
and tabled under Agenda Item
5.3.3.
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Recommendation

2, The Meeting is invited to:

l4eeting.

2tl June 2005

Agenda Tople Report
Paragfep:b
Nunber

M8tt3trs Artiitng Acdon TaBen

'. requested that tlre audired financial
statements of the Secre;tariat bc
ddailed to the level of the prograrnrne
coirponerfl (refe,r to regulation 27);
&qd

o epproved the proposcd rcvised
Financial Regulations (attached as
Arrnex )O), witlr the amendmenb
above. to bccome effoctive
irnmediatcly after the conclusion of
the 156 SPREP Mectinc.

The new Aoen&d Financial
reguletions is in forcc, printed aod
availablc.

Item I2.5:
Falau - Nstice,sf
Desire ts Acoede ts
the SPB,EF

,A,greement

6t The Meeting:
e welcomed Palauts request to accede to

the SPREP Trcatg4,

r welsornad the advice from Vanuatu
that it intends to accBde b the SPREP
Tleary before the 16s SPREp Meting;
and

I noteil that the Unlted States remairrs in
the ptooess of accession.

o The Govemrnent of Palau has
baen officiallyinforrned of the
SFREF Meeting's agreernent
and invited to lodge irs
hstrument of Acsession.

r The Secretriat has bcen in
constant wnia€t with tfte
Gsv.ernment of Vanuatu,on this
rnatter an{ qslisting with the
orovision of itrfonieation.
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGMMME

Sixteenth SPREP Meeting
Apia, Samoa

13-16 September 2005

Agenda ltem 5.1: Presentation of the Director's Annuat Report for 2004 and
Overview of Progress since the Fifteenth SPREP Meeting

Purpose of the Paper

l. To table the Director's Annual Report for the Year 2004 and to present his
overview of progress since the Fifteenth SPREP Meeting (Pape'ete, French Polynesia,
September 2004).

Comment

2. The Annual Report for the Year 2004 is attached. The Director will verbally
present his overview, a copy of which will be distributed immediately following his
presentation. As well as providing an overview on progress, the Director's presentation
is also intended to alert Members to emerging issues and trends and to raise matters on
which he and the Secretariat will need further direction and advice.

Recommendation

3. The Meeting is invited to:

23 July 2005
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGMMME

Sixteenth SPREP Meeting
Apia, Samoa

13-16 September 2005

Agenda ltem 5.2: Performance Monitoring and Evaluation Report (PMER)
on the 2004 Work Programme and Budget

Purpose of Paper

l. To present to the Meeting forreview the Secretariat's internal monitoring and
evaluation of its performance for 2004.

Background

2. The SPREP Meeting (SM) Rules of Procedure require that the Secretariat
include in the SM agenda "a review by the Secretariat of progress with the
implementation of the SPREP work progranrme..." The Performance Monitoring and
Evaluation Report however does not only serve to meet this requirement but it also
enables the Secretariat itself particularly its Executive to identiff areas where it would
need to improve as well as emerging issues and challenges. This experience guides the
formulation of ensuing work programmes and budgets.

3. The report provides details of what had been achieved in each KRA against
individual outputs and performance measures set for those outputs. These outputs and
performance measures are drawn from the previous Action Plan (2001-2004\ through
the Secretariat's Corporate Plan (2001-2005). The perfonnance monitoring and
evaluation report is contained in Attachment l.

3. This evaluation is useful for both management and members and the
Secretariat's intention is that with available funding in the future this intemal
assessment could be supplemented with independent evaluations of aspects of its work
on a rolling basis.

Recommendation

4. The Meeting is invited to:

23 July 2005
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PR.OGMMME

Sixteenth SPREP Meeting
Apia, Samoa

13-16 September 2005

I
Agenda ltem 5.3.1 : Report on Members' Contributions

Purpose of Paper

l. To report on the receipt of Members' contributions in accordance with Financial
Regulation 14.

Background

2. Financial Regulation 14 requires the Director to submit to each SPREP Meeting a
report on the receipt of Members' contributions. This report addresses Members'
contributions received during 2004. It also provides an update on the status of Members'
contributions received in 2005, up to 30 June, and the unpaid balances of contributions as
at 30 June 2005.

Members' Contributions received in 2004 and 2005 (to 30 June 2005)

3. Attach for members' information is a statement, which shows the amounts due
from respective members as at 30 June 2005. Total contributions outstanding as at 30 June
2005 is USD$660,008 or 7l% of total 2005 contributions, made up of USD$244,124
unpaid for 2004 and prior years and USD$415,884 for 2005 contributions.

4. As the table would indicate, a total of USD$894,787 was received by the
Secretariat in 2004 leaving a balance of contributions outstanding of USD$318,483
(equivalentto 34Yo of total 2004 members contributions) as at 31 December 2004.

5. The contributions due for the year 2005, is $935,572 and so far this year, (as at 30
June 2005), the Secretariat has received US$594,047 towards 2005 and prior years
contribution in arears.
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Outstanding Contributions :

6. Other than members with minor adjusting balances, the following member

countries are in arrears as at 15 July 2004 for both 2005 and prior years contributions:

Recommendation

7. The Meeting is invited to:

to be addressed;

t

I

Member Country
2004 and
prior year
liabillties

2005
contributions

peyable

Payments to 30-
Jun-05

Balance es at
30Jun-05

American Samoa 0 10,184 (5,090) 5,094

Cook Islands 0 10,184 10,184

FSM 2,760 10, I 84 (2,945) 10,fi)0

French Pollmesia 9,263 20,360 29,623

Marshall tslands 0 10,184 10,184

Naruu I17,866 10,184 128,051

New Caledonia (3,537) 20,360 16,823

Niue 10,104 10,184 (10,103) 10,185

Nth Marianas 26,927 10,184 37,112

Palau 10,184 10,184 20,368

Papua New Guinea 20,359 20,360 (20,01l) 20,708

Samoa 0 20,360 20,.360

Solomon Islands 104,053 20,360 (40,650) 83,763

Tokelau 0 10,184 l0,l 84

Tonga 0 10, I 84 10,184

USA 0 186,787 196,787

Vanuafu I1,010 20,360 31,369

Wallis & Futuna 8,814 10,184 18,999

06 July 20&
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

Sixteenth SPREP Meeting
Apia, Samoa

13-16 September 2005

Agenda ltem 5.3.2: Audited Annual Accounts for 2OO4

Purpose of Paper

1. To present the Audited Annual Accounts for the year ended 3l December 2004.

Background

2. Financial Regulation 27(e) requires the Director to submit audited financial
statements to the SPREP Meeting, while Regulations 30-32 prescribes the manner in
which the financial statements are to be presented and audited. Financial Regulation 33

requires the Director to circulate to each SPREP Meeting, the Auditors Report on the

financial operations of SPREP, together with such remarks as the Director may wish to
offer, prior to the SPREP Meeting.

3. The audited Financial Statements for the year ended 3l December 2004 have

been prepared in accordance with the Financial Regulations and comprise the following
documents:

. Audit Opinion

. Balance Sheet
o Income and Expenditure Statement
. Staternent of Cash Flows
o Notes and Supporting Papers to the Accounts
. Auditor's Report to Management

4. The auditors report provided a clean and unqualified opinion of the Secretariat's
financial operation.

Recommendation

5. The Meeting is invited to:

2l June 2005
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Fugslei Strec* by the Bridgp

Fuglhi
PO Box 1599

Apia. Samoa

Tdeplmrc: (685) 20321

(685) 20322
For: (585) 23722

(615) 21335
Email: lcsocon(@samr.*s

ATIDITORS' REPORT
TO TITT MEMBERS OF THE
SECRETARHT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL EITIVIROI\MENT PROGRAMME (SPREP)

We have audited the financial statements of SPREP as set out on pages 3 to 12 for the year ended 3t
December 2004. The financial statements provide information on the financial performance of the
organisation, and its financial position as at 3l December 2004.

Management Responsibilities
The Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the financial statements that
comply with generally accepted accounting practice, and that gives a tnre and fair view of the
financial position of SPREP as at 3l December 2004, and its financial performance and cash flows for
the year ended on that date.

Auditors Responsibilities
It is our responsibility to express an independent opinion of the financial statements presented by
Management, and to report our opinion to you.

Basis of Opinion
An audit includes examining on a test basis, evidence relevant to the amounts, and disclosures in the
financial statements. It also includes assessing:

o The significant estimates and judgments made by management in the preparation of the
financial statements; and

o Whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the circumstances of the organisation,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We conducted ow audit in accordance with Intemational Standards of Auditing. We planned and
performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations, which we considered
necessary to provide us with sufficient evidence, to give reasonable assurance that the financial
statements are free from material misstatements, whether caused by fraud or enor. In forming our
opinion, we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial
statements.

Specific Reporting Requirements
ln accordance with the specihc audit reporting requirements of SPREP's Financial Regulation 32 (a)
to (0, we report as follows:

(a) Extent and character of examination is as explained in the section above under the heading
"Basis of Opinion'.

(b)Matters affecting the completeness and accuacy of the accounts refer to our report to
management that is attached, titled'Management Report". There are no matters which may
have significant effect on the completeness and accuracy ofthe accounts.
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(c) The accuracy or otherwise of the supplies and cquipment records as determincd by
stocktaking and exarnimtion of the reords. The fixed asset registcr has bcing up datcd for the
year ended 3 | December 2O04,following the last physical count of all SPREPs ass€ts csnicd out
in July 2003.However, lhere was rlo physical count conductcd for the ycar ended 3l Dec'mber
2004. Thc Draft Financial Rules and Procedures Manual (DFRPM) clcarly states that all SPREPs
asscts must be physically countcd evcry ycar pnor to the audit.

(d) The adeqr.racy of financial procedures of SPREP including internal control msttcn and
adherence to Finsncial Regulations. The Draft Financial Rules and Procedures Manual (DFRPM)
will be finalized with the revised Finsncial Regulation approved by the SPREP Meaing.

(e) The matlcs raiscd in our r€port to Management have becn satisfactorily addresscd
by Management.

Ophbn
ln our opinior\ the financial statements give I true and fair vicw of the financial pocition of the Secrcariat
of the Pacific Regional Environment Programme (SPREP) as of 3 | December 2004. ard of thc rcsulc of
its operatioru for the year than ended in accordance with generally accepted accounting prirrciples and in
acsordance with the SPREP Rcvised Financial Rcgulatiors as approved.

Our audit was complaed on 50 May 2005 and our opinion is expressed as ar rher datg

Apia, Samoa C erti fied Public Acconnturts
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONiiENT PROGRAMME

BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 3I DECEIIiBER 2OO4

2003

I.IONCURRENT ASSETS

4,56J,04_ Property, Plant and Equipmenl

4,566,029 Total Non€urrent Assets

CURRENT ASSETS

449,349 Cash at Bank and on Hand

3,324,734 Bank Term Degosits

l0!,3L8 AccountsReceivable

3'883"051 TotalGunentArset3

2004 Notae

4,9?gJ1!_ 3

_4,620,716

791,543 4

5,464,E77 5

_123112. 6_

6,379,502

_+!9199- rorAL AssErs

REPRESENTED BY:

FUNOS AND RESERVES

52.867 Capital Fund

448,558 Reserve Fund

4,591,313 Capihl Reserve

593,374 ExchangeVariationReserve

5,686,112 Total Funds and Reserves

70jqs_
70,805

797,927

1,894,6-91

_2,693S1_

--E'.19'1se_

11,000,30E

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES

Defened Income

Total Non€urront Liabilitlec

CURREilT LIABILITIES

Adrlance Funding

Creditors and Accruals

Donor Funds & Olhers

Total Cunent Liabilities

TOTAL FUTIDS, RESERVES AND LIABILMES

52,867 7

4,{8,558 I
4.591,313 9

799,892 10

5,892,630

lq!g!_ r1

70,t05

1.Er 0,935 12

722.001 t3

_ 2,503,937 _1!.

__!,ffiqtrl3 _

:!::999!9!-

The Balance Sheet should be read in conjunc{ion with the Notes to the Financial Statements, whidr
form an integral part of lhe Financial Statements.

Director
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INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2OO4

2003

Actual

781,335

208,565

151,920

184,557

12,796

119,889

358,581

1,817,643

(509,440)

(1 ,183,506)

(1,692,946)

124,697

INCOME

Members Funds

Administration Fees

Exchange Gain

lnterest

Sale of Fixed Assets

Other lncome

Donor Funds

TOTAL INCOME

EXPENDITURE

Project Management

Primary Function

TOTAL EXPENDITURE

EXCESS OF INCOME/ (E XPENDITURE)

Primary Function & Proj Mgt Funds from prior years

2004

Actual

1,036,202

282,062

16,761

267,76'l

125,593

665,126

2,393,505

(32e,6e5)

(1,419,055)

(1,748,750)

644,755

124,697

769,452

16117

16117

6,052,231

(6,087,685) 16117

(6,087,685)

(35,454)

1,769,939

1,734,495

769,452

2,503,937

with the Notes to Financial

15

124,697 Funds to be carried forward

PROJECT FUNDS

5,505,405 Funds received during the year

EXPENDITURE

(5,991,456) Projectlmplementation

(5,991,456) TOTAL EXPENDITURE

(486,051) Excess of expenditure over funds received

2,255,990 Project Funds brought fonrard from prior year

1,769,939 Project Funds at year end

124,697 Primary Function & Project Management Funds

1,894,636 TOTAL FUNDS CARRIED FORWARD

The Income and Expenditure Statement should be read in conjunction
Statement, which form part of the Financial Slatements
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2OO4

cAsH FLOWS FROM(TO) OPERAT|NG ACTtVtTtES

INFLOWS

Donor funds

Members contributions

Project administration fees

Interest receipts

Miscellaneous receipts

OUTFLOWS

Salaries and related costs

Other operating expenses

Net Cash Flows provided to Operating Activities

cAsH FLOWS FROM(TO) |NVEST|NG ACTtVtTtES

INFLOWS

Proceeds from sale of propefi, plant & equipment

oUTFLOWS

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Net Gash Flows provided to Investing Activities

Net (Decrease)/lncrease in cash held

Cash at the beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at year end

Represented Bv:

Cash on hand and at banks

Term deposits

Cash at end of year

2004

8,528,292

1,036,202

292,06?

255,075

14a3y

10,243,985

(2,372,979)

(5,334,092)

2,537,024

(54,687)

(54,687)

2,492,337

3,774,093

6,256,420

791,543

5,464,977

6,256,420

I
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2OO4

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following summary of significant accounting policies is given in order to assist in

understanding the amounts presented in the financial statements.

(a) Accounting System

(i) The financial statements are prepared on the basis of historical costs and do not
take into account current valuation of non+unent assets.

(ii) The concepts of the accrual method and going concern basis of accounting
are applied.

(iii) The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the accounting
standards and disclosure requirements of the lntemational Accounting
Standards, except where stated othennise. - t

(iv) All amounts shown in the financial statements are expressed in US dollars.

(b) Fund Accounting

The Secretariat has adopted a fund accounting system, as a considerable part of its

annual fund, comprises of aid funds for specified projects.

The identification of funds is maintained throughout the accounting system thus providing

the control necessary to ensure that each fund is used only for the purpose, which it is
received.

(c) Depreciation

Fixed Assets are not being depreciated as from 2003 to coincide with the Fund Accounting
policy and to recognise the fact that to replace and maintain the fixed assets expenditure
provisions are included in the annual budget.

(d) ComparativeFigures

Where necessary figures have been adjusted to conform to the changes in presentation in

the current financial year.

(e) Foreign Currency Transactions

All foreign currency transactions during 2004 have been brought to acr,ount using the bank
exchange rate in effect at the date of the transac;tion. Realised exchange gain/losses on

term deposits matured during the year have been taken to the statement of income and

expenditure. Foreign currency monetary items at balance date are translated at the closing
exchange rate existing at that date.

Unrealised exchange gains and losses, arising on translation of monetary items at balance
sheet date are taken to the Exchange Variation Reserve to accommodate future losses or
gains due to fluctuation of rates in the foreign currency market. The increase in the
exchange variation reserve in the 2004-year was due to the strengthening of various
currencies used for operations against the United States curency.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2OO4

(0 Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognised in the accounts using the cash basis concept of accounting except
for interest income. Expenditure is accounted for on an accrual basis.

(g) Donor Funds

Donations from Aid Agencies are usually for specifled purposes. These funds are
separately identified in the accounting system and expenditure recorded against each
fund. Donor Funds, which are applied to capital items of projects are charged to
expenditure at time of acquisition and are brought into the accounts as fixed assets at the
completion of projects and are valued at their carrying value.

(h) CommitmentAccounting

The Secretariat operates a system of commitnnent accounting for its non-salary
expenditure. Expenditure is recognised when purchase orders are placed and charged
against the appropriate code.

(i) Apportioning of Expenses

Consistent with the financial regulations adopted at the Fifth Intergovemmental Meeting in
Apia in September 1992 and further amended at the Tenth SPREP Meeting in Apia in
September 1998, expenses will be apportioned amongst the categories of "Primary
Function," "Project Management' and "Project lmplementation". Apportionment was
based on the following criteria:

- Costs that can be directly traced to Primary Function have been charged to Primary
Function.

- Costs that can be directly charged to Project Management have been charged to
Project Management.

- Costs that can be directly charged to Project lmplementation have been charged to
Project lmplementation.

- Costs that are common between Primary Function and Project Management have
been allocated between the Primary Function and Project Management on the basis
of cost drivers developed by the Secretariat. For the 2004-year, the cost drivers have
resulted in 40o/o of these costs being allocated to Pro;iect Management and 60% to
Primary Function.

0) Donor Funded Assets

Assets acquired by individual projects during the year are not included in SPREP's
balance sheet as the ownership of these assets remains with the donor. The treatment at
this level is to expense these assets in the Inepme Statement as the disbursement is
incuned. At the completion of these projects, donors generally donate these assets to
SPREP, at which time the assets will be included on he Balance Sheet at their carrying
value.

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY

There have been no significant changes in the Accounting Policies.

NOTE 2.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2OO4

NOTE 3: NON.GURRENT ASSETS - PROPERTY, PLANT AITID EQUIPMENT

Fixed assets are not being depreciated in 2004 in accordance with the Secretariat policy adopted in
2003. Assets are shown at the balance sheet at their written down value at 31 December 2002 while
assets purchased since 2003 are recorded at their historical value.

2003

NOTE 4: GASH AT BANK AND ON HA}ID

2004

(2,1',tz)
(16,768)

23,175
177

Local Gurrency
ANZ - SAT Account
WBC - lnt Waters SAT Account
WBC - EU PEIN SAT Account
Petty Cash

6,097
12,285

28
187

4,472

2,980
22,337
49,342

111,814
210,790

9,730
37,884

444.877

Forelgn Currency
ANZ - USD Account
ANZ - AUD Account
ANZ - NZD Account
WBC - USD Account
WBC - lnt Waters USD Account
WBC - Int Maritime Org Account
WBC - NZD Call Account

18,597

49,395
23,683
29,175

316,912
189,722
't16,036

48,023
772,946

wDv

31.I)ec{3 Description

GosWaluation Accumulated D€preciatlon wDv

3lSec{X31-Dac-03 Addtn Diso'l 31.I)ec{14 lrlan{X Depn Adjts Diso'l 3t-Dec{X

4,006,it4:

74,671

406,91a

32,041

45.95!

Property at cost
)omputer Equip at
)ost

Equipment at cosl

Fumiture at cost

Vlotor Vehicles at
lost

4,269,51(

115,231

475,55(

125,04t

62.241

91t

17,39(

35,68i

68(

4,270,42t

132,62i

511,244

125,7!

6? 2tll

(263,0671

(40,559

(68,641

(93,004

(16.291

(263,067

40,5s9)

(68,641

(93,004

(16.291

4,007,361

92,06€

442,602

32,730

/t5.95!

4.566,029 Total 5.047.59 54.687 5,102,271 (/l81,562 ('t8t,562
'1,620,7t1

__449,19_ Closlng Balance as at 31 December 2004 791,543
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2OO4

2003

NOTE 5: BANKTERM DEPOSITS

Local Currency
986,006 WBC - SAT Account
716,793 SCB - SATAccount
177,750 NBS - SAT Account

1,880,549

Foreign Currency
714,537 WBC - AUD Account
729,648 WBC - NZD Account

1,444,185

_3,34J.3!_ Closing Balance as at 31 December 2004

NOTE 6: ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

902 Debtors
406 Staff Accounts

7,670 Other
59,343 Accrued lnterest
11,533 Withholding tax
11,010 Interbank
18,504 Prepayments

109,368 Gloslng Balance as at 31 December 2004

NOTE 7: CAPITAL FUND

52,867 Opening Balance
Add/Less: Movements during the year

_{499I_ Closing Balance as at 3l December 2004

NOTES: RESERVEFUND

448,558 Opening balance as at 1 January 2004
Add: Net Surplus/(Deflcit) for the year

2004

1,758,858
1,136,359

948,355
3,843,572

778,345
842,960

1,621,305

5,464,E77

2,076
314

10,517
72,030
18,907

'117

19,211

123,172

52,867

52,967:

448,558

_448,!99_ Glosing balance as at 3l December 20M 448,558:

The General Reserve Fund represents the sum total of accumulated results arising from Primary
Function and Project Management activities for the purpose of covering the organisation in cases of
emergencies or unforeseen circumstances and unexpected budget shortfalls.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 20(K

2003

NOTE 9: CAPITAL RESERVE

Capital Reserve is represented by the following capital donations:

1,870,480 SPREP Complex by Donor Govemments
2,370,833 Training and Education Centre Project by Japan

350,000 Information Resource Centre by European Union

___4,591!19_ Closing Balance as at 3l December 2004

NOTE 10: EXCHANGE VARIATION RESERVE

67,092 Opening Balance as at 1 January 2004
526,282 Plus: Exchange difference arising from translation

593,374 Glosing Balance as at 3l December 2004

NOTE l1: DEFERRED INCOME LIABILITY

70,805 Represents Defened Income on Assets acquired through Donor Funds
- Less: Accumulated Amortisation

_Zq!99_ Closing Balance as at 31 December 2004

NOTE 12: ADVANCE FUNDING

Australia Funding towards 2005 program strategy
New Zealand Funding towards 2005 program strategy

Glosing Balance as at 31 December 2004

NOTE 13: CREDITORS AND ACCRUALS

143,606 Provision for Leave Entitlement
149,614 Provision for Repatriation
426,707 TradeCreditors

2,799 PayrollCreditors
75,201 Other Creditors and Accruals

797,927 Closing Balance as at 31 December 2004

2004

1,870,480
2,370,833

350,000

4,591,313

593,374
206,518

799,892:

70,805

70,80s:

763,035
1,047,900

I,810,935:

143,799
136,662
366,343

75,197

--,

I
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2O(M

NOTE 14: DONOR FUNDS & OTHERS

Details
Balance
lJan-04 lncome Expenses

Other
Credit Adis

Balance
31-Dec.04

Asian Development Bank (2.707\ 0 (10,446) 0 (13,1s3

AusAlD XB 249,719 822.894 (825,078) 7,674 255,209

AusAlD XXB 197,617 64,018 (231,e90) (282) 29,362

BioNet 18,665 0 (8,64e) 0 10,016
Canada South Pacific Ocean Development
Program 55,413 303,498 (362,000) 3,089 0

Canadian Intemational Development Agency 368,241 714,224 (613,442) 9.732 478,755

Commonwealth Secretariat 11,951 0 0 (3,019) 8,932
Department of Intemational Development (92,065) 10s,596 0 (3,365) 10,166

European Union (51,474) 54,169 (2,6e5) 0 0
GEO Schutzt Den Regenwald e.V 63,977 0 (63,e77) 0 0

Govemment of Denmark 78,590 0 (76,363) 0 2,227

Govemment of France 46,290 273,638 (72,530) 225 247,623

Govemment of Japan 24,468 102,351 (128,623) 4,259 2,455
Govemment of the United Kingdom 27,599 0 (16,536) (2,2s8) 8,806

Institute for Global Environment Strategies 0 72,920 (74,158) 1,238 0
Intemational Maritime Organisation (7,263) 271,',t12 (e2,s64) (84,271) 87,015

John D & Catherine T MacArthur Foundation 0 60,000 (3s,613) 0 20,387

Multiple Dofiors 166,852 311,739 (221,66e) 172,030 428,952

Netherlands Red Cross Society 7,746 0 0 0 7,746
NZ Aid PIE 132,107 228,738 (223,465) (31,803) 105,577

NZ Aid XB 41,908 507,808 (503,415) 2,906 49,206

NZAid XXB 0 133,860 (124,7111 1,903 11,053

Pacific Development & Conservation Trust (201) 10,300 (2,3s4) 0 7,704
People's Republic of China (12,860) 0 0 12,860 0

Primary Funclion 40,381 1,il7,472 (1,165,660) 10,424 432.617

RAMSAR Secretariat 0 33,148 (21,s30) 286 11,503
United Nations Convention to Combat
Desertification 1,592 0 0 0 1,592

United Nations Development Program 28,139 2,309,849 (2,212,9531 6,653 131,689

United Nations Environment Program 176,323 217.526 (322,2621 1,987 73,574
United Nations Tech Co-Op Activities (part of
UNDESA) 45,369 1,712 (53,e64) 343 (6,540)

UN Economic & Social Commission forAsia &
the Pacific (UNESCAP) 3.211 0 (6s) 0 3,146

UN Educational Scientific & Cultural
Orqanisation (UNESCO) 115 0 (e) (106) 0

US Additional Member Contributions 45,117 9,486 (5s,213) 92 3,482
US Dept of Energy/Los Alamos University 29,784 0 (25,464) 481 4,801

US Fish & Wildlife Service 121 .81 9 0 (107,247) 371 14,943
US National Oceanic Atrnospheric
Administration 75,663 119,626 (131,624) 789 64,45s

Westem Pacific Regional Fisheries
Manaqement Council

(1,450) 57,522 (45,726) 292 10,637

Total 1,694,636 8,333,206 7,836,435 112,530 2,503,937
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2OO4

t2003

NOTE l5: OTHER INCOME

1,808
1,530

21,980
26,879

15.940

Insurance Recovery
Publications Sale
Rental lncome
Miscellaneous
Prior Year Adjustments
Commission
Travel & Other Recoveries

Total

Personnel
Costs

Operatlng
Costs

2004

3,471
1,730

17,589
66,107
18,859
10,950
6,887

_125,!9!_

Total

51.752

11g,EEg

NOTE 16: EXPENDITURE SUMMARY

5,991,456 Project lmplementation
509,440 ProjectManagement

1,183,506 PrimaryFunction

1,478,994
134,282
746,844

4,608,691
195,413
672,211

6,087,685
329,695

1,419,055

7,684,402

NOTE 17: ANALYSIS BY FUNCTION

NOTE 18: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Secretariat has no contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2004.

NOTE 19: CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Secretariat has no commitments with respect to capital expenditure.

2,360,121 5,476,315 7,836,435

Descriptlon
31-Dec{13 lncome/

Recelots
Expenses Surplus/

(Deffclt)
Transferg Balance

31-Dec{14

)roject lmplementation
)roject Management
)rimary Function

1,769,939
(289,637)

414,334

6,052,231
352,672

2,040,833

(6,087,685)
(32s,6e5)

(1419,0s5)

(35,454)
22,977

621,778

1,734,485
(266,660)
1,036,112

1.894.636 8.445.736 (7.836.435) 609,301 2,503,937
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

Sixteenth SPREP Meeting
Apia, Samoa

13-16 September 2005

Agenda ltem 5.3.3: Auditor's Advice on the Revised Financial Regulations

Purpose of Paper

l. To provide the Meeting with the advice of the Auditor on the new SPREP
Financial Regulations as required by the 15th SPREP Meeting (SM) and to obtain
approval for a minor consequential amendment stemming from the Auditor's opinion

Background

2. At the lsth SM while considering and then approving the revised and updated
SPREP Financial Regulations, the delegate of Australia requested and the SM agreed
that the "Secretariat seek the advice of its current auditors on the adequacy of the new
Financial Regulations (para 66 of the l5'h SM Report).

3. The Secretariat has canied out this request and the advice of the Auditor is
aftached (together with our request to them for advice). The Auditor has confirmed the
adequacy of the new Financial Regulations.

4. In providing his advice the Auditor has made a suggestion for a minor
reiurangement of the regulations to appropriately place the reference to the need not to
provide for depreciation of fixed assets.

5. The Secretariat fully supports this and recommend according that Financial
Regulation 27(b) be amended to delete the phrase ".. . and to avoid the requirement to
provide for depreciation". And that Regulation 28 be also amended to add to its current
wording the phrase "and there shall be no depreciation charge for fixed assets".

Recommendation

t 5. The Meeting is invited to:

Regulations; and

contained in paragraph 5 above.

I 5 July 2005
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Mr F Vitolio Lui
Dcputy Director
SPRF,P

Dear Sir

Adequacl of SPREP'S New Finrncirl Reguletions

We rel'er to your letter of | 3 April2005 relating to the above maflef, ard our subsaquen dis{:rr$isns during the
audit clearance mesting of 20 rh May 2005.

We advise that we have reviewed the Financial Regulations and we make the foltowing suggcstions for your
considerations and Final approval by thc SpREp Meaing.

o arnetd the wording of the Regulation 27 (b) by deleting the words " and to avoid rhe rcquircmant to
provide depreciation "; and

' expand Regulation 2E to include, and thcre shall be no deprcciation charge for Fixcd 8ss€ts.

-Based on our rcview of the N-ew Financial Regulatiom, and subjcct to thc abovc suggetions wc bclicve the Ncw-Financial Regulatioru of thc sPREP arc arJeqriate for its financiir no*.

Lesa ma Pern

,/'.-
\, '7(z; r7..\
-A 

Lesa
Partner
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FN 1/3

l3 April 2005

Matataualiitia Afa Lesa

Lesa ma Penn

Fugalei, Apia

Dear Matataualiitia"

Advice on Adequacy of SPREP's New Financial Regulatlons

I undersrand you are in the closing stages ofyour audit ofour 2004 accounts.

you would rccall from our dissussions o[ your audit last year of our 200] accounts I

mentioned that we were required to review our Financial Regulations to take account of

changes in the work programme and budgeting operations of the organtzation since its

establishmcnt rn 1993.

]'he 146 SPREP Meeting (sM) of September 2003 held here in Apra had also agreed

with a proposat from the Dtrector to form a Joint Review Task t'orce of members and the

Secrctariai to review the core functions of lhe Secrctariat and thcir influcnce on the

budget to guide the Secretariat in its review of the Financial Regulations. 'l'hc Task

Force met in November 2003 and made certain dccisions and dircctions to the

Secretariat not only in framing its budget but in amendtng its Frnancial Regulatrons.

ln our revtew of and proposing changes to the Financial Rcgulations, we took into

account the rclevant decisions o1'Joint Task Force, the experrencc ot'the secretariat wlth

its budget and operations over reccnt years. the experience and practtcc ol'other regional

organrzations forming the CROP ((louncil of Regional Organisations of the Pacific) and

culTcnt bcst practice-

Our detailcd working paper on an amended f inancial Regulalrons was tablcd at the

l5SM hcld in Tahrti last September. Except frrr a few minor changes by the SM our

recommended new Financial Regulations were adopted to take cffect irnmediately

except for one mlnor ameldment (from the floor) to Regulatron l6(c;, whrch wrll take

effect tn January 2006.

In adopting the rcvised Financial regulations, at thc requesl of one of our membcrs. the

SPREP Meeting requcstcd us to seek your advice on the adequacy of these new

Financial Regulations. This letter is to formally rcqucst lhis.

'l'o assist you form an optnton. I anach copy of our w'orking papcr

(l5SMlOffrcials/WP.12.4) to the l5SM, whrch providcs thc background, cornpare the

prevlous and new provisions and the reasons for the changcs. I also provrde the

outcomes of thc Joint Revicw Task Force and the text of the l5SM decrsion on the new

Regulation. I believe you have been given a copy of thc ncw Financial Regulations.
Should you need further rnlbrmatron or consultation on the new Financral regttlatrons tn

forming your opinion, please do not hesitate lo rnfornt mc.

I have not scen you for a long time now. so accept my belated hest rvishes for a

successful 2005 to you, partrfer and staff.

Yours sincerely,

I

I

PO Box 240, Apia, Samoa c
e :iorepexb,gp,.irs X - t I
ij,tl;-1ilT,.- 4Jfu1/4V

F. Vitolio Lui
Deputy Director

FVUac
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

Sixteenth SPREP Meeting
Apia, Samoa

13-16 September 2005

I Agenda Item 7.1.1: Island Biodiversity Programme of Work
- suggestions for a way forward

Purpose of Paper

I . To advise the Meeting on the status of the Island Biodiversity Programme of Work
under the Convention on Biological Diversity and to ask for support to ensure that this
Programme of Work is endorsed by the upcoming Convention of the Parties meeting in
March 2006, as well as to support the Secretariat's request to the CBD Secretariat to host a
side event at COP8 focussing on the Pacific's readiness and ability to start implementing
the Programme of Work.

Background

2. At the National Biodiversity Strategy and Action Plan (NBSAP) workshop and the
Roundtable for Nature Conservation hosted by SPREP in 2004, resourcing and in
particular financing, was identified as the most significant hurdle to implementing
NBSAPs. A development of particular importance to the Pacific is the development of the
new Island Biodiversity Programme of Work (IBPOW) under the Convention of
Biological Diversity (CBD). With the strong support of the Government of New Zealand.,
the Roundtable for Nature Conservation, SPREP and The Nature Conservancy (TNC), the
Pacific has been making a major input into the development of this new Programme of
Work, which is the last thematic area that will be considered by the CBD until 2010. The
IBPOW is seen as one of the most significant new potential sources of support (through
the GEF, being the Convention's financial mechanism) for the implementation of NBSAPs
and other related priority national biodiversity actions for islands. The Pacific position and
input to the development of the IBPOW was developed considering a range of
information, including NBSAPs and outcomes of associated meetings, regional strategies
(e.g. the Action Strategy for Nature Conservation in the Pacifrc), globally agreed goals and
targets, relevant CBD programmes of work and the proposal for a Programme of Work on
Island Biodiversity provided by the Secretariat to the CBD.
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3. The process for Pacific input into the development of the IBPOW arose through the

Roundtable for Nature Consenration, the NBSAP Coordinators' network and national
networks of the people interested in developing the Programme of Work. In 2004, a

working goup (the Island Biodiversity POW Working Group - IBPOWWG) was set up

under the Roundtable, comprising those members of the Ad hoc Technical Experts Group
(AHTEG), who represented the Pacific (Palau, Cook Islands, Kiribati, TNC, SPREP,

Department of Conservation, NZ) and others interested in being involved.

4. The IBPOWWG (with funding support from NZAID) has been working hard to
ensure that it is able to support this initiative through well-informed and consistent
participation in relevant meetings by Pacific representatives and supporters. Support to the

development of this programme of work offers an excellent way to continue the region's
recent efforts at last yeax's SPREP meeting and through the GEF Council meetings to
improve access to GEF funding and to use this funding efficiently and effectively. To this
end, we have been promoting the development of the POW through communications to
member countries, at meeting opportunities and through networks.

5. A small group of interested member countries at the SPREP meeting in Tahiti in
2004 endorsed an approach of working with NBSAP Coordinators and Managers in the

first instance to further the development of the Pacific input to the IBPOW. ln October
2004, available members of the IBPOWWG in Brisbane met to look at developing
elements of a POW. This aided much of our thinking of what should be in the POW. An
AHTEC meeting in December developed a proposal for the TBPOW to present to CBD
parties at the next Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice
(SBSTTA). ln early January 2005, Pacific island countries at the Mauritius meeting were
able to strengthen text in the Mauritius Strategy in relation to the IBPOW in the

implementation section of the Strategy. Further, a small goup of Pacific representatives at

the Mauritius Meeting (led by Audrey Newman of The Nature Conservancy) worked on
reshaping and strengthening the focus and impact of the IBPOW.

6. At the 1Oth meeting of the CBD's SBSTTA meeting in Bangkok in February 2005,
the Pacific had a very influential role in the development and final shape of the elements of
an IBPOW that were agreed to be proposed to the next CBD Conference of the Parties
(COP). The Pacific was very well represented at this meeting (with 20 delegates) and Prof
Randy Thaman of the USP gave an inspirational keynote address on island biodiversity.
Key issues of his address were incorporated into the preamble of the recommendation to

COP 8. A copy of the SBSTTA l0 Recommendation is appended.

t



l6SlvVOffrcialsAVP.T. I . I
Page 3

Next steps

7. The Secretariat will have a series of activities in preparation for COP 8 to ensure
that the IBPOW has wide stakeholder input and to improve the ability of Pacific island
countries to access the resources needed to implement the programme following COP 8.
The Secretariat will work with the Roundtable for Nature Conservation and NBSAP
Managers to identi$ case studies for launching at COP 8 that will highlight the Pacific's
readiness and ability to implement the IBPOW. This will be as part of a side event where
donors and collaborating organisations will be invited to attend and will need participation
and support by SPREP member countries. The Secretariat will also hold a pre-COP
preparatory meeting early next year for Pacific island countries to develop Pacific
positions on key issues and to brief delegations appropriately.

8. As undertaken for the recent SBSTTA meeting, SPREP with funding from NZAID
will be able to support a second person where needed in PIC delegations where there is
already a CBD funded delegate to next March's COP 8 Meeting.

Recommendation

9. The Meeting is invited to:

of the IBPOW and in its strategy to support its implementation;

opportunities for Pacific input to further the IBPOW;

productive lifestyles and livelihoods, and that the rate of loss of species in the
Pacific is currently among the highest in the world; and

will make to support the Pacific region's goal of significantly reducing the rate
of loss of biodiversity.

l3 July, 2005
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SBSTTA 10 Recommendation )Vl

lsland Biodiversity

The subsidiary Body on scientific, Technical and rechnological Advice

l. l(elcomes the report of the Ad Hoc Technical Expert Group on Island Biological Diversity
(UNEP/CBD/SB STTA/ I 0/rNF/ I ) ;

2. AIso welcomes the report of the liaison group on island biodiversity
(r.JNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/ I 0/rNF/26);

3. Expresses its appreciationto:
(a) The Government of Spain for its financial support to the work of the Ad Hoc

Technical Expert Group on Island Biological Diversity;
(b) Other Govemments and organizations for the participation of their representatives;
(c) The Chair and participants in the Ad Hoc Technical Expert Group;
(d) The Chair and participants in the liaison group;

4' Welcomes the outcome of the Mauritius lnternational Meeting for the Review of the
lmplementation of the Barbados Programme of Action for Small Island Developing States;

5. Recommends that the Conference of the Parties:
(a) Adopts the goals, global targets and timeframes and island-specific priority actions of

the programme of work on island biodiversity, as annexed to the present
recommendation, and develops and adopts specific activities, taking as basis the
activities contained in the report of the Ad Hoc Technical Expert Group, the
recommendations of the liaison group and the submissions made at the tenth meeting
of the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice;

(b) Urges Parties, other Governments, intemational organizations and other
relevant organizations to implement the prograrnme of worlg and further urges parties
to incorporate the programme of work into their national biodiversity srategies and
action plans and to mainstream them into national sustainable development stategies;(c) Requests the Global Environment Facility and its implementing agencies to make
island biodiversity a priority, particularly in small island developing States;(d) Requests the Global Environment Facility to apply their rules of access and simpliff
their disbursement procedures so as to take into account the special circumstances of
small island developing States in implementing the prograrnme of work on island
biodiversity;

(e) Requests the Global Environment Facility to provide fastdisbursing resources as
needed to support country-driven early action, in particular in small island developing
States, to implement the programme of work of the Convention on Biological
Diversity on protected areas for meeting the 2010 target;

(f) Requests the international communiff to actively address, during the fourth
replenishment of the Global Environment Facility, the financial requirements for the
implementation of a prognmme of work on island biodiversity;

tG) Requests regional development banks and other financial institutions to
provide/increase their assistance in particular to small island developing States for the
implementation of the programme of work;]
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(h) Requests Parties to achieve in island ecosystems targets and sub-targets developed in
all programmes of work of the Convention, to use the agreed indicators to assess
progress and report in the context of the national reports of the Convention on
Biological Diversity. To achieve these targets, the international community is invited
to assist small island developing States by implementing the recommendations
contained in the Mauritius Shategy for the Further Implementation of the Barbados
Programme of Action for the Sustainable Development of Small Island Developing
States;

t(i) Urges Parties to increase their official development assistance in support of the
implementation of the prograrnme of work on island biodiversify, in particular in small
island developing States;l

t0) Requests the Executive Secretary to develop guidelines for the implementation of the
prograrnme of work on island biodiversity, [including legislative aspects, regulatory
matters and incentives] [including legislative and regulatory frameworks, and
incentive measures];]

(k) Agrees, recognizing the critical values of islands for the conservation of biodiversity
and the current alarming rate of loss of island biodiversity, to give priority in the
programme of work to activities that could significantly contribute to the conservation
of island biodiversity;

(l) lnvites Parties to incorporate the programme of work on island biodiversity into the
current work on national capacity self-assessment;

(m) Encourages the development of community-based approaches in the implementation
of the programme of work;

(n) Invites Parties to implement relevant activities under this programme of work in
conjunction with corresponding activities under the Mauritius Strategy;

(o) Encourages Parties to establish national and international island partnerships that bring
governments and civil society organizations together to increase political, financial
and technical support to accelerate the implementation of the programme of work on
island biodiversity;

(p) Invites the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, the
lntergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, and the Earth System Science
Partnership to collaborate in activities relevant to island biodiversity and climate
change;

(q) lnvites the United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification to enhance
collaboration in activities relevant to land degradation that could negatively impact
island biological diversity;

(r) Encourages ruCN to expand its guidelines on the use of ruCN categories and criteria
to provide further guidance on addressing specific issues that arise in the listing of
island species;

(s) Requests Conservation International to provide information on islands classified as
biodiversity hotspots;

(0 Requests Parties to regularly monitor progress in implementing this programme of
work and in meeting the global targets and report to the Conference of the Parties,
taking into account the special capacity constraints of small island developing States;

(u) Reviews the targets in decision VIV30 and, if necessary, refine them, with a view to
achieve consistency among the targets integrated into the programmes of work and the
general framework;

6. Requests the Executive Secretary to compile those supporting actions for the programme of
work on island biodiversity included in the drafts considered by the Subsidiary Body on Scientific,
Technical and Technological Advice at its tenth meeting and the suggestions received during that
meeting and forward them to the Conference of the Parties at its eighth meeting for its
consideration.
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Annex

ISLAND BIODIVERSITY: PROPOSED ELEMENTS FOR A PROGRAMME oF woRK

A. Introduction f!)l

l. The Earth is home to over 100,000 islands, which host more than 500 million
inhabitants. Their combined land and exclusive economic zones (EEZs) cover more than one sixth
of the Earth's total area. Islands and their surrounding near-shore marine biodiversity constitute
self-contained, bounded ecosystems, each with their own unique, often very limited, assemblage of
biodiversity. In terms of island biodiversity inheritances, these range from some of the richest on
Earth, with extremely high levels of endemism, to some of the poorest, with little or no
endemism. Both are seriously under threat and constitute global conservation priorities

2. ln terms of those islands with rich biotas, the isolation of island environments has resulted
in the evolution of often endemic and characteristic flora and fauna. A total of 104 of the 218
Endemic Bird Areas are confined entirely to islands, [!]/ while 36 of the 143 terrestrial Global 200
Ecoregions [f]/ are comprised of islands. Ten of the 34 biodiversity hotspots [{]/ wholly comprise
islands, and many of the rest also include islands. No less than 218 of the 595 individual sites
holding the entire global population of one or more critically threatened species are found on
islands. [5]/ A recent global gap analysis of the coverage of terrestrial vertebrate species within
protected areas [6]/ found that of the gaps, most "are montane or insular regions in the tropics."

3' At the other extreme, some of the smaller lowJying islands and atolls are among the
Earth's biodiversity "cool spots" in that they have the lowest biodiversity on Earth and few, if any,
endemic species. However, despite a disproportionate dependence on biodiversity for almost all
forms of economic livelihood on these small islands, a very high percentage of their terrestrial
biodiversity is threatened and in need of some form of protection.l|ll

4' The significance of marine biodiversity within islands has been well recognized [8]/ with
over half of the fropical marine biodiversity found in islands and 12 of the l8 centres of endemism,
and seven of the ten coral-reef hotspots sunound islands. In terms of cultural diversity, a number
of islands are also the home to unique cultures that have developed traditional resource-
management methods that have, in many cases, enabled people to develop and live in harmony
with biodiversity.

5. The programme of work offers a particularly unique opportunity for building bridges
among all islands and all island nations in efforts to conserve, sustainably use and equitably share
island biological diversity.

6. From small islands through to large, from countries that have islands through to countries
that entirely comprise islands, and from large continental remnants through to remote atolls, there
are opportunities and challorges for the conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity. Islands
are self-contained ecosystems with well defined geographical limits that encapsulate fundamental
ecological processes and interactions. Islands incorporate all the existing thematic areas considered
under the Conventionn i.e., forests, inland waters, agricultural land, dry and sub-humid lands,
marine and coastal ecosystems, and mountain ecosystems. The connectivity of ecosystems and the
interface between marine and terrestrial realms will create specific issues and opportunities for the
implementation of the Convention on Biological Diversity.
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7. Because of their scale, and the scope for integrated management of biodiversity, small
islands are microcosms of their continental counterparts, where shategies, policies and
management regimes for sustainable development can be applied, tested and refined; where the
components of cause and effect are more readily assessed, outcomes more rapidly seen and results
more specifically tangible. Focusing efforts and resources on the conservation and sustainable use
of island biodiversity and the fair and equitable sharing of benefits arising from the utilization of
island genetic resources can provide rapid progress towards the reduction in the rate of biodiversity
loss by 2010 and the achievement of representative systems of protected areas by 2010 in
terrestrial and 2012 in marine realms.

8. However, in no other place is biodiversity per se so fragile. The vulnerabilities of small
islands require not only special but urgent attention from their inhabitants and the world
community. Species that have evolved on islands have done so free from competition with large
numbers of other species and are, therefore, susceptible to invasions by alien species. Populations
of island fauna and flora tend to be naturally small, and species often become concentrated in
special small areas, where they are subject to various natural and anthropogenic pressures that
endanger their survival. They have the highest proportion of recorded species extinctions and
continue to be significantly threatened by invasive alien species, climate change and variability,
natural and environmental disasters, land degradation and land based sources of marine pollution.

9. Islands, in particular small island developing States, constitute a special case for both the
environment and development. As articulated in chapter 17 of Agenda 2l and emphasized in the
Barbados Programme of Action, as well as in the Plan of Implementation of the World Summit on
Sustainable Development, small island developing States rely significantly on the conservation and
sustainable use of island biodiversity for their sustainable development and experience even more
specific challenges and vulnerabilities. These arise from the interplay of such socio-economic and
environmental factors as small populations and economies, weak institutional capacity in both the
public and the private sector, remoteness from international markets, susceptibility to natural
disasters and climate change (including, in particular, sea-level rise), fragility of land and marine
ecosystems (particularly affected by tourism development and unsustainable agriculture and
forestry), high cost of transportation, limited diversification in production and exports, dependence
on international markets, export concentration, and income volatility and vulnerability to
exogenous economic shocks. Traditional resource management and practices relevant to the
sustainable use of island ecosystems are at risk of breaking down as a result of modern economic
and social pressures, and require actions for revitalization and protection. The Secretary-General of
the United Nations has stated that, among developing countries, small island developing States, as
a group, are amongst the most vulnerable. The expression of their vulnerabilities often has
cumulative effects, further exacerbating the risks to their biodiversity.

10. Although islands are unique environments in their own right, and are deserving of a
special programme of work under the Convention they also incorporate the existing prograrnme
areas and cross-cutting issues considered under the Convention and implementation of these
programmes should continue as appropriate.

I l. lnformation and input from international forums has also been taken into account,
including particular: (i) decision VIy30 of the Conference of the Parties to the Convention on
Biological Diversity (ii) chapter l7 of Agenda 2l; (iii) the Barbados Programme of Action for the
Sustainable Development of Small Island Developing States; (iv) the Mauritius Strategy for the
Further lmplementation of the Barbados Programme of Action; (v) the Plan of lmplementation of
the World Summit on Sustainable Development; and (vr) the Millennium Development Goals, in
particular goal 7.

I
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12. Although it was considered that potential threats from genetically modified organisms to
island biodiversity were extremely important for islands and isLnd State;, no reference has been
made to these within the programme of work, as these issues would be most appropriately
addressed under the Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety.

B, Overall purpose and scope of the programme of work

13' The overall purpose of the programme of work on island biodiversity is the significant
reduction of island biodiversity loss by 2010 and beyond at global, regional and national levels,
through the implementation of the three main objectives of the Convention, for the benefit of all
forms of life on islands and, in particular, as a contribution to poverty alleviation and the
sustainable development of small island developing States. The implementaiion of the programme
of work thereby contributes to the objectives of the Strategic Plan of the Convention on Biological
Diversity, the Barbados Programme of Action, the Plan of Implementation of the World Summit
on Sustainable Development and the Millennium Development Goals.

14' The programme of work recognizes the uniqueness of island ecosystems and focuses on
addressing characteristics and problems specific to island biological diversity that make island
ecosystems particularly vulnerable to almost all types of natural, technological and human-related
threats.It also recognizes that island biodiversity is of global significance and, as such, merits
increased attention at the global scale, as its conservation and sustainable use wiil produce global
benefits. Furthermore, it acknowledges that islands are microcosms that offer greai scope for the
application, testing and refinement of a wide range of conservation tools and apfroaches, including
the ecosystem approach.

15. The programme of work seeks to complement existing thematic work programmes and
other existing initiatives of the Convention on Biological Diversity. It acknowledges and identifies
issues contained in other prograrnmes of work and cross-cutting issues and noteJthe rationale for
specific activities that are important for the understanding, conservation and sustainable use of
island biological diversity. Parties are encouraged to apply, where appropriate, the objectives and
activities from these work programlnes to the conservation of island biological dlversity, the
sustainable use of its components, and the equitable sharing of the benefiti arising from the
utilization of island genetic resources.

16. By identifying synergies between this programme of work and other thematic programmes,
conventions and agreements, Parties can strengthen cooperation and partnerships at the national,
regional and international levels. Such partnerships should be broad-based and ensure the
sharing and exchange of information and relevant hained personnel bearing in mind the necessity
for cross-cultural exchange at the regional level and the involvement and participation of all
stakeholders, including indigenous and local communities, civil society and thaprivate sector.

17. ln addition, this programme of work responds, inter alia, to the call made by small island
developing States, during their regional and interregional preparatory *..iitrgs for the
International Meeting to Review the Implementation of the Programme of Action for the
Sustainable Development of Small Island Developing States, that island biodiversity should be
addressed under the Convention on Biological Diversity in a manner that responds to the unique
characteristics of small island developing States, in particular their vulnerabilities, and to ihe
threats related to climate change and land degradation. Consequently, the programme of work is
also a contribution to the implementation of the Mauritius Strategy for the Further [mplementation
of the Barbados Programme of Action for the Sustainable Development of Small Island
Developing States.

t
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18. tn addition to the achievement of Millennium Development Goal 7, on environmental
sustainability, this programme of work will conhibute to the achievement of other Millennium
Development Goals relating to poverty eradication and health. While the reference to poverty
reduction and health is not explicitly stated throughout the programme of work, it is understood
that the conservation and sustainable use of island biodiversity will conhibute significantly to food
security, sustainable livelihoods, health improvements and human well-being.

19. It is important to note that cultural diversity, the haditional knowledge and practices of
indigenous and local communities of many small islands are unique and have special significance
for these communities and need special consideration and integration in this programme of work.
All aspects of the programme of work should be read and implemented with the full recognition
of, and respect for, the rights of indigenous and local communities and their full and effective
participation, in accordance with national law and relevant international obligations.

20. The programme of work is intended to assist Parties in establishing national programmes of
work with targeted goals, objectives, and actions, with specific actors, timeframes, inputs, and
expected measurable outputs. Parties may select from, adapt, and/or add to, the goals, objectives
and actions suggested in the current programme of work according to particular national and local
conditions, and their level of development. Implementation of this prograrrme of work should take
into account the ecosystem approach of the Convention on Biological Diversity as the logical
planning and management tool for integral island policies. In determining national programmes of
work, Parties are encouraged to pay due regard to the socio-economic, cultural and environmental
costs and benefits of various options. [n addition, Parties are encouraged to consider the use of
appropriate and adaptive technologies, sources of finance, and technical cooperation, and to
ensure, through appropriate actions, the means to meet the particular challenges and demands of
their island ecosystems.

21. As outlined in the infroduction to the progranrme of work, the scale of islands provides
significant opportunities for the integrated management of biodiversity. The goals and targets
within the programme of work are therefore closely inter-related. Countries are encouraged to
consider implementation of this programme in an integrated manner and in light of existing plans
and within existing planning and programming cycles.

C. Worldng delinitions

22. The following terms have been clarified in order to facilitate the understanding and the
implementation of this programme of work:

. Global target = desired outcome/results to be achieved within a specific timeframe. These
should be measurable and achievable;

. PrioritY action = major action that must be implemented and will contribute significantly
to achieving the target. It answers the question, "What must we do to achieve this target?" .
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Goals, targets and timeframes, and island spectlic priority actions for the Purties

I
I

TIMEFRAME & GLOBAL
TARGETS

ISLAND.SPECIFIC PRIORIW ACTIONS FOR THE PARTIES

GOAL 1: CONSERVATION OF ISLAND BIODIVERSITY
1. 8y2010 at least 10%

of each of thE island
ecological regions
effectively conserved.

1.1. Develop and implement integrated policies and measures to conserve
key terrestrial and marine ecosystems, habitats important for island
biodiversity, societies and economies, taking into account the close ecological
links within and between island marine and terrestrial ecosystems.

Rationale: ls/ands have many endemic specles whose habitats are restricted
to small areas. Island societles depend very largely on local biodiversity -
whether tenestrial, fresh-water or marine.

1.2. Re-establish components that have been lost from or whose
populations have been reduced within natural ecosystems

1.3. Undertake measures to restoreat least 15% of degraded island
ecosystems

2. By20l0 areas of
partlcular importance to
biodlverslty are protected

2.1. ldentify and establish, as appropriate, comprehensive, representative
and effectively managed national and regional systems of protected areas
taking into account issues of resilience, ecological and physical connectivity to
conserve viable populations of threatened, endemic, and ecologically or
culturally important island species. This should be done with the full respect for
the rights of indigenous and local communities and relevant stakeholders and
their full and effective participation, consistent with national law and applicable
international obligations.

Rationate: Many species on is/ands are often either locally endemic, restricted
in range, threatened, or all three, and are not likely to suruive without tegal
protection.

3. By2010 reduce the
decline of, malntain and
restore populations of
species of selacted
taxonomic groups and
lmprove status of
threatened species

3.1. Develop and implement conservation measures and policies, including
protection, and where needed, recovery of populations of threatened,
endemic, or ecologically or culturally important species and recovery plans.

Rationale: Key lssue for island biodiversity. Continued foss of js/and
biodiversity is of global impodance. Many species have citical ecosyslern
roles, or are or social or cultural significance to islanders.

3.2. compile detailed inventories of island species, assess their conservation
status, including the main threat criteria, and develop the taxonomic expertise
necessary to facilitate this.

Rationale: Many island species occur in very small populations. The transition
from satisfactory conservafion slatus to threatened status can occur with great
rapidity.

4. By2010 genotic
diversity of crops,
livestock, and other
valuable island species
conserved, and associated
Indigenous and local
knowledge malntalned.

4.1. Develop and implement measures to strengthen in situ or on-farm
conservation of wild plants and animals and traditional crops and associated
knowledge of indigenous and local communities, recognizing the widespread
use of land-races of crops and stock strains on islands

Rationale: lsland communities often have unique human cultures that have
considerable knowledge of local biodiversity and have developed a wide range
of local crop and domesfic sfock vanelies.

4.2. Develop national and regional gene-pools and gene-banks for the
conservation of genetic material of significance to the islands for food sources
and health care enhancement and food securi$ and/or that address threats to
the high levels of island endemism

Rationale: Endemism and local land races of island specles provide a unigue
and ineplaceable source of genetic resources.
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GOAL 2: SUSTAINABLE USE OF ISLAND BIODIVERSITY

5. 8y2010,
unsustainable consumption
of biological resources and
its Impact upon biodiversity
is reduced

5. 1. Adopt measures to ensure sustainable management of coastal
and marine biodiversity, with due regard to the conservation of threatened,
endemic, ecologically and/or culturally important island species, to prevent,
inter alia, over-exploitation and destructive practices

Rationale: ls/and species are oflen restricted to very small populations that are
quickly impacted by unsustainable practices.

5.2. Adopt measures to promote the sustainable use of terrestrial and
freshwater resources in islands

Rationale: lsland communities are very largely dependent on local biodiversity.

5.3. Adopt and apply strategies to sustainably use agroecosystems on
islands with biodiversity of importance to the ecological integrity of island
societies and economies through efficient and sustainable agricultural
production, and ensure food security through diversification of agriculture,
alternative use of crops, improved husbandry, integrated crop-pest
management, inigation and water management, and the use of appropriate
technologies.

Rationale: lsland agroecosysterns include many unique vaieties and land
races. lsland communities are very largely dependent on local biodiversity.

5.4. Develop, adopt and apply strategies appropriate to islands to
sustainably use managed forest ecosystems with biodiversity of importance to
the ecological integrity of island societies and economies through improved
production and harvesting methods, integrated pest management, water
management, fire control, non-timber resources and the use of appropriate
technologies.

Rationale: /s/and forests typically contain species and assemblages that are
unique, and many of them provide island peoples with food, medicine and
feftilizer.

5.5. Promote implementation of sustainable tourism best practices
appropriate to islands.

Rationale: Many island economies are based on tourism.
6. By 2010, lsland
biodiversity-based products
are derived from sources
that are sustainably
managed, and production
areas managed, conslstent
wlth the conservatlon of
biodiversitv

6. 1. Remove subsidies that encourage unsustainable use of island
biodiversity and where livelihoods are resource-based, support the
development of sustainable economic activities.

Rationale: Subsldies and other economic incentives may have very wide-
reaching and rapid detrimental effects on biodiversity in islands. tstand
species are often restricted to very small populations that are quickty
impacted by unsustainable practices.

7. 8y2010, nospecles
of wild flora and fauna are
endangered by internatlonal
trade

7.1 . States not yet parties to accede to the Convention on Intemational
Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES) and all States
implement that convention as a vital tool for the conservation and sustainable
use of wild flora and fauna found on islands

Rationale: A number of island Sfales are not yet Party to CIIES. Ihe
economic circumstances of is/ands, combined with their unique biodiversity,
tend to encourage the trade in rare organlsms.

7.2. Develop and enforce measures to stop illegal, unreported and
unregulated harvesting and trading of endangered species of wild flora and
fauna.

Rationale: The high levels of endemism on is/ands make species more
vulnerable to global extinction through illegal activities. .

7.3. Manage trade in those species not covered by CITES to ensure that
their wild populations are sustained

Rationale: lsland species are often not listed in CIIES.
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8. By 2010, rate of loss
and degradation of natural
habitats decreased

8.1. Develop and implement integrated
into account ecological and physical connectivity and important biodiversity
areas.

Rationale: /s/and ecosystems frequenily cover small areas and may be highly
fragmented, and connectivtty of habjtats has become increasiigty limited
under anthropogenic pressure. Dislances from the centre of the istand to tne
ocean are often shott, and impacts on biodiversity in one area are often rapidly
reflected in nearby ecosysferns.

8.2. Develop and apply environmental and socio-economic impact
assessment methods prior to land-use conversion such as for agriculiure,
human settlements, mining, logging, infrastructure development, an-d tourism
and military activities.

Rationale: lmpact assessment is parlicularly impoftant when large fractions of
remaining ecosystems can be affected by infrastructure development or other
human activities.

9. 8y2010, reduce
pollution and its impacts on
island biological diversity

9.1. Develop and implement measures to preve@
pollution and waste, also by developing and implementing pollution and waste
management plans, including contingency plans, with special attention to solid
and hazardous waste

Rationale: /s/ands are largely coastal communities, where it is particutarly
difftcult to dr'spose of wasfes without impacting biodiversity. The siting of
landfills, lhe dlsposa/ of liquid wastes and the uptake or som wasles and
p/astlcs by marine organlsms are all of considerabte significance lo rs/ands.

9,2. Develop and implement watershed integrated management to prevent
siltation and run-off on island coastal ecosystems

9.3. lmplement measures to prevent eutrophication of island coastal
ecosystems caused by, inter a/ra, wastewater and agricultural run-off and
infiltration

10. By20l0, pathways
for major potential allen
Invasive specles controlled

'10.1. Establish effective control systems at ffi
between and within islands to prevent the movement of invasive alien species

'10.2. collaborate to identify and address pathways for movement of invasive
alien species at the island, national, regional and global levels

10.3. Develop and implement measures for the early detection and rapid
response to the introduction or establishment of invasive alien species in both
tenestrial and marine ecosystems

Rationale: rhis ls one of the mosl impoftant jssues for istand biodiversity,
which needs urgent, concerted and suslained action.

11. Management plans in
place for maJor alien
species that threaten
ecosletems, habitats or
specles

'11-1. Develop and implement management plans for long-term management
of priority invasive alien species. These plans should include, provisions for
the, elimination or control of pathways that lead to the introduction and spread
and re-invasion of these species

1'1.2. Enlist the support and cooperation of all sectors of society for
appropriate prevention and management of alien invasive species

Rationale: rhis is one of fhe rnost important issues for istand biodiversity,
ryhich needs urgent, concerted and susfained action.

12. By20l0, maintaln
and enhance reslllencs of
the components of
blodlverclty to adapt to
cllmate change

12.1. Research and implement adaptation ano mitigM
use and coastal zone planning and strategies to strengthen local-level
biodiversity resilience to climate change

Rationale: lsland biodiversity is padicularly threatened by climate change,
which could have a major impact on island ecosystems.

12.2. create where feasible viable national systems of protected areas that
are resilient to climate change

I



13. Maintain capaclty of
island ecosystems to
deliver goods and services
and biological resources
that support sustainable
livelihoods, local food
security and health care,
especially of poor people.

13.1. Develop policies, programmes and actions to ensure the capacity of
island ecosystems to deliver goods and services and biological resources that
support sustainable livelihoods, local food security and health care, especially
of poor people

Rationale: lsland communities are largely dependent on local biodiversity for
food and livelihoods

13.2. Mainstream the management of the risks of natural disasters and
extreme events to island biodiversity and communities into the national
planning process

13.3. Understand and promote the role of island ecosystems and habitats in
providing ecosystem services that prevent or mitigate the impacts of natural or
anthropogenic disasters and extreme events, and protect islands, island
biodiversity and island communities

Rationale: Disasters tend to affect significant fractions of the area of islands,
and inteorated manaaement can orovide mitioation.

GOAL 4: ACCESS AND BENEFIT-SHARING OF TSLAND GENETTC RESOURCES
14. By 2010, all transfers
of genetic resources are in
lins with the Convention on
Blological Dlversity, the
International Treaty on
Plant Genetic Resources for
Food and Agriculture and
other appllcable
agresmsnts.

14.1. lmprove the knowledge base of genetic resources

Rationale: lsland biodiversity is unique - and the same remark holds for the
genetic resources, but in general, very little is known of the genetic diversity ol
is/and organisms.

14.2, Establish administrative, legislative and/or regulatory measures and
systems in line with the Convention to ensure access to genetic resources, in
particular those endemic to islands, and ensure that benefits arising from lheir
utilization are fairly and equitably shared

Rationale: lsland biodivers,ly is unique - and the same remark holds for the
genetic resources, but in general, very little is known of the genetic diversity of
is/and organisms.

15. 8y2010 protect
traditlonal knowledge,
innovations and practices
and the rights of
indigenous and local
communlties over thelr
traditional knowledge,
innovations and practices,
including thelr rlghts to
benefit-eharlng

15.'1. Recognize and protect island traditional knowledge, innovations and
practices which improve the understanding, conservation and sustainable use
of biodiversity

15.2. Develop and implement measures and legislation, where appropriate
and in keeping with national laws and relevant international obligations, for the
respect and protection of indigenous and local communities rights over their
traditional knowledge innovations and practices

15.3. Develop and implement ways and means to share in a fair and
equitable way with indigenous and local communities the benefits arising from
use of their traditional knowledge, innovations and practices

Rationale: lsland communities have extensive knowledge of local biodiversity
and traditional practices related to its conseryation and use, but both
knowledge and practices are vulnerable to social change misuse and
misappropriation.

GOAL 5: INCREASING CAPACITIES AND FINANCING FOR THE IMPLEMENTATION oF THE
PROGRAMME OF WORK ON ISLAND BIODIVERSITY

16. 8y2010 new and
additional financlal
reaourcss are allocated to
all islands, In partlcular
small islands developing
States and for developing
country Parties, to
facllltate the effectlve
lmplementation of this
programme of work and,
in general, thelr
commitments under the
Gonventlon

16.1. Develop and strengthen partnership at all levels and across sectors to
finance the implementation of national biodiversity strategies and action plans
and the programme of work

16.2. Provision of additional financial resources from the financial
mechanism of the Convention for developing country Parties in accordance
with Article 20

16.3. Assess, develop and implement a range of conservation finance
mechanisms at the local, national and intemational levels

I 6SlWOffi cialsflVP. 7. L l /Att. I
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[1]/ This section draws on: C. Marin, P. Deda and J.K. Mulongoy , "Island biodiversity - Sustaining life in vulnerable
ecosystems" , special issue of INSUI-A, the Intemational Joumal on Island Affairs, February/September 2004 the
special volume of INSULA, the InternaUonal Journal of Island Affairs, published in February 2004.

[4/ StanersReld, A.J., Crosby, M.J., Long, A.J. & Wege, D.C. (1998) Endemic Bird Areas of the World: Priorities for
Biodiversity C-onservation. BirdLife Intemational, Cambridge, UK.

[3]/ Olson, D.M, & Dinerstein, E. (1998) The Global 200: a representation approach to conserving the earth's most
biologicaf f y valuable ecoregions. Con srya tion Biology 12: 502-5 I 5.

[4]/ Mittermeier, R.A., Robles Gil, P., Hoffmann, M., Pilgrim, J., Brook, T., Mittermeier, C.G., Lamoreux, J. &
Fonseca, G.A,B. da (20M) Hotspots: Revisited, CEME(, Mexico.

[!]/ www.zeroexti nction.oro

[6.]/ Rodrigues, A.S.L., Andelman, S.J., Bakarr, M.L, Boitani, L., Brooks, T.M., Cowling, R.M., Fishpool, L.D.C.,
Fonseca, G.A.B. da, Gaston, K.J., Hoffmann, M., Long, J.s., Marquet, p.A., pilgrim, J.D., pressey, R.L., schipper, J.,
Sechrest, W., Stuart, S.N., Underhill, L.G., Waller, R.W., Watts, M.E.J. & Yan, X. (2004) Effectiveness of the global
protected area network in representing species diversity. Nature4l8:64G643.

[Z]/ Thaman, R.R. 2005. Sinking island arks. Island biodiversity and island living under threag the uniqueness,
threatened status and prionty need to conserve island and associated marine biodiversity as the foundation for
sustainable island life. Keynote presentation at the tenth meeting of the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and
Technological Advice (SBSTTA) of the Convenuon on Biological Diversity, Bangkok, 7-11 February 2005.

[Q]/ Roberts, C.M., McClean, C.J., Veron, J.E.N., Hawkins, J.P., Allen, G.R., McAllister, D.E., Mittermeier, C.G.,

Schueler, F.W., Spalding, M., Wells, F., Vynne, C. & Wemer, T.B. (2002) Marine biodiversity hotspots and
conservation priorities for tropical refs, Sciene 295: 1280-1284.

17. 8y2010
technologies are
transferred to developlng
country Parties, to allow
for the effective
lmplementatlon of this
programme of work and,
in general, thelr
commitments under the
Gonvention, in
accordance with Article
20, paragraph 4

17.1 . ldentify and develop or transfer knowledge, science and technology
appropriate to islands for the conservation and sustainable use of island
biodiversity

17.2. Develop island-based technology to support conservation and
sustainable use of biodiversity

18. By2010, capacityof
islands to lmplement this
programme of work and all
Its priority activities ls
sign ifi cantly strengthened

18.1. Where appropriate, strengthen the capacity to develop and implement
legal and other mechanisms that support this programme of work

18.2. Promote the sharing of best practices within and among islands, and
enhance leaming opportunities for all relevant groups, including governments,
non€ovemmental organizations and indigenous and local communities, to
accelerate effective implementation of this programme of work

18.3. Develop and implement effective communication and public awareness
and education programmes at all levels, to promote the programme of work on
island biodiversity, taking into account local capacity, language and culture

18.4. Adopt an integrated, inter-disciplinary and participatory approach at all
levels of planning, management, inventory, monitoring, and governance
involving all stakeholders related to the understanding, conservation and
sustainable use of island biodiversity

18.5. Develop the capacity for a national and regional biodiversity monitoring
programme

18.6. Strengthen regional cooperation particularly between Small island
developing States and developed countries in the same region
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

Sixteenth SPREP Meeting,
Apia, Samoa

13-16 September 2005

Agenda Item 7.1.2: International Waters Project

Purpose of Paper

1. This paper provides a Status Report for the lnternational Waters Project (fWP) that is
implementing the Strategic Action Programme (the SAP) for the lnternational Waters of the
Pacifrc Small Island Developing States.

Background

2. Fourteen SPREP Members are participating in this Projectr. It is dinaejUy the Global
Environment Facility (GEF), implemented by the United Nations Development Programme
(LJNDP) and executed by the Secretariat of the Pacific Regional Environment Programme
(SPREP). It commenced in February 2000.

3. The IWP has two components. The Oceanic Fisheries Management (OFM)
component focuses on the management and conservation of tuna stocks in the westem central
Pacific. This component, executed by the Secretariat for the Pacific Community (SPC) and
the Forum Fisheries Agency (FFA), was completed in June 2005. A second phase for the
Project, attracting US$11 million in GEF funding support, corlmenced in late 2005.

4. The lntegrated Coastal Watershed Management (ICWM) component is implemented
through SPREP. It supports pilot activities at both the community and national level to
address the root cause(s) for environmental concerns relating to the protection of freshwater,
securing sustainable coastal fisheries and/or managing community waste.

5. Project details, activities and reports are available at www.sprep.ore/iwp

I Cook Islands, Federated States of Micronesia, Fiji, Kiribati, Marshall Islands, Nauru, Niue, Palau, Papua New
Guinea, Samoa, Solomon Islands, Tonga, Tuvalu and Vanuatu.
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Status

6. Highlights for ICWM Component since the l5th SPREP Meeting at Tahiti include:

o Two Meetings of National Coordinators (the 5th and 6s; and a fourth Multipartite
Review. Main outcomes of the Meetings were the development (and subsequent

implementation) of a Monitoring and Evaluation Plan which gives increased

attention to reporting on achievements and impacts for both national and regional

level Project activities;
. Community mobilisation to address root causes for environmental concerns

following participatory planning consultations.
o fi major focus on linking the experiences of local communities during the frrst

three years of the Project to national level efforts to improve resource and

environmental management;
o The drafting of a Replication Strategy that will be finalised in 2006;
. On-going development of the IWP website as a central tool in the Project's

Communication Strategy;
o A broad range of activities in each of the 14 participating countries supporting

stakeholder participation, root cause analysis, communications (public relations,

awareness and community education), social, economic and environment baseline

assessments, and the development and implementation of management or action
plans to address the root cause for environmental concerns. A large body of
information continues to be published by the Project in relation to these activities;
(some of these are covered already below - need to decide if you want to list
activities for each country in technical areas eg social baselines or have a broad
statement)

. The completion of two economic valuations - one concerned with water and

watersheds in Cook lslands and the other relating to waste in Tonga;
o Review of institutions and legislation focusing on waste in Kiribati and Tonga;
o examination of institutional and policy frameworks for integrated coastal and

watershed management in Vanuatu, Fiji and the Solomon Islands (in collaboration
with the University of Adelaide);

. completion of ecological baseline work in Yap FSM, Vanuatu and Niue;

. conduct of socioeconomic baseline work in the Solomon Islands, FSM, Vanuatu,

Marshall Islands, Solomon lslands and Fiji, ;
o contributions to the preparation of a Regional Solid Waste Management Master

Plan;
. support of development of processes to further integration of socio-economics to

natural resource management in the region ('Pacific SocMon'); and
. collaboration in communications and awareness work towards the Year of Action

Against Waste.
r Resource Kit for Facilitators of Natural Resource Management available on

SPREP/IW? web page and increasingly refened to by regional audiences..
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TerninaL waluatian

7. The ICWIT{ Component is seheduled to csncitrde ia Desember 2006.. As with atl fuU-
size Projects" the I\flP w'illundergo a Tenninal Evaluation (TE). This is currently scheduled
to comurence in the third quarter of 2006. Draft Tenns of Reference, based oxa IJI{DPyGEF
tetnplate, a,re curr-,ently being circulated to SPRtsP and GEF Focal Points in each of the 14
IWP participating couutries for conrments and revieion. It is planned that invitatione to
expres-s interesl in undertaking the TE will be circulated $obally in January 2006. The TB
will invulve national and regionol level oonsultations with a broad rang€ of stakeholders. The
results will.be prosernted to a final MPR, provisionally sehedlled to bE held in aasociation
wittr the 17th SPREP Meeting in September 2006.

Recommendation

The Meeting is invited to:

29 Junc,2005

--a
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

Sixteenth SPREP Meeting
Apia, Samoa

13-16 September 2005

Agenda ltem 7.1.3: Endorsement of the Pacific Islands Regional Ocean Policy
Integrated Action Strategy and SPREP's activities related to the PIROP

Purpose ofPaper

1. To seek endorsement of the Pacific Islands Regional Ocean Policy Integrated Action
Strategy (PIROP-FA) as a coordinating mechanism for reporting on the Secretariat's
activities relating to oceans and coasts.

Background

2. The 1994 Barbados Programme of Action for Developing Small Islands States and the
2002 Johannesburg Plan of Implementation, (JPoI) adopted by consensus at the World
Summit on Sustainable Development in2002, call for the preparation and implementation of
regional and national ocean policies.

3. In 1999 the Forum Leaders endorsed recommendations emerging from a Pacific
Islands Forum Secretariat workshop convened in Tonga to consider further implementation of
the provisions of the 1982 UN Convention on the Law of the Sea in the region. One of the
recoffrnendations related to the development of a Pacific Islands regional policy for the
ocean.

4. Working under the auspices of the CROP Marine Sector Working Group (MSWG), a

Pacific Islands Regional Ocean Policy was subsequently drafted. It was endorsed by the
Thirty-Third Pacific Islands Forum held in Suva, Fiji Islands, from l5-17 August 2002.

5. During 2004, the MSWG facilitated the drafting of a framework for integrated
strategic action (ISA) to support implementation of the PIROP (to be circulated at the
Meeting). It was frnalised late in 2004 following extensive consultation involving regional
organisations, national-level stakeholders and non-govemment representatives. It was
publicly launched at a side event at the Mauritius Meeting that reviewed the implementation
of the Barbados Programme of Action in January 2005.
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SPREP activities that align with the PIROP-ISA
T

6. PIROP is intended to serve as an overarching means to coordinate reporting, at all
Ievels, on activities and actions affecting oceans and coasts. As such, it is a mechanism to
ensure that related programmes and projects are not being carried out in isolation - that they
are part of an increasingly integrated framework for addressing priority issues relating to the
health ofoceans and coasts. '

7. Through the ISA, Pacific Islands regional organisations have undertaken to report on
their respective or collaborative activities in support of the PIROP. This is the first attempt by
a CROP agency to report in this manner to its' Members. As experience builds, it is likely
the reporting format will be refined in future years. During 2005, SPREP actions that support
the PIROP have included:

Theme L Improve governance of the coasts and ocean

. Much of SPREP's work incidentally fulfils various provisions of the United
Nations Convention of the Law of the Sea - the overarching governance MEA for
oceans and coasts. SPREP's support to Member countries and territories relates
particularly to Part V (Articles 6l and 62, conservation and utilization of living
marine resources) and Part XII (pollution, alien species and environmental
assessment).

. Actively contributed to the development of a draft Programme of Work for Island
Biodiversity to guide implementation of the Convention on Biological Diversity
(CBD) in island environments.

. The Director and staff from the Islands Ecosystem Programme promoted the
PIROP at the CRISP Noumea meeting in February 2005, the ICRI meeting in the
Seychelles in April and the Ocean Symposium organised by the Ocean Resource
Management Council in American Samoa in May 2005

. ln association with SPC, the Secretariat provided technical input to regional
representation at the June Session of the United Nations Informal Consultative
Process on Oceans and the Law of the Sea (UNICPOLOS).

. Actively contributed to efforts coordinated through the CROP Marine Sector and

Sustainable Development Working Groups to integrate ocean policy to National
Sustainable Development Strategies.

. Continued to promote broad stakeholder engagement in environment and coastal
resource management initiatives through, for example, the International Waters
Project (fWP).

. Revised the SPREP Dumping and Emergencies Protocols, as instructed by the
Meeting of the Parties to the SPREP Convention, to make them consistent with
their global equivalents. Three new protocols to supercede the current two are

proposed and will be discussed in a Conference of Plenipotentiaries to be held in
the margins of the 16'h SPREP Meeting.
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. Marine pollution prevention legislation to address shipping related issues was
developed and enacted in Cook Islands and Tonga. Fiji and Samoa have draft bills
for enactment.

. The Pacific Regional Centre (PRC) for the Joint implementation of the Basel and
Waigani Conventions, which is hosted at SPREP, is providing assistance for the
development national regulatory frameworks for the implementation of the
B asel/lVai gani/Stockho lm and Rott erdam Conventions.

. SPREP as the Secretariat for the Waigani Convention, has produced a CD
handbook and Manual for Competent Authorities on the use of the control system
for the shipment of hazardous wastes. Twelve SPREP Members are Party to the
Waigani Convention.

. The Pacific Islands Framework for Action on Climate Change, being developed
throughout 2005, recognises that climate variability and change will affect marine
life and environment. SPREP is collaborating closely with relevant partners to
mainstream climate change issues and concerns into marine and coastal
management plans and policies of PICs.

. Support for institutional strengthening in PIC contracting parties to better
implement obligations under the Ramsar Convention.

. Support for the development and review of management arrangements for Ramsar
Sites in PIC contracting parties.

. Assisted PIC contracting parties with the preparation of their national reports to
Ramsar CoP9.

. Provided assistance for the planning and implementation of an Oceania regional
preparatory meeting for PIC contracting parties to consolidate positions for
improving the work of the Ramsar Convention and its implementation in the
region.

. Provided assistance and guidance to the implementation of a regional survey to
assess technical and institutional of PICTs to assess and manage mangrove
responses to climate change and associated sea level rise.

Theme 2. Improve understanding of the ocean

. ln collaboration with the AusAID funded South Pacific Sea Level and Climate
Monitoring Project (SPSLCMP), long term records of sea levels are being
collected that will assist countries understand and manage related impacts.

. Continued to promoted awareness on the Ramsar Convention, its tools and coastal
wetlands (mangroves & coral reefs) wise use and conservation for the 13 PICs
attending the SPREP-USP Pacific Islands Community Based Conservation
Course, Suva Fiji, April2005.

. Through a collaborative arrangement between UNDESA and SPREP the Pacific
SIDSnethasbeendeveloped@)toassistwithinformation
exchange and knowledge management to help Pacific SIDS work toward the
implementation of the BPOA, based on the Mauritius Strategy.

I
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SPREP's communication initiatives using the organisation's web site, fact sheets,

video production, regular releases to national and regional media and radio
regularly feature ocean and coastal issues.

Actively promoted national awareness activities on coastal wetlands (mangroves
& coral reefs) wise use and conservation in all2l PICTs during World Wetlands
Day, Februar! 2,2005.
In association with UNEP, the Samoan Ministry of Natural Resources,
Environment and Meteorology (MNREM) and the Ministry of Education,
incorporated coastaVmarine content into curricula for years 7 & 8 (currently under
review). Scheduled for completion in November 2005 (to be launched during
Samoa's Environment Week).
ln collaboration with USP, FSPI, WWT and ICPL, SPREP participated in the
delivery of the Pacific Islands Community Based Conservation Course in USP,
Suva during April/May 2005. Most of the 14 participants from the l l countries
work with communities to establish and/or manage marine protected areas. The
course is designed to develop and strengthen capacities of practitioners in a range
of competencies including; development of conservation management plans, use

of participatory tools, survey techniques, project cycle management etc.

Participants are currently undertaking field project work in their respective
countries and will return to USP in October 2005 to do the second phase of the
course.

Theme 3. Sustainably developing and managing the use of ocean resources

SPREP supported economic valuations for environment-related issues in Cook
Islands, Palau, Tonga and Fiji. Social assessment and participation was supported
through IWP in all participating countries particularly in respect of the
community-based components of the Project.
SPREP, in collaboration with UNEP GPA, has commenced case study work
Palau, Tonga, Vanuatu and Kiribati to address land-based activities that affect the
marine environment. The case studies will assist countries confirm land use and
development activities that place pressure on marine and coastal resources, with
lessons being encapsulated in national programmes of action (NPAs) either as part
of national development plans or related policy documents.
ln association with the University of Adelaide, SPREP facilitated three national-
level studies of governance in relation to ICWM - in Solomon Islands, Vanuatu
and Fiji.
SPREP supported social, economic and ecological baseline assessments as pre-
requisite action to monitoring the impacts of initiatives to address the root cause
for concerns relating to waste, coastal frsheries and freshwater.

l
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. SPREP supports the implementation of EIA as one means to mainstream
environment in development processes. SPREP has explored means to progress
toward and promote strategic environmental assessments (SEA) as more suitable
approaches for customary societies. SPREP has also canvassed the need for
'integrated planning systems' to fill the void between community based initiatives
and national economic planning. Actions are catered for under the WSSD Tlpe II
Partnership Initiative "Planning for Sustainable Community Lifestyles" and the
Pacific Futures Programme of the organisation.

' The draft model law on Traditional Ecological Knowledge, Innovations and
Practices includes protection for the misappropriation of traditional ecological
knowledge, innovations and practices relating to the ocean and coastal areas. The
Model Law was discussed or presented in two regional workshops held in Suva.

. Pacific delegates are participating in negotiations for a global access and benefit
sharing (ABS) regime. Genetic resources wherever they occur, including the deep
ocean seabed and ocean areas beyond national jurisdiction, will be discussed.
Meanwhile awareness raising workshops on ABS issues continue - the most recent
one being held in Palau in May last year.

. Best practice in conservation and management and alternative livelihood
transferred through the locally managed marine area and ICRAN demonstration
sites in Palau (Rock Islands), Samoa (Aleipata); Marshall Islands (Jaluit), support
the ecosystem and community based management of inshore fisheries, growing
corals for betel nut lime production in PNG and Solomon Islands; baseline marine
resource assessment and monitoring for the three Atolls of Tokelau and Solomon
Islands

. Assistance in the baseline assessment of the ecological and economical feasibility
of coral trade in Fiji.

Theme 4. Maintaining the health of the ocean

' The 2000 Pacific Islands Regional Marine Spill Contingency Plan (PACPLAN)
outlines modalities for co-operation and assistance during major marine pollution
incidents. The Plan has been successfully activated on three occasions.

r National Marine Spill Contingency Plans and workshops were completed for all
PICs except Niue, Nauru and Solomon Islands.

' Regional Strategy to Address Shipping Related Marine Invasive Species is
currently being drafted.

' SPREP region is the first region to have regional arrangements for the provision of
ships' waste reception facilities approved to meet national obligations under
MARPOL.

. The Secretariat in collaboration with the Australian government, under the POPs
in PICs project, assisted four countries with the completion of the necessary
Waigani Convention formalities for the trans-boundary movement of some
scheduled POPs and other intractable pesticides to Australia for destruction.
Waste materials from two of these countries (Samoa and Fiji) have now been
transported to Australia under the instruments of the Waigani Convention for
destruction.
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The Secretariat, in collaboration with the Roundtable for Nature Conservation has

provided backstopping support and looked for opportunities in terms of resources

to assist with the development and implementation of National Biodiversity
Strategies and Action Plans. These are completed in 8 Pacific island countries and

all have coastal and ocean components.
In Niue, Solomon Islands, Vanuatu and Federated States of Micronesia SPREP's
IWP has supported the development and implementation of locally managed

marine areas. In addition to community-level support, the Project is also
supporting institutional and policy arrangements to strengthen national-level
capacity to assist communities in such endeavours.
Supported the reports for the Status of the Coral Reef of the world for the

Polynesian Mana Node (Tokelau and Niue) of the Global Coral Reef Monitoring
Network.
Actively developing a regional marine turtle database.

Facilitated the development of a MoU under the CMS Convention for marine
mammals to implement regional marine species actions plans
The Secretariat's lead role in developing a Regional Strategy for Solid Waste
Management will result in direct benefits for coasts and oceans by supporting
national-level efforts to address impacts of land-based sources of pollution and
contamination.

Theme 5. Promoting the peaceful use of the ocean

. Competition for limited resources often leads to conflict. SPREP's efforts to
promote sustainable resource use, limit adverse environmental impact and
rehabilitate or preserve species and habitats of special interest contribute to the
peaceful use ofthe ocean and coasts.

Theme 6- Creating partnerships and promoting cooperation.

. In addition to lobbying support for SPREP Members' initiatives in relation to
oceans and coasts at international fora, SPREP has collaborated with the following
organisations and govemments on activities related to action proposed in the
PIROP-ISA: ADB, Australia's Department of Environment and Heritage,
Australian Maritime Safety Authority, AusAID, Commonwealth Scientific and
Industrial Research Organisation, Conservation lnternational, EU, Foundation of
the Friends of the South Pacifrc (lnternational), GEF Secretariat, International
Fund for Animal Welfare, Government of Japan, lntemational Maritime
Organization; Maritime Safety Authority of New Zealand, National Ocean and
Atmospheric Administration, IMO, Republic of China, NZAID, New Zealand's
Department of Conservation, People's Republic of China, Republic of China,
UNDP, UNEP (including the GPA), SOPAC, SPC, WWF, The Nature
Conservancy, UNDESA, United States Coast Guard; University of Adelaide, and
USP.
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PACPOL has many joint activities with industry groups - Association of Pacific
Ports (SPREP is the advisor to their Environment working Group); pacific
Maritime Association and oil and shipping companies operating in the region.
In addition to the assistance that SPREP and the Australian Government are
providing to the region under the POPs in PICs project, a number of countries
have now expressed interest in the removal of other hazardous materials under the
same arrangements as those used in the project.

. SPREP in collaboration with SPC through its PRISM project and MDGs work has
commenced work on assisting PICTs develop simple template systems of
reporting on the state of the environment, including socio-economic drivers. This
work will aim to address the multiple obligations and burden of reporting from
numerous and often duplicative MEAs and non-binding agreements such as JPOI,
BPOA and the MDGs. Actions are tying mutual endeavours of the NCSA process,
the work of the Roundtable on Nature Conservation and the Marine Sector
Working Group. The objective is to assist PICTs achieve the objectives set out in
paragraph 86 and 90 (d) of the Mauritius Implementation Strategy for the BPOA.
It will also be tied with work on developing a Country Profile system which
among other things will see the advancement of perfonnance indicators for
SPREP's Action Plan and the Secretariat's Strategic Programmes and annual
Work Programme and Budget. The monitoring of activities which support the
PIROP-ISA will be incorporated in the reporting systems.

Recommendation

8. The Meeting is invited to:

. endorse the PIROP-ISA as the means for SPREP to report on activities and
actions relating to oceans and coasts;

. endorse SPREP's intention to incorporate reporting on activities that support the
PIROP to integrated systems for environmental monitoring and reporting on the
state of the Pacific environment;

. trote the ISA as a mechanism for promoting the implementation of the PIROP;

. rot€ the report of the Secretariat on activities undertaken through its Strategic
Programmes relating to the PIROP-ISA; and

. provide feedback to the Meeting on nationallevel activities that support the
implementation of the PIROP.

2 July,2005
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGMMME

Sixteenth SPREP Meeting
Apia, Samoa

13-16 September 2005

Agenda Item 7.1.4: SPREP/Convention for Migratory Species Secretariat
Collaboration to Assist PICTs on Marine Mammals

Purpose of Paper

l. To brief and update the Meeting on progress in the collaborative work between the
SPREP Secretariat and the Convention for Migratory Species of Wild Animals (CMS)
Secretariat in respect of marine mammal conservation and protection to support Pacific
island countries and territories (PICTs) in their national programmes.

Background

2. The Secretariat of the Pacific Regional Environment Programme (SPREP) has
hosted three workshops related to the CMS within the region over the last three years with
the financial support of the CMS Secretariat. The first workshop took place in Apia at
SPREP Headquarters, 3-4 March 2003. This workshop recommended "a further meeting to
specifically engage the CMS Secretariat so that details of how iurangements under the CMS
can provide for marine turtle and marine mammal conservation programmes in the SPREP
region might be developed and implemented, and what benefits might accrue to the region."

3. The second joint workshop on the Convention on Migratory Species & Marine Mammal
Conservation met from 17-19 March 2004 in Apia. The major output of the workshop was a
consensus amongst participants that progress towards a Memorandum of Understanding
(MoU) developed under the auspices of CMS was desirable. Samoa was invited by the
meeting to convene a voluntary drafting group to develop a draft MoU for further
consideration.

4. A draft MoU (attached as Attachment 1) was produced and subsequently revised in
consultation with the CMS Secretariat. It provided the basis for the working group to
formally meet in Nadi, Fiji, 5-7 July 2005. The following States and Territories attended the
Nadi meeting: American Samoa, Australia, Federated States of Micronesia, Marshall
Islands, New Zealand, New Caledonia, Niue, Papua New Guinea, Samoa, Solomon Islands,
Tonga and Tuvalu. The drafting group's proposal for the draft MoU will be made available
to PICTs for their consideration.
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Draft MoU: main characteristics

Status

5. Clause 9 of the MoU declares it to be a legally non-binding instrument, i.e there is
no intention to create legal rights or duties under this document and there is no intention to
bring legal sanctions to bear on a signatory that fails to comply with any of its provisions.
This also means that where the MoU is inconsistent with the national laws or policies of a
signatory, those laws and policies will prevail to the extent of the inconsistency.
Nevertheless by signing the MoU, a signatory voluntarily commits itself to certain actions
and does so with the good faith intention, and with the strong expectation of other
signatories, that it will carry out these actions to the extent possible. So for example, in
relation to an inconsistent law, a signatory might endeavour to make it compatible with the
MoU.

Action Plan

6. The MoU is purposely kept short and sinrple. It is designed to facilitate cross-
jurisdictional and concerted action that will lead to the conservation of cetacean populations
and their habitats. CMS MoUs typically have Action Plans annexed to them. The SPREP
Whales and Dolphin Action Plan (WDAP) 2003-2007, which has been endorsed by SPREP
Meeting is the Action Plan for the purpose of the MoU. When the current WDAP expires, a
new one will be approved in the same manner as its predecessor and will become the
operative Action Plan under the MoU.

Signatories

7. Because the MoU is a regional document it is geared towards the 27 target States
and Territories listed after clausel T of the MoU. The MoU will enter into force upon 4 of
the target States and Territories signing. Under clause 14, once the MoU is in force it will
become open for signature by states and territories outside the "Pacific islands region
(PR)". It should be noted however that approval for outside signatories to join the MoU has
to be given by all target States and Territories that have signed the MoU (clausel4).
Similarly, the MoU can only be amended by consensus of those target States and Territories
that have signed the MoU (clausel3).

Geographical coverage

8. The term o'Pacific islands region" is defined in Annex I and encompasses the marine
areas under the jurisdiction of each of the 24 Annex I States and Territories. This list is
identical to the list of target States and Territories with the exception of the USA, the UK
and France which are not part of this geographical location. At international law, marine
areas under national jurisdiction includes territorial seas, archipelagic waters and exclusive
economic zones. The PIR, more importantly, extends to marine areas beyond normal fact
national jurisdiction, i.e those areas of the high seas occurring within the coordinates given
in Annex I and depicted within the red box in Map I (attached as Attachment 2).
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Benefits

9. The MoU is expected to provide a United Nations-based, region-wide framework to
support the Action Plan's effective and coordinated implementation. A UN Based
Framework brings an international pool of technical expertise to the region and connects the
MoU in the Pacific region to similar CMS MoUs in other parts of the world and provide a
source of lessons learnt. It will facilitate leveraging of resources and partnership
arrangements towards its implementation. Finally the MoU will contribute to the
achievement of the CBD 2012 Targets.

Next steps towards the finalisation of the MoU

Consultation period

10. The draft MoU developed by the drafting group is being circulated to the partners
concerned for comments. Official comments should be sent to the CMS Secretariat, with a
copy to the SPREP Secretariat, no later than 30 September 2005.

SPREP meeting

11. SPREP and CMS are convening a side event atthe 16th SPREP meeting. MrBell
(Samoa), convenor of the drafting Broup, will profile the MoU. This will be an opportunity
for SPREP constituents to comment on the state of progress on their review of the draft
MoU, to share views, including their ability to sign the MoU and to seek more information.
Mr Robert Hepworth, CEO of the CMS secretariat has been invited to attend the SpREp
meeting..

Finalisation of the MoU

12. Thereafter, all comments will be passed on to the drafting goup convenor, who will
consider them and develop a revised proposal with the support of the CMS and SpREp
Secretariats. The revised proposal will be reviewed by the drafting goup prior to being
resubmitted to Range States and Territories for final endorsernent.

CMS COP meering

13. It has been proposed that a progress report to the CMS Conference of the Parties in
November be presented by Australia and New Zealand, who are signatories to the CMS
Convention, with the view to secure support for its implementation.

MoU openfor signature

14. Depending on the extent of review required for finalisation of the MoU, it could be
open for signature in early 2006 and will remain open for signature indefinitely.

t
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Dugongs

15. The 2nd SPREP/CMS workshop recommended that a regional :urangement be
investigated for dugongs under CMS auspices, in view of existing conservation efforts in
the Pacific region (SPREP Dugong Actin Plan). Australia and Thailand are convening a

meeting in August under the auspices of the CMS to progress regional dugong conservation.
At the request of the CMS and SPREP secretariats, Pacific islands region range states

including PNG, Palau, New Caledonia, Vanuatu, Solomon Islands have now been invited to
participate in the discussion to enable expanded regional conservation efforts for this
species throughout its range.

Marine Turtles

16. At the 2nd SPREP/CMS workshop also recommended that SPREP investigate
opportunities under the CMS process for regional arrangements for marine turtles, noting
the MoU on the Conservation and Management of Marine Turtles and their Habitats of the
lndian Ocean and South-East Asia (IOSEA) on marine turtles and the need to have close
collaboration and such arrangements to be discussed in the context of the SPREP Action
Plan for Marine Turtles

17. SPREP communicated to the IOSEA meeting of range states in Bangkok in May
2005 the outcomes of the 2nd workshop. The meeting discussed opportunities for regional
arrangements and collaboration. In view of those discussions, the drafting group
recommended that, all interested members who are range states for marine turtles make a
formal approach, through SPREP, to CMS to develop a regional agreement for the
conservation of marine turtles in the Pacific islands region, noting that PNG is already a

signatory to the IOSEA.

18. An informal side meeting of the Nadi SPREP/CMS 3'd meeting, discussed the Year
of the Sea Turtle 2006 (YOST). This meeting followed previous discussions with countries
and territories and the IOSEA. The meeting recommended that SPREP establish a steering
group to develop a concept proposal and seek financial support to implement the Year of the
Sea Turtle.

Recommendation

19. The Meeting is invited to:

CMS MoU for the Consenation of Cetaceans and their Habitats in the Pacific
Islands Region;

than the 30 September 2005 deadline;

turtles including under the auspices of the CMS; and

I

| 9 July, 2005
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MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING FOR THE CONSERVATION OF
CETACEANS AI\D THEIR HABITATS IN THE PACIFIC ISLAI\DS REGION

Proposal of theforntal meeting of the Drafting Group
on the Memorandum of Understanding

(7 July 2005)

The Signatory States and Territories,

Aware of international responsibilities to conserve cetacean populations of the Pacific Islands
region, in particular, those pursuant to the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) for
which the Convention on Migratory Species of Wild Animals (CMS), is the lead partner in
the global conservation of migratory species over their entire range;

Recognising the importance of cetacean conservation at the global level as reflected., inter
alia, in the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea, the lnternational Convention
for the Regulation of Whaling, and the Convention on Intemational Trade in Endangered
Species;

Further recognising policies and strategies important to the Pacific Islands region, in
particular the Mauritius Strategy for the Further Implementation of the Programme of Action
for the Sustainable Development of Small Island Developing States, the CBD Island
Biodiversity Programme of Work, the Pacific Islands Regional Ocean Policy, and the Action
Strategy for Nature Conservation in the Pacific Islands Region;

Committed to the key regional role of the Pacific Regional Environment Programme (SPREP)
and the important work done at the regional level for cetaceans and, in particular, the SPREP
Whale and Dolphin Action Plan (2003 -2007);

Further recognising that cetaceans, as an integral part of the marine environment which
connect ecosystems and cultures, should be conserved for the benefit of present and future
generations;

Conscious that many cetaceans migrate and disperse over vast distances making their survival
dependent on their conservation over a wide area and in a range of marine and coastal
habitats;

Emphasising that knowledge of the biology, ecology, migrations, population abundance and
conservation stafus of many cetaceans is deficient and that international cooperation will
facilitate research and monitoring of these species in order to develop and implement
conservation measures;
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Concerned that the conservation status of cetacean populations that frequent the waters of the
Pacific Islands region, particularly those that have been severely depleted, can be affected by
factors such as directed take and by-catch, degradation and disturbance of their habitats,
chemical and noise pollution, decline in food availability, use and abandonment of fishing
gear, ship-strikes, climate change, and ozone depletion;

Aware that many maritime activities in the Pacific Islands region, such as fishing and
tourism, are socially and economically important and that they should be conducted in an
ecolo gically sustainable manner;

Acknowledging the shared responsibility of States and Territories, intergovemmental
organisations and the non-governmental sector to achieve and maintain a favourable
conservation status for cetaceans and their habitats in the Pacific Islands region;

Emphasising that the particular vulnerability of cetacean populations warrants the
implementation of conservation measures where they do not already exist;

Conscious that a number of cetacean species are listed on Appendices I and tr of CMS and
that some of these have been designated for concerted and cooperative action by the CMS
Conference of the Parties, and that urgent action should be taken to achieve and maintain a
favourable conservation status for these species and their habitats;

Noting that CMS calls for intemational cooperative action to conserve migratory species, and
that CMS Article fV encourages CMS Contracting Parties to conclude Agreements, including
legally non-binding agreements, in respect of any population of migratory species;

Recognising that the scientific bodies of the existing cetacean-based regional Agreements
negotiated under CMS auspices, and the CMS Scientific Council, have scientific and
technical expertise that can be shared with the Pacific Islands region to support the
implementation of this Memorandum of Understanding;

Confirming that the States and Territories in the Pacific Islands region have the primary
responsibility to implement this Memorandum of Understanding;

DECIDE to work closely together in the Pacific Islands region (Annex 1), and to foster
cooperation, build capacity and ensure coordinated region-wide actions to achieve and
maintain a favourable conservation status for all cetaceans and their habitats occurring in the
region, and to safeguard the associated cultural values for Pacific Islands peoples. To these
ends, in the spirit of mutual understanding and cooperation, the signatory States and
Territories will individually or collectively:

1. Take steps to conserve all cetaceans and fully protect species listed in CMS Appendix I
that occur in the region.

2. Consider, as appropriate, ratiffing or acceding to those biodiversity-related international
instruments that complement the intent of this Memorandum of Understanding, in
particular CMS, so as to enhance the legal protection of cetaceans in the Pacific Islands
region.
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Review, enact or update, as appropriate, legislation to conserve cetaceans.

Implement, subject to availability of necessary resources, the provisions of the Action
Plan attached as Annex2 to this Memorandum of Understanding as a basis to conserye
all populations of cetaceans in the Pacific Islands region. The Action Plan will address:
a) Threat reduction;
b) Habitat protection, including migratory corridors;
c) Research and monitoring;
d) Education and public awareness;
e) Information exchange;

0 Capacity building;
g) Responses to strandings and entanglements;
h) Sustainable and responsible cetacean-based tourism; and
i) Intemational cooperation.

Facilitate the rapid exchange of scientific, technical and legal information necessary to
coordinate conservation measures and to cooperate with recognised experts and
cooperating organisations so as to facilitate the work conducted in relation to the Action
Plan.

Assess the implementation of this Memorandum of Understanding, including the Action
Plan, at regular meetings to be attended by representatives of each of the signatory
States and Territories concemed, and persons or organisations technically qualified in
cetacean conservation.

7. Designate a competent authority for each signatory to serve as a focal point for
communication between the signatories and for activities under this Memorandum of
Understanding, and comrnunicate the complete contact details of this authority (and any
changes thereto) to the CMS Secretariat.

8. Provide to the CMS Secretariat a regular report on their implementation of this
Memorandum of Understanding, the periodicity of which will be determined at the first
meeting of the signatories. The Secretariat will transmit to each of the States, Territories
and the collaborating organisations all of the reports received, together with an
overview report that it will compile on the basis of the information at its disposal.

FINAL PROVISIONS

This Memorandum of Understanding is a legally non-binding agreement within the
meaning of CMS Article IV, paragraph 4.

The Annexes to this Memorandum of Understanding form an integral part thereof.

Each signatory State and Territory, as appropriate, will implement the Memorandum of
Understanding in the Pacific Islands region with respect to:
a) its nationals and vessels; and
b) marine areas under its jurisdiction.

5.

6.

9.

10.

I

lt.
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This Memorandum of Understanding will take effect when a minimum of four States

and Territories from the Pacific Islands region have signed it. It will remain open for
signature indefinitely, and will become effective for each subsequent signatory on the
date of signature, The Memorandum of Understanding will remain in effect indefinitely
subject to the right of any signatory to terminate its participation by providing one
year's written notice to all other signatories.

This Memorandum of Understanding, including its Annexes, may be amended by a
consensus of all signatory States and Territories of the Pacific Islands region.

Upon its entry into effect, the Memorandum of Understanding will be open to signature
by States and Territories outside the Pacific Islands region, subject to the confirmation
or approval of all signatory States and Territories of the Pacific Islands region.

Nothing in this Memorandum of Understanding will preclude signatories from
implementing stronger measures than those specified in the Action Plan, in accordance
with international law.

16. The original texts of the Memorandum of Understanding in the English and French
languages will be deposited with the CMS Secretariat, which will act as the depository.
ln the event of any discrepancies, the English version will be considered definitive.

17. The CMS Secretariat will provide secretariat functions to this Memorandum of
Understanding. It may use the service of any reliable organisation to support the
coordination of the Memorandum of Understanding. An organization to coordinate the
implementation of the Memorandum of Understanding will be agreed by consensus of
the signatories at their first meeting after consideration of all offers received. The
signatories may also consider at their meetings suitable organizations to provide
technical advice to support the implementation of the Memorandum of Understanding.

to insert signature blockfor States and Teruitories

I
Ir3.

I
I

15.

t4.

American Samoa
Australia
Cook Islands
Federated States of Micronesia
Fui
France
French Polyresia
Guam
Kiribati
Marshall Islands
Nauru
New Caledonia and Dependencies
New Zealand

Niue
Northern Mariana Islands
Palau
Papua New Guinea
Pitcairn Island
Samoa
Solomon Islands
Tokelau
Tonga
Tuvalu
Vanuafu
Wallis and Futuna
UK
USA

to insert signature block for collaborating organisations
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Aune:1 Facifie Islands Regron

This Memoran&url of Understanding shall apply ts the nrarine areas under the jwisdiction of
, 91oh State or Territory of the Pacific klands regron'' and extends to the area defined by the

Norrmea Convention, as the areabetween the Ttopio s-f,Canc€r and 60 degrees Ssuth tatituOe
and bEtweron 130 degrees East longitudeand 120 degrees W-estlongitude.

I

i The States and Teritories of the Pacific Islands region are hereby defined as:

l. Am'edcan Samoa
2. Australia- 3. Csoklstands
4. Federated Stces ofMicronesia
5. Fiji
6. Frsnsh Polynesia

r V. Guam
& Kiiibati
9. Ivlanhall Islauds
10. Nauru
1,1. NEw Caledonia and Dep-eudencies
12. New Zeatand
13. Niue
14. Nortrem Mariana Islands
15. Falau
lC FapuaNew GuinEa
17. Samoa
18, Solonron Islands
19. Tokelau
20. Tonga
21. Tuvaluj 22. Vanuatu
23. Wdlis and Futuna
2,4. Pitcaim Istand
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGMMME

Sixteenth SPREP Meeting
Apia, Samoa

13-16 September 2005

Agenda Item 7.2.1: Pacific Futures: Climate Change, Climate Variability, Sea Level
Rise and Stratospheric Ozone Depletion

Purpose of Paper

l. To advise the Meeting of the status of the work of the Secretariat in the above areas
and its agreement to recommend for endorsement of the Pacific Forum Leaders, the Pacific
Islands Framework on Climate Change 2006-2015. The paper also seeks the endorsement
of the Regional Meteorological Directors Meeting's Alofr Statement 2005 and for this
statement to be drawn to the attention of the next Forum Leaders meeting in Papua New
Guinea.

Background

The Pacific rslands Frameworkfor Action on Climate change 2006-201s

2. At the 34th Forum in 2003, Leaders agreed to establish an Ad-Hoc Working
Group, based on the Pacific Climate Change Roundtable with a mandate, inter-alia, to
review the "Regional Framework on Climate Change, Climate Variability and Sea-Level
Rise" and forward its recommendations to the l5th SPREP Meeting in 2004. The Ad-Hoc
meeting was convened in June 2004 to start the review process. The t5th SPREP Meeting
noted the recommendation of the Group that it be reconvened in 2005 to continue its
review of the Regional Framework. ln March 2005, the Group again met in Suva to
finalize the draft Framework and it was disseminated to countries prior to the Madang
Framework meeting.

3. A regional meeting in Madang 12 June 2005 adopted the Pacific Islands
Framework for Action on Climate Change 2006-2015 The finalization of the Framework
was targeted as one of the early wins in the Pacific Plan aimed at strengthening and
deepening regional cooperation. The Madang meeting recommended that the Framework
be forwarded for endorsement by the Pacific Forum Leaders in 2005. The Framework is
attached in Attachment I.
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Pacific Islands Greenhouse Gas Abatement through Renewable Energt Programme

4. The USD$26.025 Million Pacific Islands Greenhouse Gas Abatement through
Renewable Energy Project (PIGGAREP) was part of the GEF Work Programme submitted
for the approval of the GEF Council meeting in June this year. The proposal is now
converted into a UNDP Project Document prior to its endorsement by GEF CEO.
Collaboration with SOPAC and other CROP Energy Working Group members in the
implementation of the PIGGAREP will be finalized during the Project Document
preparation process. The project focuses on greenhouse gas mitigation and is a climate
change mitigation partnership between SPREP, LINDP, GEF and the PICs with the support
of CROP agencies. The same partnership has assisted in developing similar projects for
Palau and Republic of Marshall Islands. The PIGGAREP aims to achieve a cumulative
CO2 emission reduction of at least 2 million tons by 2015. The implementation of the
projected is expected to begin later this year.

The Eleventh Regional Meteorological Directors Meeting, Aloti, Niue 2005

5. The theme of this meeting was the need to coordinate the work of the Disaster
Management Officers, Meteorology and Climate Change to respond to extreme weather
events. Niue's experience with Cyclone Heta was profiled as a case study. The regional
meteorological Directors issued a statement to be presented to the SPREP and the Forum
Leaders Meetings reflecting on the poor state of many national meteorological services and

the need for institutional strengthening and human capacity and resources to be built up in
these areas. The Alofi Statement is attached in Attachment IL The Govemment of New
Caledonia has kindly offered to host the l2th Meteorological Services meeting at a date to
be settled in the first part of 2006.

6. The Secretariat in collaboration with the Asia Pacific Network also convened a
two-week workshop involving relevant government departments in Samoa on forecasting,
predicting and responding to extreme weather events in a coordinated manner. This
training course built on a similar one conducted in Fiji in 2004.

Suppoft provided to countries for Second National Communications

7. The Secretariat has worked with Samoa, Federated States of Micronesia, Cook
Islands, Vanuatu and Papua New Guinea to progress their Second National
Communications under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change.
The Secretariat is ready to assist other interested Pacific island Parties as requested.

Com munity Level Adaptation Projects

8. The Canadian lnternational Development Agency (CIDA) regional project
Capacity Building for the Development of Adaptation Measures in Pacific Island
Countries will formally conclude in October 2005. A regional workshop was held in
March, Suva, Fiji to discuss lessons learnt from the project and future directions. CIDA
and participating country representatives expressed their appreciation with the excellent
work of SPREP in executing the project. Country representatives also indicated the need

for further work in this area.
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9. The Secretariat has also received letters of endorsement from eleven Pacific Island
Countries to develop a regional adaptation proposal for the Global Environment Fund in
collaboration with UNDP.

First Meeting of the Parties to the I/h Conference of the Parties to the United Nations
Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) and the First Meeting of the
Parties to the Kyoto Protocol.

10. The first Meeting of the Parties to the Kyoto Protocol and the LINFCCC will be
convened along with the UNFCCC Conference of the Parties in December 2006. An
important theme underlying these meetings will be the issue of future commitments of
Kyoto Protocol Parties in the second commitment period 2012-2015. Pacific islands
interests are promoted through the Alliance of Small Island States (AOSIS) chaired by
Federated States of Micronesia. The Secretariat plans to convene a regional preparatory
meeting in advance of the December meeting at the Mocambo Hotel, Nadi in early
November 2006 subject to the availability of remaining funds (USD$30,000) needed to
conduct this meeting.

Regional Strategt for the Implementation of the Montreal Protocol [on Substances that
Deplete the Ozone LayerJ in the PaciJic Region

11. The UNEP funded and SPREP executed regional project Pacific Ozone Depleting
Substances (ODS) Project has been extended to December 2006. The focus for 2005 is to
provide technical support to national ozone offices to ensure they comply with their
national obligations and improve refrigeration techniques. SPREP will work towards the
establishment of regulations to control the import and use of ODS and will conduct
national workshops where requested.

12. In April 2005, a workshop to train customs officers and other govemment officials
about ODS regulations was held in the Republic of the Marshall Islands. The workshop
was the first of its kind under the project, which largely depend upon the establishment of
ODS regulations in each participating country. As part of the course, training was provided
on the US$1,500 testing device to allow customs officers to detect ozone depleting
substances (ODS). This was presented to the RMI Customs Service at the end of the
project. All countries will be provided with one as part of the Regional Strategy.

13. In May 2005, the Secretariat also assisted in a one-day national consultation
involving relevant goveriment departments in Kiribati on proposals for ODS regulations,
how they might affect importers and users in Kiribati, and how they might be
implemented. This consultation built on a similar one that was conducted in Tonga in
2004.

14. The Secretariat plans to convene a regional thematic workshop in Nadi, Fiji in the
third quarter of 2006 to discuss lessons learnt from the project and future directions. It is
envisaged that future directions would include the proposed "wasts refrigerants disposal
project" and "research and developmenf'.
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Recommendation

15 The Meeting is invited to:

2 July, 2005

Change 2006-2015 to be forwarded for endorsement by the Pacific Forum
Leaders in 2005.

Statement 2005 for the Secretariat to bring to the affention of the Pacific
Forum Leaders in 2005.

and the PICs on sourcing funds for regional greenhouse gas mitigation
activities and request a continued partnership to source more funds for more
regional and national greenhouse gas mitigation activities.

Communications.

and request other development partners to assist with the continuation of
adaptation implementation.

Conference of the Parties to the UNFCCC and its Kyoto Protocol and the
proposed preparatory workshop being planned by the Secretariat in this regard.

phase of the Pacific ODS Project and request participating countries to
establish and implement ODS regulations within the extended timeframe.
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Pacific lslands Framework for Action on Climate Change
2006-2015

(i) Scope

In this framework, Pacific Island Countries and Territories (PICTs') refers to American
Samoa, Cook Islands, Fiji Islands, French Polynesia, Guam, Kiribati, Commonwealth of
the Northern Marianas, Marshall Islands, Federated States of Micronesia, Nauru, New
Caledonia, Niue, Palau, Papua New Guinea, Samoa, Solomon Islands, Tokelau, Tonga,
Tuvalu, Vanuatu, Wallis and Futuna.

The timeframe for this Framework is 2006-2015. This Framework builds on The Pacifc
Islands Frameworkfor Action on Climate Change, Climate Variability and Sea Level Rise
2000-2004

In this Pacific regional framework, climate change refers to any change in climate over
time both as a result of human activity and natural variability.r

1. Preambte

The adverse effects of climate change and sea level rise present significant risks to the
sustainable development of Pacific Island Countries and Territories (PICTs') and the long-
term effects of climate change may threaten the very existence of some of them. This was
agreed to generally by Small Island Developing States together with the intemational
community most recently in the Mauritius Strategy for the Further Implementation of the
Barbados Programme of Action for Sustainable Development of Small Island Developing
States.

PICTs' priorities and needs in the area of climate change are reflected in international
documents such as the Mauritius Strategy. These are also reflected in national
communications, the outcomes of the UNFCCC Conferences of the Parties and the
outcomes of related international meetings.

At the regional level, PICTs' priorities and needs have been reiterated for over a decade in
relevant documents such as Forum Leaders Communiqu6s, regional policy frameworks
and related action plans together with the strategic plans of the regional intergovernmental
and non-governmental organizations.

I Refer to lntergovemmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) and the United Nations Framework Convention definition of climate
change.
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At the national level, PICTs' are also taking action to address climate change through their
national sustainable development strategies or their equivalent which are linked to national
budgetary and planning processes.

PICTs' recognize their commitment to sustainable development is a national responsibility
but realise that this cannot be achieved without development partner support. Within this
context the Framework identifies broad priorities for PICTs'. It provides a strategic
platform not only for use by policy and decision makers at all levels, but also for the
development and strengthening of partnerships for implementation of national and
regional initiatives.

The Framework runs from 2006-2015 and is consistent with the timeframes of the
Millennium Declaration, the Johannesburg Plan of Implementation and the subsequent
work of the UN Commission on Sustainable Development. It does not create legal rights
or impose obligations under international law.

The Framework is intended to promote links with, but in no way supercedes more specific
regional and national instruments and plans across specific sectors that link to weather and
climate including water: agriculture; energy; forestry and land use; health; coastal zone
management; marine ecosystems; ocean management; tourism and transport.

Addressing the issues of climate change requires an integrated, multi-stakeholder
approach. Furthermore, a strategic programmatic approach is required rather than an
increase in stand-alone project initiatives.

il. Pacific Context

PICTs' experience a high level of risk from the effects of extreme weather and climate
variability. Climate models suggest the tropical Pacific region will continue to warm. This
warming has the potential to alter and indeed increase such risks, through changing the
frequency and/or intensity of extreme weather or climate variability phenomena or through
accelerated sea-level rise. The impacts of these climate events will exacerbate already
stressed marine, freshwater and terrestrial environments.

Reducing the risks associated with the impacts of extreme weather and climate variability
is a fundamental developmental challenge faced by PICTs'. This must be urgently
addressed in order to contribute to improving livelihoods, economic wellbeing and health
as well as maintaining biodiversity and culture.

An integrated and multi-stakeholder approach that considers the complete cycle of interlinked
causes and effects, within the context of risk management across all sectors, is vital. A high
priority is the need to develop and strengthen community-centered initiatives.
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lll. Vision

Pacific island people, their livelihoods and the environment resilient to the risks and
impacts of climate change.

tv. Goal

Ensure Pacific island people build their capacity to be resilient to the risks and impacts of
climate change with the key objective to deliver on the expected outcomes under the
following Principles:

o implementingadaptationmeasures;
. govemance and decision making;
. improving understanding of climate change;
o education, training and awareness;
o contributing to global greenhouse gas reduction; and,
r partnerships and cooperation.

V. Principtes

Principle 1. lmplementing adaptation measures

Building resilience through adaptation to climate change, climate variability and extreme
weather events has been identified as the key priority for PICTs'. All PICTs' agree that
they are already witnessing the adverse effects of climate change. Atoll states in particular
believe that their very survival is threatened.

The ecological fragility, economic and social vulnerability, and the remoteness of many
Pacific Island countries makes recovery from extreme weather events very difficult.

Adaptation now will greatly increase our capacity to better adapt to future climate change
impacts. Appropriate adaptation measures using a multi-stakeholder approach need to be
integrated into nationaUsectoral sustainable development strategies or their equivalent.

PICTs' will encourage adaptation measures based on the principles of risk management
and where this is not possible the "no regrets'n or precautionary approach with a focus on
improving the livelihoods of its people including safety and security.
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Expected Outcomes by 2015:

1.1 Adaptation measures to the adverse effects of climate change developed and

implemented at all levels.
1.2 Identification of vulnerable priority areas/sectors and appropriate adaptation

measrues using available and appropriate information recognizing that such

information may be incomplete.
1.3 Adaptation measures in vulnerable priority areas supported by existing data sets

and traditional knowledge, or new data developed in some instances as necessary.
I.4 Appropriate adaptation measures integrated into nationaVsectoral sustainable

development strategies or their equivalent and linked to the budgeting process.

Principle 2. Governance and decision-making

PICTs' recognize that they have a national responsibility for addressing the risks and
effects of climate change in the context of their national sustainable development strategies
and reflecting principles of sustainable development and good governance.

All stakeholders have a role to play in developing individual and collective resilience
through adapting, preventing and/or mitigating the adverse effects of climate change.
Climate change and its effects is a shared responsibility, which also requires effective
partnership with all relevant stakeholders in decision-making and implementation of
strategies and actions at all levels.

Recognizing the presence of limited technical and financial resources and institutional
capacity at the national and regional levels, collaboration and partnerships between CROP
agencies in support of national efforts, consistent with the Pacific Leaders' vision, is
critical, harnessing key disciplinary skills and expertise across the region.

Good governance ensures the adoption of core principles of accountability and
transparency by all stakeholders and at all levels, which is critical for cost effective
adaptation and greenhouse gas reduction activities against the risks of climate change.

Expected Outcomes by 2015:

Climate change considerations mainstreamed into national policies, planning
processes, plans and decision-making at all levels and across all sectors.
Partnerships and organizational arrangements between govemment agencies,
private sector, civil society, community and other stakeholders strengthened.
CROP agency partnerships coordinated, harmonized and strengthened to ensure
country and outcome focused delivery of services.
Good governance by all stakeholders in climate change activities management at
regional, national and local levels strengthened.

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4
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Additional resources will need to be accessed through multilateral and bilateral funding.
One of the roles of regional organizations is to support national efforts to access this
assistance and to coordinate existing and new innovative projects and programmes,
including the Pacific Partnership Initiativefor Adaptation to Climate Change launched by
Pacific leaders at the World Summit on Sustainable Development. Efforts will be taken to
ensure climate change partnerships are strategic and well coordinated.

Expected Outcomes by 2015:

6.1 Existing and emerging international partnerships for the Pacific islands region on
climate change and related issues strengthened and established.

6.2 Enhanced coordination of regional action on climate change issues.

6.3 Climate change related assistance from development partners coordinated and
harmonized to maximize benefits to PICTs'.

6.4 Access by PICTs' to secure increased resources from funding mechanisms related
to climate change instruments optimized.

6.5 Promote significant intemational support through advocacy for further reduction in
greenhouse gases and securing resources for adaptation.

lmplementation Strategy

PICTs' recognise that the implementation of this Framework, the Mauritius Strategt,
Agenda 2l and the Johannesburg Plan of Implementation, as well as the achievement of
the intemationally agreed development goals, including those contained in the Millennium
D ec I aration, are mutually reinforcing.

The implementation of this Framework will be further elaborated in the Pacific Islands
Action Plan on Climate Change 2006-2015. It will require more focused and substantially
increased effort, by PICTs' and appropriate support from their regional organisations and
the international community. PICTs' recognize that each country has primary
responsibility for its own development and that the role of national policies, development
strategies and the allocation of dedicated financial resources cannot be overemphasized.

Vll. Monitoring Progress and Updating this Framework

Targets and indicators will be established within the Action Plan linked to the Framework
and set at the appropriate levels. The framework will be subjected to a mid-term review in
2010 to determine overall progress.

Evaluating progress towards achieving the outcomes of this Framework will be measured
every two years against the agreed national and regional indicators with the support of
regional organizations and the international community. This will require PICTs' to
identiff progress towards achieving the principles contained in this Framework, and to
identify emerging gaps requiring priority action and adjustment of priorities in future. The
regional organizations will where necessary provide support and a coordinating role, for
regional and international reporting.

t
I
t
I
t
t

I
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ALOFI STATEMENT
BY DIRECTORS OF PACIFIC METEOROLOGICAL SERVICES

ON THT OCCASION OF THE
I 0'h REGIONAL METEOROLOGICAL SERVICES DIRECTORS MEETING

NIUE, 11-14 APRTL,2005

All SPREP member countries and territories have meteorological services that share a common

vision for the safety, security and general well being of their citizens

The Directors of the Pacific meteorological services have met regularly since 1992 to share

knowledge, coordinate activities and cooperate on matters of common interest in support of their

services and regional meteorology. At the Tenth Regional Meteorological Services Directors

Meeting, the Directors requested SpnEp to draw to the attention of the 35fr Pacific Forum Leaders

Meeting the contribution of meteorological services to the region, particularly in the fields of
weather, climate and disasters and seek the support of Leaders in ensuring their sustainability.

Meteorological services not only provide climate and weather forecasting and weather services to

their countries, but are also the source of independent and informed advice to their govemments

on the many important issues in which meteorology plays a part. Only meteorological services

can provide official forecasts and warnings on tropical cyclones, heavy rains, floods, droughts,

damaging ocean conditions (high seas and heavy swells), seasonal outlooks and similar
phenomena. Meteorological services are in many cases, the first line of contact for national

tsunami warning services.

To ensure that the Pacific island meteorological services are fully effective in their roles, it is vital
that they all have facilities and appropriately qualified staff. This has been a continuing challenge

and one that is always discussed as a matter of concern at the Directors'meetings. To ensure the

viability of Pacific island meteorological services, the support of govemments and developmental

assistance agencies is need.

The Directors believe that the Forum can greatly assist them by:

Directors;

mitigation matters;

the viability of meteorological services in the Pacific; and,

their institutions.

This Statement is endorsed by the Directors and senior Oflicids of the national and local
meteorological services of Amerlcan Stmoa, Austrelie, Cook Islends, Federrled Stetes of Mlcronesia,
French Polynesia, Kiribati, Mershell Islands, New Zealend, New Celedonie, Niue, Prlru, Pepua New
Guinea, Samoe, Solomon Islands, Tonga, Tuvalu, United States



1 6SlWOffrcialslW P .7 .2.2
Page I

SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGMMME

Sixteenth SPREP Meeting
Apia, Samoa

13-16 September 2005

Agenda Item7.2.2z Strategy for Solid Waste Management in
Pacific Island Countries and Territories

Purpose of Paper

l. To present to the Meeting, the draft Strategy for Solid Waste Management in Pacific
lsland Countries and Territories and to seek the Meeting's approval of the draft Strategy.

Background

2. Waste Management is arguably the Pacific region's most pressing issue that requires
immediate addressing. It is widely recognised as a major concern for PICTs with the
potential to cause negative impacts on regional, national and territorial development
activities, including public health, the environment, water, tourism and trade, and food
security. Environmental pollution that comes about due to the improper management of
wastes is one of the major threats to sustainable development in the Pacific islands region.
The trans-boundary nature of much marine, liquid and hazardous waste pollution requires a
coordinated and comprehensive approach to both assessment and control - a truly integrated
approach. Without adequate moasures to combat the growing sources and extent of pollution,
the Pacific islands' efforts to maintain healthy societies, to stimulate sustainable development
and new investment and to build a sustainable future for its people may be permanently
undermined. Immediate concems to the PICTs include:

o increasing quantities of solid waste;
o the limited land areas in small atoll islands;
o the population density that exist in some PICTs, especially the atolls;
o the limited availability of appropriate infrastructure;
o the lack of controls on chemicals imported into the region; and
o the limited capacity to manage the range of pollutants.

3. In addition there is a need to shift long held attitudes and behaviours pertaining to
waste generation and management at all levels.
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4. The disposal of wastes continues to be a worldwide problem and the Small Island
Developing States (SIDS) of the Pacific increasingly share in this problem. Waste
management was identified as a strategic issue for the sustainable development of SIDS
including PICTs, at the UN General Assembly Special Session on the Sustainable
Development of SIDS held in September 1999 in New York and was again identifred as a

strategic issue for addressing in the Mauritius Strategy for the further implementation of the

Programme of Action for the sustainable development of SIDS in January 2005.

5. Waste management in the Pacific region was also the subject for a Type-II Initiative
presented at the World Summit on Sustainable Development in Johannesburg, September

2002. At that time the Initiative was only presented in a conceptual form, and little work has

since been done on developing it further. However, the general principles given in the

lnitiative have been reflected in the development of this strategy.

6. Waste management has also been identified as a priority issue within the region. The
architects of the Pacific Plan for strengthening regional cooperation and integration have

recognized it as one of the priority regional issue and have included it in the Environment
Chapter under the Sustainable Development section. It has also been recognised in SPREP's
most recent Action Plan for Managing the Pacific Environment, approved last year by the
SPREP Meeting after extensive consultations with SPREP member countries and
stakeholders. It is also reflected in "The Initiative for the Improvement of Waste
Management in the Pacific Region" which resulted from the Miyazaki lnitiative endorsed by
the leaders of Forum island countries at an Island Summit (PALM 2) held in Miyazaki, Japan

on 22 April 2000. Work on the Miyazaki lnitiative cornmenced in 2001 as a joint endeavour
between the Government of Japan and Pacific island countries, and has provided a sound

foundation for the development of longer-term programmes under this strategy. It was again
a strategic issue for addressing at the leaders of Forum island countries at an Island Summit
(PALM 3) held in Okinawa in 2003 where a need for a strategic regional approach to the
issue was discussed and endorsed.

7. At the fourteenth SPREP Meeting in September 2003 in Apia, the Secretariat
presented a working paper on the development of a Strategy for Solid Waste Management in
the Pacific island countries and territories as a result of the decision that was taken at PALM
3. The Meeting was invited to discuss and endorse the Secretariat's proposed plan, which it
did.

8. At that time, a draft strategy had been prepared by the Japanese Govemment in
response to requests for assistance that it had received from Pacific island countries in this
area. It was directed at the management of domestic, commercial and industrial solid wastes,

including hazardous wastes but the process used for the development of the final version of
the strategy could have greater implications on other areas of waste management such as

ehemical management and shipping-related marine pollution. It did not address the
management of municipal wastewater and other related liquid wastes, which are already being
targeted through other regional initiatives, such as the Pacific Wastewater Framework for
Action (SOPAC,2001).
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9. At PALM3 in 2003, it was endorsed that the formulation and implementation of this
Strategy be coordinated through SPREP, in collaboration with the Pacific Island Forum
Secretariat (PIFS) and the Japanese Govemment Ministry of Foreign Affairs (MOFA). Key
elements of the coordination mechanism included the provision of technical advice and
support, information exchange, and the facilitation of communications between the various
stakeholders and support for actions to be taken to address national waste disposal cases. This
was in recognition that the success of this plan will depend to a large extent on the amount of
involvement and participation shown by all stakeholders, the amount of cooperation between
PICTs, and the degree to which it is used by donors in guiding their bilateral and regional
activities. All of these activities are consistent with the SPREP mandate, its Strategic
Programmes and its established role within the region.

10. It was also envisaged that the formulation process would also include an extensive
consultative process throughout the Pacific region in the development of the strategy with
sub-regional waste consultative meetings serving as the major avenue or route to engage
stakeholder input. These meetings were planned to bring together at least two or three
representatives from PICTs to discuss the different components of the draft strategy and in
doing so put forward their national and territorial issues that were then captured and included
in the final version. These meetings were held during March-June 2005.

I L SPREP in addition to its coordinating and facilitating roles, also undertook an internal
consultation exercise where integrated waste management team meetings were held to allow
relevant offtcers to contribute to the refining and revising process of the draft strategy. These
staff members contributed to the sections of the document where they could contribute to in
its implementation. Once this was completed, the revised draft strategy was then sent out to
all the PICTs for their perusal and commenting before the consultative sub-regional
consultation meetings in March-June 2005.

12. More than 60 country and territory representatives participated in a series of four sub-
regional consultation meetings to:

o ldentiff key issues associated with the generation, collection and disposal of wastes at
the national levels;

o Consider the management and use of resources in the context of environmental
sustainability;
Identifo suitable tools for informing and educating the communities;
Identiff who should be responsible for meeting the cost associated with the generation
of waste; and

Establish and reinforce the role of SPREP and the national and territorial government
in waste management.

a

o
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tr4 i\fter atrl the national aud terriiorial iszue w,ere identified and ineoryorated into the

draft,strategy, the meet[ng of flre,ohairyersons of the sub-regional'oousultatio-n meetings thrn
aggeed on the, final version of the doeunreffi which is non'beingpresented for approval.

Recomncndafron

15. The Meting is invited to,:

Islaod Comtries, and Temitoiies;

tlre aetivitiee aontainod in the,strategy;

1.7 tune Z00f
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Glossary Definitions for,Draft Solid Waste Management
Plan

Waste Industry: Any business, institution or organization involved in the collection,
transport, storage or processing (for purposes of export to countries with the appropriate
infrastructure) of any solid waste for the purposes of recycling and recovery.

Solid Waste: Any garbage, refuse, or rubbish, sludge from any facility involved in the
treatment of air, wastewater, or water supply, and other discarded material, including solid,
semisolid, or contained liquid or gaseous material, resulting from industrial, commercial,
institutional activities and residential or community activities.

Green Waste: Plant debris such as coconut husk, palm fronds, tree branches, leaves, grass
clippings, and other natural organic material discarded from yards or gardens.

Kitchen Waste: Food scraps, either from food preparation or leftovers, from households,
restaurants and such.

Sludge: Any solid or semisolid wastes generated from any facility involved in the treatment
of air, wastewater or water supply. Septic tank sludge or any other individual point source
sludge (e.g. pit toilet, VIP toilet) from institutional, commercial, industrial, agricultural or
residential sources must be treated before disposal in a landhll, preferably in a wastewater
treatment facility.

Solid Waste Management (SWM): A practice using several waste management techniques
to manage and dispose of specific components of solid waste. Waste management techniques
include avoidance, reduction, reuse, recycling, recovery, and disposal.

Waste Minimization: The reduction, to the extent feasible, in the amount of solid waste
generated prior to any treatment, storage, or disposal of the waste.

Health Care Waste: Any cultures or stocks of infectious agents, human pathological
wastes, human blood and blood products, used and unused sharps, certain animal wastes,
certain isolation wastes and solid waste contaminated by any of the above biological wastes.

SWM Systems: Any organizational structure adopted for the effective administration of
SWM activities, and supported by practical, sound and effective SWM legislation, acts,
policies, strategies, and regulations.

SWM Infrastructure: All facilities (e.g. landfills, transfer stations, workshops), equipment
(e.g. vehicles, rubbish bins, crushers), and public infrastructure (e.g. roads, electrical
substations, SWM education programs) necessary for effective SWM.

Hazardous Waste: A waste with properties that make it dangerous, or capable of having a
harmful effect on human health and the environment. These wastes require special measures
in handling and disposal due to their hazardous properties (e.g. toxicity, ecotoxicity,
carcinogenicity, infectiousness flammability, chemical reactivity) and are generally not
suitable for direct disposal in a landfill.

t
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ADB

AUSAID

BPoA

CNMI

CROP

EEZ

EU

FAO

FSM

GEF

GEMS

JICA

JPOI

MDGs

MEA

MOFA

NZATD

PICTs

PET

PIFS

PNG

POPs

STDS

SOPAC

SPC

SPREP

SWM

TOR

UN

UNDP

UNEP

USEPA

USP

wHo
WSSD

Asia Development bank

Australian Agency for International Development

Barbados Programme of Action

Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands

Council of Regional Organizations of the Pacific

Exclusive Economic Zone

European Union

Food and Agriculture Organization

Federated States of Micronesia

Global Environment Facility

Global Environment Monitoring System

Japan International Cooperation Agency

Johannesburg Plan of Implementation

Millennium Development Goals

Multilateral Environmental Agreements

Japanese Government Ministry of Foreign Affairs

New Zealand Agency for International Development

Pacific Island Countries and Territories

polyethylene terphthalate (a form ofplastic)

Pacific Islands Fonrm Secretariat

Papua New Guinea

Persistent Organic Pollutants

Small Island Developing States

South Pacific Applied Geo-Science Commission

Secretariat for the Pacific Community

Secretariat of the Pacific Regional Environment Programme

Solid Waste Management

Terms of reference

United Nations

United Nations Development Programme

United Nations Environment Program

United States Environmental Protection Agency

University of the South Pacific

World Health Organization

World Summit for Sustainable Development
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Executive Summary

Waste Management is widely recognised as a major concern for Pacific Island countries
(PICs) with the potential to cause negative impacts on national development activities,
including tourism and trade, food supplies, public health and the environment. This Draft
Waste Management Strategy sets out a long-term programme for addressing waste
management issues in the region, so as to avoid these adverse effects.

The draft strategy has been prepared in response to requests to the Government of Japan to
provide assistance to Pacific Island countries and territories in this area. A key element of the
strategy allows for consultations with stakeholders in the region, including national
govelrlments, donors, inter-govemmental and non-goverrrmental organisations, with the aim
of producing a final agreed strategy. The proposed programme should then be implemented
at both national and regional levels. It is also intended that the Strategy should provide a
mechanism for coordination of the future activities of donor agencies with interests in this
area. Foreign aid is one of the limited resources available to the Pacific and there are obvious
benefits in ensuring the integration of any efforts to get the maximum possible benefit from
this resource.

The need for effective woste management

The generation and disposal of wastes has direct and indirect linkages to economic
development. Waste materials represent wasted money, in terms of the original cost of the
materials, the costs of disposal, and also the potential value of the material as a recyclable and
reusable resource. Poorly managed wastes can have negative effects on tourism, by
detracting from the "Pacific Paradise" image promoted by most PICTs, and by association
with health warnings about infectious and vector-borne diseases. There is the potential for
contamination of food supplies, which can have impacts on local markets or revenue from
export crops. And there are numerous health and environmental hazards that arise when
wastes are poorly managed and disposed.

Conversely, the benefits from good waste management can include reduced raw material
costs, enhancement of the tourism experience, reduced health care costs. Effective measures
now will also avoid the need for expensive clean-up operations in the future.

Key elements of the strategy

The strategy is based around the following three major strategies:

o lnstitutional activities by all key stakeholders, including policy development, capacity
building, information exchange, public education and awareness.

. lmprovement and upgrading of existing waste management and disposal systems
o Development and/or enhancement of waste minimisation activities such as recycling,

so as to reduce the quantities of wastes being produced at the national level
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The proposed activities are intended to assist PICs in moving towards the development of
effective waste management systems within their countries, and in accordance with their
specific needs. The programme is intended to be implemented over a period of ten or more
y€ars' in recognition of the fact that many of the required changes will only be achieved
through gradual improvements over long periods of time. In addition, emphasis has been
given to the development of activities embodying some of the key riquirements for
sustainability, including the use of appropriate technologies and *unugl-"nt systems, and
with a strong focus on self-help and in-country capacity uuitaing.

C oordin atio n M ec han is m

It is proposed that the implementation of this plan be coordinated through the Secretariat of
the Pacific Regional Environment Programme (SPREP). The key elements of the
coordination mechanism will include the provision of technical aivice and support,
information exchange, and the facilitation of communications between the various
stakeholders, including governments, donors and intergovemmental organisations. All of
these activities are consistent with the SPREP mandate and its established roles within the
region.

Recommendations

Pacific Island governments have all recognised the importance of waste management as an
issue for the region, and the need for positive action has been noted on numerous occasions.
However, little progress will be made until the issue is acknowledged and actions endorsed at
the highest political levels. It is recommended that governments demonstrate their
commitment to action through endorsement of the following policy:

Pacific Island governments recognise the importance of sound waste management
practices to their environmental, economic and social development, and underiake to
address current problems through implementation of the proposed W'aste Management
Strategtfor Pacific Island Countries and Territories. In aifug so, pICTs undertake to:

I ' provide the necessary resources and incentives for development and
implementation of national waste management policies and activities;

2. encourage and support appropriate waste minimisation activities so as to
achieve measurable reductions in the quantities of waste that need to be
disposed; and

3. establish or upgrade waste disposal facilities within their countries that
comply with minimum agreed regional-performance standard, guidelines and
internatio nal commitments

I

I
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Introduction

Backgroand

The Pacific islands region encompasses a wide variety of geogaphical.features, populations,
cultures, economies and politics within its 22 countriesl and territories'. It is spread over an

area of 30 million square kilometers; almost one sixth of the earth's surface and three times
larger than either the USA or China. More than 98% of the area consists of ocean, with the
remaining 2o/o made up of about 7500 islands, only 500 of which are inhabited. The total
population of the region is about 8 million people, with an overall annual growth rate of
about 2.2% (5PC,2002), although of this total 5.1 million are from Papua New Guinea.

Most of the countries were colonised until recently, and this has had lasting effects on the
social, cultural, political, economic and development status of each island state. The Pacific
Islands often are considered as covering three sub-regions; Melanesia (west), Polynesia
(southeast) and Micronesia (north), based on their ethnic, linguistic and cultural differences.
The physical sizes, economic prospects, available natural resources and political
developments within these sub-regions suggest that the groupings are still useful, although
not necessarily ethnically correct.

Just as varied as the geography of the Pacific Islands are the population distributions and
demographic hends in the region, with populations ranging between the extremes of Papua
New Guinea (5.1 million) and Pitcaim Islands (47). The population of the Commonwealth of
the Northern Mariana Islands (CNMD has been growing annually at 5.5Yo in recent years,
while Niue's population is decreasing at a rate of 3.1%. The current regional growth rate is
approximately 2.2o/o. More than half the region's population are minors. The generally small
populations are further affected by international migration. For example, there are more
Cook Islanders, Niueans, and Tokelauans living overseas than in their home countries. An
increasing number of Tuvaluans are following this trend (SPC,2002)

lnformation on land area, EEZs and populations is given in Table 1.1.

Countries: Cook Islands, Federated States of Micronesia (FSM), Fiji, Kiribati, Marshall lslands, Nauru,
Niue, Palau, Papua New Guinea (PNG), Samoa, Solomon Islands, Tonga, Tuvalu and Vanuatu
Territories: American Samoa, Commonwealth of Northern Mariana (CNMI), French Polynesia, Guarrl
New Caledonia, Pitcaim lslands, Tokelau, Wallis and Futuna.

L1
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Table 1.1: EEZs, Land Area and Population of Pacific Island Countries (SPC, 2002)

Country/Territory EEZ (km21 Land Area
(*m')

Estimated
Population

(2001)

Population
Density

(Persons/km2)

American Samoa 434,700 t97 65,600 333

Cook Islands 1,830,000 240 18,900 79

Federated States of Micronesia 2.978,000 710 u 1,000 156

Fui I,290,000 18,272 820,200 45

French Polynesia 5,030,000 3265 237,500 73

Guam 218,000 541 157,700 291

Kiribati 3,550,000 690 85,900 124

Marshall Islands 2,r31,000 180 57,700 320

Nauru 310,000 2l l I,800 561

New Caledonia 1,230,891 1 9,1 03 221,000 t2

Niue 390,000 259 1900 7

Northem Mariana Islands 777,000 471 79,900 r67

Palau 629,000 460 19,500 42

Papua New Guinea 3,100,000 462,243 5,100,000 lt
Pitcairn 800,000 5 47 9

Samoa 120,000 293s 174,100 59

Solomon Islands 1,340,000 27,556 432,300 l6
Tokelau 290,000 l0 1500 150

Tonga 700,000 699 100,500 IM
Tuvalu 900,000 26 10,100 388

Vanuatu 680,000 I 1,880 196,500 t7

Wallis & Futuna 242,700 255 14,600 57

1.2 Waste Management in the Pacific Islands

Waste Management is widely recognised as a major concern for PICTs with the potential to
cause negative impacts on national and territorial development activities, including public
health, the environment, water, tourism and trade, and food security. Environmental
pollution that comes about due to the improper management of wastes is one of the major
threats to sustainable development in the Pacific islands region. The trans-boundary nature of
much marine, liquid and hazardous waste pollution requires a coordinated and comprehensive
approach to both assessment and control a truly integrated approach.
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Without adequate measures to combat the growing sources and extent of pollution, the
Pacific islands' efforts to maintain healthy societies, to stimulate sustainable development
and new investment and to build a sustainable future for its people may be permanently
undermined. Immediate concerns to the PICTs include:

o increasing quantities of solid waste
o the limited land areas in small atoll islands
o the population density that exist in some PICTs, especially the atolls
o the limited availability of appropriate infrastructure
o the lack of controls on chemicals imported into the region, and
o the limited capacity to manage the range of pollutants.

In addition there is need to shift long held attitudes and behaviours pertaining to waste
generation and management at all levels.

The disposal of wastes continues to be a worldwide problem and the Small Island Developing
States (SIDS) of the Pacific increasingly shares in this problem. Waste management was
identified as a strategic issue for the sustainable development of Small Island Developing
States including PICTs, at the UN General Assembly Special Session on the Sustainable
Development of SIDS held in September 1999 in New York and was again identifred as a
strategic issue for addressing in the Mauritius Strategy for the further implementation of the
Programme of Action for the sustainable development of Small Island Developing States
(SIDS) in January 2005.

Waste management has also been identihed as a priority issue within the region. The
architects of the Pacific Plan for strengthening regional cooperation and integration have
recognized it as one of the priority regional issue and have included it in the Environment
Chapter under the Sustainable Development section. It has also been recognised in the most
recent Action Plan for Managing the Pacihc Environment, which was produced by SPREP in
2004 after extensive consultations with SPREP member countries. It is also reflected in "The
Initiative for the Improvement of Waste Management in the Pacific Region" which resulted
from the Miyazaki lnitiative endorsed by the leaders of Forum island countries at an Island
Summit (PALM 2) held in Miyazaki, Japan on 22 April 2000. Work on the Miyazaki
Initiative cornmenced in 2001 as a joint endeavour between the Government of Japan and
Pacific island countries, and has provided a sound foundation for the development of longer-
term programmes under this strategy. It was again a strategic issue for addressing at the
leaders of Forum island countries at an Island Summit (PALM 3) held in Okinawa in 2003
where a need for a strategic regional approach to the issue was discussed and endorsed.

Waste management in the Pacific region was also the subject for a Type-tr Initiative
presented at the World Summit on Sustainable Development in Johannesburg, September
2002. At that time the Initiative was only presented in a conceptual form, and little work has
since been done on developing it further. However, the general principles given in the
Initiative have been reflected in the development of this Plan.

I
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This regional SWM strategy sets out a long-term programme for addressing these waste
management issues in the region, especially the solid waste issues, so as to avoid these
adverse effects.

Vision

A healthy, and a socially, economically and environmentally sustainable pacific for future
generations

GoaI

The goal of this strategy is for PICTs to adopt effective and self-sustaining SlryM systems to
minimise the negative effects on public health, the environment, the ecoiomy and the way
of hfe.

The importance of maintaining and improving the quality of life in the pICTs both at the
national and regional levels is one of the major goals for a healthy and sustainable pacific and
cannot be expressed strongly enough. The region in its efforts is committed to pursuing this
goal based on competitive and progressive economies with sustained economic growth,
improved and enhanced education and health standards, and strengthened cultuial and
traditional values.

All categories of waste that exist in the region, immediately pose a threat to the overall well-
being and health of the people in the Pacific and its natural environment that support its
endeavours for economic growth and prosperity. The region is committed to putiing into
place effective, manageable and deliverable waste management systems to enable pICTs to
reduce the amount of waste that is currently generated on the islands.

1.5 Objectives of the Strategy

The objectives of this regional SWM strategy are to assist PICTs put into place:

o effective and adequate waste management systems and practices
. appropriate waste management infrastructure
o practical, sound and effective waste management policies, legislation, and regulationso appropriate communication strategies to support effective waste management

activities
o mechanisms that will support the SWM systems in a financially and economically

sustainable manner
. appropriate mechanisms to support research and development for SWMo appropriate capacity building mechanisms to assist and enable the Pacific islands'

people manage their waste in an environmentally sound manner.
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1.6 Guiding Principles and approaches

The regional SWM strategy will be guided by the following principles and approaches:
o Active involvement of all stakeholders through a comprehensive consultative and

participatory approach
r Personal and corporate responsibility including the user/polluter pay approach, the

extended producer responsibility principle and other economic incentives
o Waste segregation and minimisation both at source and during SWM with the

ultimate goal of moving to azero waste system
o lnteglatedcommunications
o Holistic and precautionary approach, mindful of future demographic trends and

technological advances.

1.7 Technical and geographical scope and timeframe

This regional strategy is directed at the management of domestic, commercial and industrial
solid wastes, including hazardous wastes from public utilities such as hospitals and other
health care institutions in the entire Pacific islands' region. It also includes the management
of special and difficult waste such as scrap metal and asbestos. It does not address the
management of municipal wastewater and other related liquid wastes, which are already
being targeted through other regional initiatives, such as the Pacifrc Wastewater Framework
for Action (SOPAC, 2001). Furthermore, it does not address the management of chemical
waste, which are addressed through national initiatives such as the Stockholm Convention
National lmplementation Plans and other existing chemical management policies.

The geographical scope of this regional strategy is the Pacific islands' region, defined as the
islands and the coastlines of the 21 PlCTs, which are members of SPREP. SPREP island
members are generally put into two categories: the 14 independent and semi-independent
countries (Pacific island countries) and seven territories (Pacific island territories). In
addition to the SPREP island members, there are four metropolitan developed countries3,
which are also members of SPREP. While they do not constitute the Pacific islands region,
they play a vital role in supporting the activities of SPREP.

The regional strategy is intended to assist PICTs in progressively moving towards the
development of appropriate solutions and their related effective waste management systems
and practices within their countries and territories, and in accordance with their specific
needs. The programmes are intended to be implemented over a period of ten or more years,
in recognition of the fact that many of the required changes, whether individual, institutional
or systemic, will only be achieved through gradual improvements over long periods of time.
This strategy will be reviewed from time to time where appropriate to accommodate future
and changing trends. In addition, emphasis has been given to the development of activities
embodying some of the key requirements for sustainability, including the use of appropriate
technologies and environmental practices, and management systems, and with a strong focus
on self-help and in-country capacity building.

'' Australia, France, New Zealand and the United States of America
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1.8 Process offormulation and management/coordination

At the Pacific Islands Leaders Meeting (PALM) with the Government of Japan in 2003, it
was endorsed that the formulation and implementation of this Strategy be coordinated
through SPREP, in collaboration with the Pacific Island Forum Secretariat (PIFS) and the
Japanese Government Ministry of Foreign Affairs (MOFA), Key elements of the
coordination mechanism included the provision of technical advice and support, information
exchange, and the facilitation of communications between the various stakeholders and
support for actions to be taken to address national waste disposal cases. This was in
recognition that the success of this plan will depend to a large extent on the amount of
involvement and participation shown by all stakeholders, the amount of cooperation between
PICTs, and the degree to which it is used by donors in guiding their bilateral and regional
activities. All of these activities are consistent with the SPREP mandate and its established
roles within the region.

It was also envisaged that the formulation process would also include an extensive
consultative process throughout the Pacific region in the development of the strategy with
sub-regional waste consultative meetings serving as the major avenue or route to engage
stakeholder input. These meetings were planned to bring together at least two or three
representatives from PICTs to discuss the different components of the draft strategy and in
doing so put forward their national and territorial issues that were then captured and included
in the final version. These meetings were held during March-June 2005.

SPREP in addition to its coordinating and facilitating roles, also undertook an intemal
consultation exercise where integrated waste management team meetings were held to allow
relevant officer to contribute to the refining and revising process of the draft strategy. These
staff members contributed to the sections of the document where they could contribute to in
its implementation. Once this was completed, the revised draft strategy was then sent out to
all the PICTs for their perusal and commenting before the consultative sub-regional
consultation meetings in March-June 2005.

It was recognised that all PICTs do have some form of waste management plans and
strategies with some ongoing programmes and activities. The consultative process was an
opportunity to for the PICTs to highlight and bring out the major solid waste issues in the
Pacific islands region.

More than 60 country and territory representatives participated in a series of four sub-
regional consultation meetings to:

o Identi& key issues associated with the generation, collection and disposal of wastes at
the national levels;

o Consider the management and use of resources in the context of environmental
sustainability;

o Identify suitable tools for informing and educating the communities;
Identiff who should be responsible for meeting the cost associated with the generation
of waste; and
Establish and reinforce the role of SPREP and the national and territorial govemment
in waste management.
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After all the national and tenitorial issues were identified and incorporated into the draft
strategy, the meeting of the chairpersons of the sub-regional consultation meetings then
agreed on the final document before it was presented to the 16th SPREP Meeting in Apia,
Samoa for endorsement and approval.

1.9 Stakeholderldentiftcation

The success of the formulation process of the regional strategy and its ultimate
implementation depends very much on the involvement and participation of the stakeholders.
The major players in the formulation of this strategy were the political leaders, the lead
national Govemment agencies for waste management, legislators, operators/practitioners of
waste managements systems and practices, (including collection and disposal operators,
shipping agents, recycling and composting operators), community campaign coordinator,
traditional leaders and groups, landowners, business houses and industries, NGOs and CROP
agencies, donors and the general public of the PICTs.

Due to the many different aspects of waste management issues addressed in the strategy, a
broad based approach focusing on:

(a) Institutional activities, including policy review and development, capacity building,
i nformation ex change, and integrated communications

(b) Improvement and upgrading of existing waste management and disposal systems and
practices nationally and between countries; and

(c) Development and/or enhancement of waste segregation and minimisation activities
such as recycling, so as to reduce the quantities of wastes being generated is
recommended.

It is this broad based approach that requires the involvement and participation of the various
stakeholders listed above.
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2. Woste Monogement in PICTs - Post to Present

2.1 Backgroand

Traditional waste management practices both within and outside the Pacific Islands' region
have evolved from the need to maintain public health. In recent times, this concept has been
expanded to include the need to maintain the health of the natural environment as well in
recognition of the intricate relationship between the health of the natural environment and the
long-term health and well-being of the people. Furthermore, it is also recognised that one of
the three pillars for acquiring sustainable development at the national level is environment -
more specifically a healthy environment.

Waste management has been the subject of a number of national, bilateral and regional
progralnmes in the region over the past 5 to 10 years. However, most of these activities have
been caried out in a relatively uncoordinated way, because there has been generally a lack of
any overall national or regional strategies. There are numerous examples of projects in the
region that have duplicated the work of others, and./or failed to achieve sustainable outcomes.
Some of these problems might have been avoided had the prograrnmes been designed and
implemented within the framework of an overall national or regional Strategy. Also waste
has not appeared to be priority at the national level and has resulted in little participation
across agencies. The most recent regional and national waste management activities in the
region are summarised in Appendix l.

2.2 Statement of intent and commitment

The PICTs, in recognizing that improper waste management has the potential to cause
negative impacts on national development activities, including public health, the
environment, water, tourism and trade, and food security, are committed to taking the
necessary steps to address this issue both at the regional and national levels so as to avoid the
adverse effects. This regional strategy sets out a long-term programme for addressing waste
management issues at the regional level while at the national level, most PICTs are now
recognizing waste management as a priority issue and are committed to addressing it by
investing national resources into this sector while others are taking the initial steps to
addressing this issue. These national commitments are listed in Appendix l.

2.3 Cross-cutting isszes

The management of solid waste involves the use of several techniques to manage and dispose
of the specific components of the waste stream. To do this effectively, the different
management activities have to be supported by practical, sound and effective SWM
legislation, policies, strategies, and regulations and therefore require an integrated and broad
based approach. While there are clearly different components of a waste management
system, there are elements of the operations of these components that are common to all: the
cross-cutting issues. These cross-cutting elements include economic issues, integrated
communication, and capacity building.
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There are many programmes and activities that can be developed for all the specific areas in
the strategy. This needs to be appropriate, achievable and sustainable in light of the different
island situations. Due to their cross-cutting natures, their overall plans have been developed
independently and can be applied to the various work areas, where appropriate, in this
strategy.

2.3.1 Economic Issues

A critical issue in the waste problems faced by the Pacific is cunently a lack of general
appreciation of the impacts of waste, not only physically, but also financially and
economically in PICTs. Under the Intemational Waters Project at SPREP efforts to improve
the regional understanding of the economic impacts of waste are currently underway in some
PICTs. For instance, an economic valuation of waste is presently underway in Tonga.
Among other issues, the valuation seeks to identify the costs to households, industry and the
government of waste generation and related pollution in Tonga. This work, together with an
integrated communications strategy, is intended to raise the profile of waste issues and
increase appreciation of how sometimes abstract problems of solid waste can genuinely harm
household and other stakeholders.

As will become apparent in the following sections, one of the major contributors to the
current problem of waste in the Pacific is the limited access to region-specific information
that enables use of a range of incentives (policy and institutions) to sustain and manage
resources efficiently. For instance, only limited use has been made of:

o 'demand' management tools that deter consumers frorn purchasing products that
generate place an excessive burden on the waste sector; and

. 'suPPly' management tools that encourage producers and importers to minimise the
amount of waste that they generate and/or import.

This general lack of demand and supply incentives across the Pacific has the effect of
limiting personal and corporate responsibility to properly manage waste. Equally importantly,
they harm the ability of PICTs to finance waste management and disposal in the long term.

2.3.2 Education and Awareness programmes

Waste management programrnes undertaken in the region in the past 5 to 10 years were
largely comprised of education and awareness activities that resulted in the production of
numerous resources for formal and non-formal education. In most cases these materials did
not reach the target audience and in cases where they did, it resulted in raising community
awareness and understanding of issues related to sustainability. However, these activities
were limited in their ability to foster behaviour change. Many of these education
programmes are not targeted at different people involved in the different stages of the waste
cycle. t
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It is widely agreed that at all level of society, changes in behaviour are required in order to
decrease the amount of waste being generated and disposed of at the landfill.
Communication progrturlmes, such as social marketing, focus on changing attitudes and
behaviour sumounding waste generation, by addressing perceived barriers to sustainable
living habits, and by offering incentives and rewards to stimulate and sustain interest in a
particular behaviour. These programmes not only raise awareness of issues (such as
unsustainable living practices), but they encourage the adoption of new behaviours that lead
to taking responsibilily for managing waste.

An integrated communications strategy within a national strategy can provide information on
the appropriate communication tools to be used to reach the various stakeholders/audiences.
The role of communications is discussed in Section 3.2.

2.3.3 CapacityBuilding

It is generally accepted that some form of waste management system does exist in all the
PICTs but how effectively these systems are operated and managed depend on the
capabilities of the personnel in these countries. In many cases, there is a limited pool of
qualified or appropriately trained people looking after these systems and consequently they
may not be effectively operated or managed. This problem is compounded by the high
turnover of trained staff within the relevant agencies at the national level.

In recent times, the issue of Solid Waste Management has been accorded greater attention
and recognition by govemments of PICTs, but one of the more prominent barriers to realizing
effective, efficient and sustainable solid waste management in the region is the limited or laci
of capacity existing within national systems, institutions, communities and individuals.
Various studies, assessments and reviews have highlighted the different areas of capacity
needs and a range of government and donor-funded interventions have been designed and
implemented to address these needs. Recently there has been the recognition of thJneed for
the development of national and regional strategies that can be used to plan, implement and
monitor fufure work.

The Govemment of Japan through the Japan International Co-operation Agency (JICA) has
been assisting the region in building expertise in the area of waste management under the
JICA/SPREP programme on municipal solid waste management (Miyuzaki lnitiative, 2001-
2005). The programme was designed to allow PIC participants to undergo an intensive
training course in waste management, demonstration projects (e.g. composting) and the
development of guidelines for landfill design, operation and management, and the
incremental improvement at existing landfills. Over the past 4 years since 2001 a total of 52
PIC participants have undergone this cowse.

The second part of JICA assistance has been in undertaking pilot projects to improve solid
waste management facilities and practices at the national level. Currently these activities
have been limited to the improvements of the Tafaigata and M-Dock landfills in Samoa and
Palau respectively using the "Fukuoka Method."



I 6SIWOffi cialsMP. 7.2 .21 Att.l
Page l8

Capacity building remains an important priority for PICTs and further coordinated support is
needed to address PICTs special needs, including the lack of capacity in data/information
management systems.

2.4 Policy and legislation

Although a number of PICTs are currently developing appropriate environmental legislation,
very few have appropriate policies, legislation, regulations and sound implementation
strategies that address waste management from an environmental management perspective.
Some laws that address waste originate from outdated and fairly generic legislation, such as
Public Health Acts, WHO guidelines and legislation modelled on developed country laws.
The regulation of waste is typically spread :rmong a number of agencies whose jurisdictions,
roles and responsibilities are ill defined. The lack of a consolidated regulatory approach to
waste management results in regulation on an ad hoc, sectoral basis. Some of the existing
waste related legislation needs to be reviewed because of the lack of clear and concise
mandates. Currently, waste related cases that come before the courts are not effectively dealt
with because the penalties are low and therefore insufficient to act as effective deterrents.
There is also a lack of clear procedures for sampling and instituting legal proceedings. As a
result the enforcers are often reluctant to commit the time and expense of instituting legal
proceedings against offenders. On top of this prosecution is made difficult because such
cases have to compete with criminal cases for the courts time. This problem is exacerbated in
PICTs that are spread out over vast distances and have inadequate transportation systems.

lnstitutions that regulate waste typically lack the capacity to effectively enforce the
regulations. The lack of capacity is due to:

o Insufficient and unsustainable financial resources
o lnsufficient stafflrng,
o Limited appropriately trained staff,
o Limited infrastructure
o Inadequate surveillance, monitoring and enforcement.

2.5 ll/aste Generation and Minimization

The first step to any waste management strategy is to develop an accurate waste inventory or
database on the different tlpes of waste that are generated both at the national and regional
levels. This inventory provides the designers the necessary baseline information they need to
effectively formulate their plan.

ln the Pacific region, the JICA/SPREP training course over the last five years have built in a
component that trains the participants on the art of carrying out waste audits or waste stream
analysis to investigate the composition of the generated waste at the national level. There is
the need for the use of a common methodology for audits and a guide on their regularity.
Resources need to be committed to support such activities. Follow up work have shown that
while some audits have been carried out to develop or update inventories at the national and
community levels the information is not easily accessible. PICTs that have undertaken waste
audits include Kiribati, Marshall Islands, Nauru, Palau, Tonga, Tuvalu, and Samoa.
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On the regional scale, the EU/SPREP WASTE project (1993-2001) provided some
information on waste composition and generation rates at the national level but these were
only done in eight Pacific urban centres and not carried out over a long enough period of time
to get a true picture of the situation on the ground. This has been reported by Raj (2000), and
is summarised in Table 2.1 below. This data came from surveys carried out in 1999 by a
consultant under contract to SPREP. The areas surveyed were Lautoka, (Fiji), South Tarawa
(Kiribati), Port Moresby (Papua New Guinea), Apia (Samoa), Honiara (Solomon Islands),
Nuku'alofa (Tonga), Funafuti (Tuvalu) and Port Vila (Vanuatu). The data is limited in that
only about 30 to 50 households were covered in each area and was conducted carried out over
a fwo-week period. Despite the limited coverage the surveys provide a useful snapshot of the
types of wastes being generated within parts of the region, and their overall generation rates.

Two key points to note are the high proportion of organic or biodegradable, materials in the
waste stream and the presence of potentially hazardous materials. The proportions of paper,
plastics, glass and metals reflect the increasing importance of these materials as disposal
issues for the region. Disposable nappies/diapers are another current concern, although these
are not specifically shown as they were classified as part of the paper component in the
survey methodology. Other problematic wastes such as plastic bags and food wrappers
should also be considered as specific categories in a waste survey.

Table 2.1: Composition and Generation Rates for Domestic Solid Waste in 8 Pacific Urban
Centres, f 999 (Raj,2000)

Waste Comnonent Ranse futohl Average (wt %)
Paper 5.9 - 3l.l t2.3
Plastic 5.2 - 16.8 9.7
Glass 2.7 - t3.6 6.2
Metals 3.2- t2.3 7.6
Biodegradable 47 .2 - 7r.0 58.2
Textiles r.5 - 6.1 2.9
Potentiallv Hazardous 0.1 - 2.0 0.8
Constructi on/demol ition 0.0 - 7.7 1.8
Other 0.0 - 2.5 0.7
Bulk densiry (ke/m') 120 - 209 t64
Generation rate (kg/capita/day)

0.33 - 1.10 0.66

Based on the countries surveyed the overall waste generation rates varied from 0.33 to l.l0
kg/capita/day, with the highest rates being recorded for Apia, Nuku'alofa and Lautoka.
These generation rates are quite comparable with those reported for many other urban centers
around the world. However, of greater concern is the fact that they indicate significant
increases in generation rates reported previously for the region. For example, the data for
Apia shows a ll2Yo increase over measurements carried out in 1993. This increase has been
attributed partly to overall increases in prosperity and an increasing preference amongst
Pacific Islanders for imported foods and other consumer goods (Raj, 2000).
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The scale of waste generation - and limited funds to manage this - arises in part from the
absence of economic incentives on a number of fronts. Critically there is limited use in the
Pacific of economic instruments to:

l. Minimise the generation of waste at source so that PICTs can minimise the amount of
waste that needs to be recycled and discarded;

2. Maximise the amount of waste transferred to reuse or recycle schemes, thereby
minimising the volume of waste having to be sent to landfill etc.;

3. Efficiently and effectively manage residual waste disposal and storage.

Hospitals generate large amounts of waste that fall into different categories. Health-care
waste can also originate from other sources, such as emergency medical care services, clinics,
transfusion or dialysis centres, laboratories and blood banks. A large percentage of the waste
produced is non-risk or general health-care waste, which is comparable to domestic waste. It
comes mostly from the administrative and housekeeping functions of health-care
establishments and may also include waste generated during maintenance of health-care
premises. The remainder of the health-care waste is regarded as hazardous and may create a
variety of health risks and thus must be specially treated. A small portion of this hazardous
waste is of an infectious nature. Other types of waste include toxic chemicals, cytotoxic
drugs, and flammable and radioactive waste. PICTs, especially small atolls have difficulty
disposing such waste resulting in stockpiles posing threats to human health and the
environment. Therefore there is an urgent need to address this problem.

2.5.1 Segregation and Minimization of waste

Cunently very limited information about waste segregation and minimization at source is
available in the region and this is attributed to a number of reasons. In line with the goal and
objectives statements, solid waste management ideally should be 'self sustaining'.
Accordingly, the segregation and minimisation of waste would need to be nested within a
policy setting that support alternative methods and creates incentives while funding its
management. Unfortunately, the economic instruments and policies needed to generate these
incentives are limited in application in the Pacific. This is surprising given that, where they
have been used in the region (most commonly in the glass and can recycling arena), they
have frequently been successful and contributed to improved waste management funding.
The use of economic instruments (and the policy and institutional framework to support
them) is an opportunity that needs to be explored in the pacific.

An obvious technical option for waste minimisation in the Pacific is the use of composting,
mulching and other organic waste treatment activities to deal with the high proportion of
biodegradable, or green waste. Various forms of composting have been traditional to pacific
Island societies, where historically the only waste produced was biodegradable. Household
composting is being widely promoted throughout the region with varying degrees of success.
However much work remains to be done to establish this as the preferred approach for
organic waste management in the Pacific. Other options such as worrn farming have also
been developed but are yet to materialise.

t
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In addition to the limited application of the economic instruments and policies, the region in
general lacks the necessary infrastructure support such as transfer and cbllection stations, and
integrated communication strategies that promote and €ncourage wasre minimization
activities' These all contribute to the ineffective waste minimization activities at the national
level.

2.5.2 ll/aste recycling

Waste recycling is a long established practice where waste is converted back to reusable
material. In the PICTs this practice is limited only to a few waste materials, largely driven by
the economic value of the recycled material and other social and technical factors. These
materials include aluminium cans, glass bottles, scrap metal, certain plastics and paper

Insufficient funds within the waste management sector limit the development of necessary
infrastructure and resources for efficient recycling of waste. Accordingly, two major
technical obstacles to effective and efficient waste recycling in PICTs are-the lack of in-
country recycling and re-processing facilities, and the high cost of shipping recyclable
materials elsewhere due to the geographical isolation of many of the PICTs. These obstacles
are compounded by the absence of a regionally orientated or coordinated recycling
mecharism although some PICTs have successfully "exported" recyclable material to
recycling companies in Asia, Australia and New Zealand. The small iopulations of most
PICTs are another significant factor in that most conventional .."y"iing and processing
operations are only viable with a much larger population base. In addition, Ir"r. ur" a limited
number of PICTs with specific or integrated strategies that address waste minimisation
activities. The general principles however may be picked up quite effectively in a national
waste strategy.
Despite the above, there are a few types of individual waste that have been effectively
recycled in the PICTs and these activities are summarised in Appendix 2.

2.5.3 ll/aste Collection

Most PICTs have organized collection systems for the main urban areas though limited to the
rural areas. However, many of the collection systems are uncoordinated and-poorly operated
due to a number of reasons including:

r Limited availability of appropriate equipment for collection
. Lack of proper guidelines and supervision
o Limited trained and committed personnel to effectively and regularly collect the wasteo Limited availability of supporting infrastructure such as transfer stations
o General lack of awareness and education on the importance of waste segregation at

the household level and their collection

ln many PICTs, segregation of health care waste at source does occur with the general non-
risk waste collected as part of the municipal waste collection system while the hazardous
waste is treated by incineration at specially designed facilities usually managed by the health
authorities. The residual waste from the incineration process is either taken to the common
disposal facility or buried. However in some PICTs, health-care waste is not effectively
segregated into solid wastes and consequently all either end up in the incinerators or in the
disposal sites.
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2.5.4 Waste disposal

Most PICTs have designated disposal sites for household and municipal waste but most of
these sites are currently operating well below the standards recognized internationally as the
minimum requirements for sanitary landfills. (Sources for minimum requirements) The
availability of suitable land is a major limitation, especially on coral atolls, where disposal on
the edge of the reef or lagoon is usually the only available option. This is less of an issue in
the high island countries but even here the land is not well suited to waste disposal because of
the porous nature of the soils, and the high dependence in most countries on ground and
surface water supplies. Availability of suitable land is also a problem throughout the region
because of the customary approaches to land tenure, which places ownership in the hands of
individuals or tribal groups. In addition obtaining suitable land is also problematic due to
negative perceptions over past operations of solid waste disposal sites.

Some PICTs are implementing programmes to improve their disposal facilities by upgrading
existing one or closing sub-standard dumps and developing new improved facilities. For
example, the open dump at Tafaigata on Upolu Island in Samoa was successfully converted
and upgraded recently into a sanitary landfill using the semi-anaerobic system which is also
referred to as the Fukuoka method, while on Funafuti in Tuvalu, an AusAID project has
achieved the remediation of an old burrow pit and planning is underway for the development
of a new improved landfill site under an ADB project. h Fiji a European Union project
recently completed a new landfill facility at Naboro while CNMI now has a fully compliant
municipal solid waste landfill. Cook Islands recently commissioned their newly built landfill
and are in the process of closing down the old dump while Tonga is in the implementation
phase for the building of their sanitary landfill.

Despite these developments however, landfill disposal will remain as problematic for the
region, and real progress will only be made when PICTs begin to find ways of drastically
reducing their waste generation rates as well as diverting the generated waste to alternative
processes such as recycling and composting rather than landfilling them.

In many of the PICTs, waste management responsibilities are spread across multiple
agencies, in many cases overlapping each other's responsibilities. These generally create
confusion over who is responsible for what and results in the services being ineffective - the
coordination and enforcement mechanisms become very difficult to administer and/or look
after. In nearly all these cases, the individual national agencies simply administer their
components of the waste management system in isolation and do not generally coordinate
their work with other goverrlment agencies for the effective management of all aspects of
waste management operations. The need for a more coordinated approach for waste
management at all levels is essential and highly recommended.

One of the key problems in the matter of waste disposal in PICTs is the lack of economic
incentives for waste separation and landfilVdisposal management. The lack of demand and
supply management means that more waste goes to the waste stream than is absolutely
necessary and less finance is generated to manage that excessive waste load. Some countries
do apply some demand management tools to limit waste but they form a minimum and the
tools are used sparingly.

I
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2.6 ll/aste Industry

The waste industry in the Pacific region is very much in its infancy but is likely to develop in
the near future. With the involvement and participation of donori and the private sector, the
region is slowly developing the requisite infrastructure that is needed for such industries like
recycling of aluminium cans, glass bottles, lead from wet-cell batteries, certain plastics like
PET, paper etc. However, most of the PICTs in general lack the requisite legislation or the
incentive mechanisms to support an industry of this sort. The private sectir is also very
instrumental in putting in place the mechanisms that are needei to export the recyclabl!
materials to overseas markets. Like any national activity, building iegitimacy through
rulemaking supported by data is critical to establish the legal foundation needed to build a
sustainable waste management program.

In addition to the above, there is also limited specialised waste management companies or
personnel that can operate and administer the overall waste management systems in the
countries in an integrated manner. ln spite of this, there are some individual PICTs, and in
some cases sub-regional areas like the North-West Pacific, who have put in place coordinated
and planned activities that are progressing the work of waste management and recycling but
these efforts are generally conducted in collaboration with theirlocal private sector and,
partners overseas where an advanced waste industry does exist. These activities usually
involve local collection of the recyclable material, which are then packed into containers that
are shipped to the recycling partners overseas for recycling. Some of these activities are
outlined in Appendices I and 2.

The limited availability of the necessary infrastructure to support recycling of course reflects
in part the lack of an integrated waste management system that combines funding needs,
compliance and enforcement, with incentives to change behaviour. Some countries do make
use of integrated strategies (Kiribati's recent recycling bills is a good example) although
these countries are in a minimum and the integration is cunently only used to a limited
extent. More use could be made of economic incentives to recycle.

In the case of waste oil, there have been instances where the waste oil from some countries in
the region have been successfully transported to another country in the region where they are
used locally as a supplementary fuel in power stations, and until r""enily, some countries
were sending their waste oil to Fiji for use as a supplementary fuel in a steel mill. French
Polynesia has recently started to ship waste oil to New Zealand. There are high costs
involved in shipping waste oil to other countries for disposal, consequently otheioptions
should be investigated. PICTs should be encouraged to put in place arrangements for
transportation, storage and disposal of such waste. Another current limitation in general is
the limited awareness of the oil-recovery services and any organized in-country iollection
systems. Some countries are considering introducing a system of import levies to pay for the
cost of shipping and disposal.
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2.7 Funding requirements and mechanisms

ln line with the goal and objective statements, waste management in the Pacific should
ideally be self-sustaining both economically and financially. However, waste management is
a costly affair. It involves the funding of:

o Physical waste management - collection of waste, conversion of waste (recovery,
reuse, recycling) and ultimately, disposal of waste and its oversight;

o Institutional waste management - establishment and implementation of rules and
processes by which to manage waste - creation and enforcement of legislation,
monitoring, coordination by different agencies, education and so on.

There have been recent moves to introduce systems in the Pacific that enable governments to
better fund certain types of waster management. In Kiribati, for example, the national
govemment has recently introduced new legislation to impose tariffs on the import of
containers for soft drinks and used lead acid batteries. The revenue raised is intended to
financially maintain recycling systems while at the same time acting as a deterrent or
disincentive for the demand of plastic packaging. Similarly there have been a number of
moves to enable local communities to better manage their own waste. For instance, the IWP
at SPREP works in a number of countries to establish processes for local communities to
learn to minimise waste through composting.

Despite these efforts, most solid waste initiatives in the PICTs are substantially assisted by
donors. This is particularly in the case of the establishment of large infrastructwe projects by
landfill construction. However, this reliance on overseas funding is not reliable in the long
term as it hinges on the continued support and interest of donors.

On the other hand, it is difficult for many PICTs to fund their own waste management
initiatives, due to budget shortfalls, particularly in order to finance major solid waste
construction projects. The establishment and operation of waste collection services, for
instance, requires funding that is limited in the goverrrment. However, users are frequently
reluctant to pay for services that have hitherto be provided for free. Altematively, where
waste management services are poor, many governments face a 'catch 22' situation where
consumers (firms and residents) despair of poor collection services and refuse to pay more for
improvements while goverrrments cannot improve systems without more money.

2.8 Summary and overview

The key aspects of the information provided in the preceding sections are summarised in
Figure 2.1 below. This shows the actual and potential impacts from waste generation and
disposal activities within the Pacific Islands region, and the three key contributing issues of:

l. lncreasing waste generation rates,
2. Inadequate waste management policies, regulations and administrative systems, and
3. lnadequate or ineffective waste collection, minimisation and disposal systems.
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It should be apparent from the information provided in section 2.6 that while some pICTs
have made significant progress, most have a lot of work to do before they can fully address
these issues and the concomitant direct and indirect effects.

Figure 2.1: Overview of SWM Issues in PICTs
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Recommended Woste Monogement Strategy

3.1 Waste Management Model

A national waste management plan should be developed from and be consistent with the
national development plan. The possible components of a national waste management
programme are summarised in Figure 3.1 below. As shown, the starting point is a national
development plan out of which the national waste management policy is developed, which in
turn is supported by relevant laws and regulations. The policy should then be implemented
through an appropriate management system. Depending on the policy, supported by
appropriate legislation, implementation will include waste segregation and minimization
activities, collection and disposal, planning and performance monitoring, impact monitoring
programmes, and cross cutting issues such as funding mechanisms, integrated communication
and capacify building. In all the components cross cutting issues should be considered and
incorporated where appropriate.

The detailed requirements for each component of the proposed model are discussed below.

Figure 3.1: Waste Management Model
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3.2 Cross-cutting lsszes

3.2.1 Economic Issnes

As was seen in the previous chapter, the lack of use of economic instruments to create
incentives for personal and corporate responsibility in waste is a weakness in the Pacific that
could be exploited to our benefit. Generally, there are substantial benef,rts to be made from
the wider introduction of economic tools (support by policies and institutions) that:

o Create incentives for consumers to minimise their purchases of waste generating
products, while creating incentives to reuse and recycle and minimise the amount of
waste they send for disposal (landfill, incineration etc.);

r Create incentives for producers and importers to take more responsibility in the
production and importation of goods so that they minimize the amount of waste they
generate and import, and more actively manage and recycle waste generated.

As will be indicated below, the wider application of economic instruments cannot only
minimise waste but can be used to increase the financial sustainability of waste management.

At the same time, greater use of economic information - including the selective use of
economic valuations - may assist PICTs to increase their understanding of how integral
waste management is to a healthy economy.

3.2.2 Integrated communications

Communications can play an important role in supporting the development and
implementation of shategic objectives of national strategies. An integrated communications
strategy within a national strategy, and regional initiatives can highlight the appropriate
communication tools to be used to reach the various stakeholders/audiences.

Around the region a number of countries have shown that communications can be an
effective way to help individuals, communities and businesses to reduce their waste. For
example, the Kaoki Maange work in Kiribati and the awareness raising work in Samoa are
having the desired effect on what they would like to achieve. However, these
communications programmes are only successful when part of a broader strategy that
incorporates other elements of waste management such as new public services, new policies,
and economic incentives.

ln order to achieve the objectives of the regional SWM strategy, PICTs in collaboration with
SPREP advocates the use of a simple seven-stage approach to communications.

i. Clarify goals and objeaives

Before undertaking any communications activities, it is crucial that the national strategies
present clear and quantifiable goals and objectives. For example, reducing the level of
organic waste going to landfill by 50% before September 2009.In order to encourage people
to adopt specifrc waste reduction behaviours, the national strategies must provide very clear
information on what will be achieved, within a certain timeframe.
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ii. Raise awareness of the problem

Raising awareness about waste issues is a very important goal. Target audiences may be
unclear about exactly what the problem is. They may lack the information or the personal
motivation they need to change the way they currently manage their waste. Raising
awareness will strengthen support of the national strategies, and constitutes an important part
of a broader communications strategy.

iii. Focus on specitic behaviour(s)

Communications can play a very important role in clearly highlighting the link between
individual behaviours and accumulative impacts. It promotes the benefits of certain actions,
and acts as a prompt for other people to adopt behaviours.

iv. Understand your audience

To be effective, communications activities must be designed around the needs of the
stakeholders or target audiences. Individuals, communities, businesses and organizations
must understand the role that they can play in supporting the objectives of the national
strategies. Communications activities need to be tailored to ensure that the appropriate
messages reach the appropriate target audience. The communication strategy must determine
the most appropriate communications tools and activities to meet the specific needs of each
audience.

v. Use appropriale communications tools

There are numerous contmunication tools that can support the goals and objectives of the
national strategies. These include, regular newsletters or briefings (government), innovative
and creative use of mass media e.g. radio, television, newspaper etc, forums or briefings
(private sector), community based programmes that look at long{erm behaviour change
(communities). Strategies should highlight the communication goals and objectives, the
capacity of PICTs to undertake the communication process, the target audience and ensure
the appropriate communication tools to be employed are accessible and appropriate to
communities.

Target Aadience: Government/key agencies

Communications can ensure that key agencies are consulted and kept informed in the
development of national strategies. This can provide invaluable support at an early stage by
fostering a sense of ownership and encouraging continued participation through to the
implementation phase. Regular newsletters or updates to key stakeholders provide useful
information about the national strategies. Radio programmes or media releases to regional
and intemational media highlight best practices to other countries, while promoting the
progress of the implementation of national strategies.
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Target Audience: Private sector

Communications can play an integral role in informing people and maintaining interest in the
development and implementation of national strategies. Partnerships benveen goverrrmenr
agencies and the private sector can be used as promotional opportunities in the media. In
many of the major initiatives that require changes at the national level, the private sector
should be engaged in the development process of the national strategies so as to have greater
participation from them before any implementation can occur.

Target Audie n ce : C o m m u n ities

Communications can engage people in the development and the implementation of national
strategies. Public meetings or workshops involve communities in planning processes,
encourage a sense of partnership and ownership that fosters a commitment to adopt
introduced policies. Existing community structures could also be used to involve people in
communication processes. Formal education teaches children about sustainable iiuing
practices that can have a flow on effect into families and communities, Social marketing
programmes can be developed to encourage people to adopt behaviours to reduce waste.
NGOs can implement elements of the national strategies by undertaking activities such as
paper recycling activities that involve local women's grcups. Awareness and promotional
activities inform communities about new waste disposal services, policies and any proposed
financial costs. Articles in local newspapers, television, or on the radio can aiso-be a
significant factor in creating or reinforcing the political will for future developments.

vi. Find ways to measure your success

Set realistic objectives and measurable targets that can highlight to the stakeholders the
effectiveness of the national strategies and establish mechanisms for feedback on progress to
continue to motivate people.

vil Funding

To ensure long-term behaviour change, funding for communications needs to be factored into
national strategies.

3.2.3 CapacityBuilding

Waste management programmes require input from a wide range of skilled personnel,
including environmental educators, managers, engineers, landfill operators, enviionmental
management and public health specialists, planners and policymakers. Some of these skills
are already available in PICTs, but others will need to be developed, or obtained through
technical assistance programmes. This latter approach has been commonly used in the pait.
However, for long-term sustainability, it is preferable that the expertise be available in-
country, or on a regional basis at least. This can be attained by the incorporation of the
relevant technical solid waste management training programs through existing training
institutions around the region and offering them as part of an academic progranune or as a
short course. These components could be developed collaboratively with institutions
including but not limited to the United Nations University GII{LD, University of Guam
(UOG), University of Papua New Guinea (UPNG), and University of the South Pacific
(usP).
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In addition to the human resource requirements, adequate institutional and systemic
capacities must also be in place for waste management programmes to be effectively
functioning. Capacity building programmes that are developed for waste management
activities should by as integrated as possible due to the importance of the roles that the
different components play and this include the strengthening of institutional and systemic
capacities as well as the human resource capacities.

There are numerous aspects to the individual capacity building programmes, including
ensuring a supply of people with appropriate qualifications and experience, on-the-job
training to develop appropriate work practices and skills, and continuing education
programmes to ensure that staff remain up to date with developments in their chosen field.
Most of these will be achieved through formal training prograrnmes. However, it is
important to recognise the value of informal mechanisms as well, such as mentoring,
attendance at conferences, continuing contact with other professionals working in the same
and related areas, such as the SPREP Waste lnformation Network (Activity B5). Other
relevant sources may include technical joumals.

Capacity building requirements should be considered and addressed in the development of
any waste management programmes. One of the ways to achieving effective, efficient and
sustainable solid waste management in a country is to:

L Identify national and regional benchmarks guided by international standards to
measure capacity against,

2. Assess for capacity gaps that exist,
3. Determine their root causes and
4. Identify ways to establishing or strengthening capacities.

Essentially an initial needs assessment should be carried out, and programmes designed to
address and monitor these needs, along with the provision of appropriate funding.

For SWM this can be a complex and challenging task given the social, economic and
environmental considerations that need to be taken into account. However difficult this may
seem, there will always be the potential for wastage of scarce resources and further
realization of wider negative impacts if attempts to build capacity for solid waste
management are not preceded by an assessment of what the capacity constraints are, their
root causes and a valid assessment of options for addressing the constraints.

3.3 Policy and legislation

PICTs need to review and develop sound and appropriate policies on SWM that can be
translated into legislation. PICTs need a regulatory framework that promotes compliance
because the small size of their administrations mean that enforcement capability is limited
and therefore needs to be focussed. ln order to have effective compliance there needs to be a
consultative process to allow for industry, goverrrmenVmunicipal agencies, intergovernmental
organisations, universities, NGOs, traditional leaders and community participation in the
development stages of legislation. While advocating compliance, legislation needs to
empower the authorized regulatory institutions enforcement powers to impose appropriate
penalties on those who do not comply to serve as a deterrent.
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Regulatory instruments should be consistent with relevant regional and international
multilateral environmental agreements (MEAs) and best management practices where
practicable but also consider the situation in PICTs such as the availability of equipment,
protocols, qualified personnel and access to laboratories. If these are not readily available
then other enforcement provisions must be considered and written into the legislation. The
authorized regulatory institutions should be empowered to impose fines and to deal with the
matter using such other altemative dispute resolution mechanisms and using the court as the
last resort.

3.4 Waste minimisation, segregation and recycling

Waste disposal will in the short to medium term continue to be problematic for PICTs
because of the limited provision of an appropriate waste management system due in part to
the following:

o Limited availability of appropriate and suitable disposal sites and associated costs
o Limited availabilityof land
o Limited skilled personnel

For these reasons, waste minimisation should be a primary focus of any national strategy.
Significant reductions in the quantities of waste that need to be disposed will have
corresponding benefits in reducing the costs of disposal, and the continuing need for
development of new disposal facilities. Effective waste management, including waste
minimization and segregation at the source, is essential, however, proper infrastructure must
be in place in order to achieve desired objectives.

There is an established hierarchy for waste management, which has a preferred option of
avoiding waste and a least preferred option of disposal.

AVOIDANCE

REDUCTION

RE-USE
Decrease in preference

RECYCLING

RECOVERY

DISPOSAL

Waste minimisation progrirmmes are typically based around this hierarchy and are usually
referred to as the 4 "R's" of waste management; i.e. reduce, re-use, recycle, recover. These
refer to the following activities:

Reduce: reduction of waste at the source by for example, the purchase and use of bulk
goods rather than those with a high packaging content;

Reuse: repeated use of a product in the same, similar or different ways, for example the
reuse ofglass drink bottles and used tyres;
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Recover: refers to the use of waste materials so as to recover some residual value, for
example the use of waste oil as a supplementary fuel, and composting of green
waste

Recycle: this is done with materials such as aluminium cans, lead from wet-cell batteries,
cupboards and paper and glass, which can be reprocessed, back to their original
form;

There are many practical barriers to effective waste minimisation programmes in PICTs.
However, these are not insurmountable, and a key aspect of any national strategy should be
activities directed at identifuing opportunities for waste minimisation, barriers to
implementation, and ways of overcoming these barriers.

There are various mechanisms that could be employed in the Pacific to support the
development and implementation of recycling schemes. This could include incentives, such
as container deposit schemes, social marketing programmes (that look at the barriers and
opportunities of recycling), and schools based recycling programme.

Strategies to support waste minimisation, segregation and recycling throughout the Pacific
will almost certainly require the wider introduction of economic instruments that increase
personal and corporate responsibility for waste generation and thereby reduce waste
generation. ln so doing, economic instruments, supported by the appropriate institutional
activities and infrastructure, will be critical to integrate waste management with financing
and funding mechanisms to ensure the continued feasibility of waste management services.

The recent Kiribati initiative is a good example of the kind of integrated economic strategy
that can reduce waste, increase recycling and increase funding. In this case new tariffs on the
import of containers for soft drinks increases the ability of the goveffrment to financially
maintain recycling systems while at the same time acting as a deterrent or disincentive for the
demand of plastic packaging.

3.5 Waste Management

ln many PICTs, the responsibility for administering and coordinating waste management
activities is spread over several government agencies and at times causes confusion over who
is responsible for what. There is a need for a designated government lead agency and a better
coordinated approach to manage all waste management activities in the countries so as to
minimise the conflicting responsibilities that currently exists.

3.5.1 \Vaste Collection

Waste collection together with waste disposal are the components most demanding of
resources, especially finance, and therefore the components that requires the most intensive
assessment of funding requirements and financial mechanisms. There are nurnerous
examples around the region of collection and disposal services that fall short of the desired
performance levels, because of:

1. lnadequate funding,
2. Limited trained and skilled personnel,
3. Inadequate regulations and management, and
4. Limited infrastructure support.
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There are two key funding components to consider; the initial capital investment, and the on-
going costs for operation and maintenance. The latter is just as important as the former,
because without continuing support, the value of the initial investment will simply be lost.

Waste collection systems should be designed to provide a regular collection service from
residential, commercial and industrial areas, including rubbislibins placed in public areas.
There are numerous guidelines available on the design and operation of collection services in
developing countries, However, in general terms, the basic requirements are for the use of
inexpensive waste bins or bags of a manageable size (eg. 4O-gallon [or 200L] drums are too
large), protection against scavenging by animals through the use of stands or cages, and
collection in accordance with a regular prografirme using appropriately sized trucks (i.e. large
enough to handle the waste volumes but not too large or heavy for the roads). The use of
modem compactor vehicles should not be considered until there is a clear need for the
efficiency improvements that these can bring, and also only after it has been shown that the
costs of operation and maintenance can be met through the funding for the collection service.

On this score, it will be critical for PICTs to integrate waste collection and disposal services
of all kinds including govemment and privately operated services, to funding systems in
order to be sustainable in the long term. Depending on the country or item under
consideration, integration of funding (see also section 3.7) may include the use of user charge
for improved waste systems. Although these may be unpalatable in the short term, they will
be essential if governments are to have the funds to establish, support and maintain the waste
collection and removal service they desperately need. ln so 

-dong, 
they can provide an

opportunity to restore public faith in government removal service and speed the ilean up of
our countries while reducing reliance on overseas aid.

3.5.2 llaste disposal

Waste disposal by burial in a landfill is currently the prefened method in most pICTs, and
will likely remain so for the immediate future Other options such as incineration or waste
digestion may be appropriate in some situations (such as the treatment of hospital waste and
other putrescible waste) but will need careful evaluation on a case-by-case basis, so will not
be considered here.

One of the most fundamental requirements is for the identification and use of suitable
disposal sites using established siting criteria, which allow for efficiencies in collection and
transport, while at the same time minimising the potential for adverse off-site effects. The
site should be designed and engineered, at a minimum, to allow for the efficient movernent of
vehicles, the control of surface water run-off, ground water protection and an acceptable
control of leachate, and possibly landfill gas. These requirements should be clearly ouhined
in the planning phase of construction of the disposal facility, which should also include the
undertaking of an environmental impact study (EIS). The information obtained from such
studies should form the basis of the monitoring programme of the disposal facility during
both the operation and port-operation periods. Furthermore these need to be in line with
relevant national guidelines and regulations.
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Operational procedures should address the requirements for controlled placement,
compaction and regular covering of the wastes, monitoring and recording of waste quantities,
and general site maintenance. There should be provision for staff facilities, site security and
equipment maintenance. A range of appropriate heavy machineries and equipments are

needed for efficient landfill operations, including but not limited to bulldozers, excavators,
compactors and weighing bridges. However, it is often not realistic for these to be provided
on a full-time dedicated basis. This aspect must be given careful consideration during the
design phase for a new landfill facility, to ensure that an appropriate level of service can be
provided, and that the costs of the service will be fully funded.

Mention should also be made here of the recently-completed JICA/SPREP landfill
development programme in Samoa, using the Fukuoka method or the semi-aerobic system,
which was aimed to demonstrate ways in which the design and operation of existing landfill
facilities can be gradually improved over time. An identical programme for the upgrading of
the M-Dock dump is currently being planned for implementation in Palau. This should be a

much more cost effective approach than development of a new landfill, and is likely to be a
more sustainable strategy for the provision of effective waste disposal systems in PICTs. The
design and operational requirements for the landfill are exactly the same as those noted
above. However, they are only gradually put in place through a process of incremental
improvement, in accordance with available funding and demonstrated needs. This design is
not applicable to atoll countries and territories and there is a specific need of disposal systems
to suit them.

There is also a need for the provision of special purpose disposal systems for dealing with
those wastes that are not suitable for disposal by landfill, for exarnple some hazardous wastes.
The most common example of these is health-care wastes, which are generally being dealt
with by incineration. This is an appropriate approach for the Pacific islands region, although
many existing facilities fall well short of the minimum operating standards recommended by
agencies such as WHO. Consideration also needs to be given to the use of new emerging
technologies, such as steam sterilisation, which have the potential for providing alternative
methods for effectively dealing with these wastes. Special facilities may also be required for
dealing with other hazardous waste streams. However the need for these should be assessed
on a case-by-case basis, including the potential for shipping to specialized facilities that may
already be available inside and outside the region.

.t.5.3 Planning and Performance Monitoring

Planning and performance monitoring are essential components of most government
activities, and waste management is no exception. There is a need for regular collection of
information on waste generation and disposal rates, and for this to be linked with information
on changes in population, economic growth and development, including tourism, and any
other factors with the potential to impact on waste generation rates. This information will
provide a basis for planning of future waste management needs, such as the development of
new landfill facilities and other supporting infrastructure. It should also provide useful input
to the assessment of other development proposals, such as new tourist facilities. Perhaps one
of the key points to stress here is the need for clear and effective linkages between the
government agencies involved with waste management and those with a more central
planning role.



I 6SlWOfficials/lVP.T.2 .2/ Att.l
Page 35

The procedures for collecting and recording waste information are well developed and
established at the international level, and include estimates of total waste volumes delivered
to the landfill, and regular surveys of the composition of these wastes. This information
should be made available to PICTs and be used for evaluating the effectiveness of other
components of the waste management programme. For example, an effective waste
minimisation programme should be reflected in overall reductions in waste quantities and
changes in waste composition.

3.5.4 Impact Monitoring

The most direct effect of improperly managed wastes is environmental contamination.
However, there are numerous other direct and indirect effects as well, many of which are
important aspects of national development such as public health, tourism, water and food
security. The economic impact of improper waste management can also be significant
through wasted resources and disposal cost.

Waste disposal facilities have the potential to cause significant adverse effects on the
surrounding environment, and it is therefore important that these be properly managed and
controlled. Environmental monitoring is a key component of this control system and should
be fully integrated into the design of any new disposal facilities. It should also be undertaken
for existing disposal sites, so as to assess the effects of past activities, the need for remedial
actions, and possible future impacts as well.

lmpact monitoring of waste disposal sites need not be very expensive. There are a few
essential parameters, such as biological and chemical oxygen demand (BOD and COD), pH,
conductivity, and a range of trace elements, which can provide basic information about
impacts on water quality. These analyses should normally be available through existing
laboratories in most PICTs, such as the water supply authorities. More sophisticated
analytical services may need to be obtained from overseas laboratories, but these should only
be required in the case of special investigations, such as responding to concerns over the
presence of specific toxic chemicals at a dump or disposal site. PICTs that do not have the
institutional and human resources capacity to test these parameters should establish a long-
term plan to address these needs while at the same time make interim arrangements to have
these parameters analyzed by an appropriately accredited laboratory in the region.

3.6 Waste Industry

As mentioned earlier, the waste industry in the Pacific region is in its infancy and as such,
efforts to build this industry should be focussed initially on setting up the local reuse and
"recycling" activities such as putting in place collection and processing mechanisms for the
recyclable materials. The involvement of the local private and business sectors is essential
and must be encouraged.

Strategies to support the development of a waste industry throughout the PICTs will require
the wider introduction of institutional and economic instruments that make it conducive for
the relevant stakeholder to participate. In so doing, these economic instruments, supported by
the appropriate institutional activities and infrastructure, will be critical to making sure that
this industry develops into a viable economic and financial one.
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Other activities that would progress the development of the waste industry in the region
should include development of partnerships between governments and recycling companies
or individuals in countries where the recycling waste industry is more advanced and
sophisticated. These partnerships should be able to facilitate for the smooth transportation or
trans-boundary movement of the recyclable materials from collection points in-country to the
recycling companies overseas.

3.7 Funding requirements and mechanisms

ln line with the goals and objective statements, the objective of this Strategy is to target a
management system that is economically and financially sound. To do this, there is a need to
introduce institutional change to secure funding. Funding must be strategically integrated into
all facets of the waste management systems established from those initiatives used to
minimise the generation of waste at source, through to those initiatives used to manage the
disposal of waste that cannot be reused or recycled.

However socially unpopular it might appear, there is a need for PICTs to introduce some
form of charging system to recoup waste management costs if they are to reduce their current
financial reliance on overseas aid and avoid the failure of domestic waste management.

A well-designed charging system can have positive effects in reducing the amount of waste
generated by producers, importers and consumers in the long run. For instance, increases in
the cost of waste collection and disposal can create financial incentives for consumers to
avoid charges by reducing the amount of waste they put out for collection. These can, when
accompanied by appropriate education, legislation and marketing, provide incentives to
recycle glass, plastic or paper waste or compost green waste. In the longer term, such
mechanisms can also create incentives for consumers to reconsider the purchase of items that
produce waste. For instance, tariffs on imported plastic bottles raise the cost of bottles to
consumers, which can reduce the demand for the good. Lower demand for bottles acts as a
signal for producers to reduce their production level to meet alternative demand. The
combined result can be a reduction in the import of waste to a country.

Well-designed funding mechanisms may alternatively create financial rewards for consumers
and producers to reduce or recycle waste and reduce the level of waste to be disposed in
landfill. For instance, some local bottlers in the Pacific (such as Samoa Breweries Ltd)
already encourage bottle recycling by offering refund for bottles returned to the bottler. The
value of the deposit is covered in the price of the bottle of beer. These incentives to
encourage waste minimisation and recycling enable greater cost recovery in beers and soft
drink bottle waste management.

Realistically, the introduction of any new user charges is likely to be a medium term activity
and full cost recovery on any large scale is probably unachievable. (Even many developed
country waste management programs operate at a loss.) Nevertheless:

o The groundwork to prepare for even partial funding systems can be established early
on. For instance, it may be possible for govemments to calculate waste management
costs for different services and identify those areas where service charges have been
accepted, and how; and
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I Elements of cost recovery might be applicable at a limited level. Already, private
waste removal systems, for instance, in Tonga and Fiji, are being introduced on a
small scale in the region. More importantly, it may be possible to introduce some
elements of cost recovery or financing to certain waste sectors. For instance, the soft
drink container legislation in Kiribati enables a greater level of financial sustainability
in the recycling and disposal of soft drink containers. This approach may be more
favourable to industry and consumers than the outright ban of certain types of
materials while offering the advantage of increasing waste revenue at the same time.

A key aspect of funding will be the extent to which govemment and the private sector
(households and industry) share the costs of waste management to ensure financial feasibility.
Given the public problems associated with waste (use of scarce private land for landfiit,
generation of disease vectors etc), there may be a case for continued public (govemment)
support in establishing waste management systems. Donors should continui to play a
supporting role here in the wider public interest. However, specific stakeholder groups may
be expected to contribute to the cost of waste management that specifically benefiti them.
Examples might include the introduction of economic and tax incentives for stakeholders
(including the govemment and industry) to recycle waste as well as user charges for
household collection and disposal of waste and charges to government and industry agencies
for waste management.

Economic tools for waste management (demand and supply management tools) should be
considered as a way to integrate waste reduction and recycling efforts to financing. Some
countries may also want to consider assigning revenues for waste management toipecific
waste management activities although this is often diffrcult to manage administratively.

The introduction of better funding strategies will result in a number of positive outcomes
including but not limited to:

o Reduced reliance on both domestic funds and overseas aid in the short term - or the
improved ability to focus overseas aid on other aspects of development need;

o lncreased public faith in domestic waste management. For instance, a better funded
waste collection system is less likely to break down (avoiding the 'catch 22' situation
where consumers (Frrms and residents) refuse to pay for improved waste collection
services because they are unreliable while goverrrments cannot improve systems
without the money); and

o A more sustainable waste management system in the long term.

lmproved information about waste management will be needed to support improved funding
of waste management in the Pacific. Information will be needed on the benefits of waste
management and customer willingness to pay for services. There will therefore be a role for
economic analysis to underpin funding as a result.

I
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Proposed Woste Monogement Activities

4.1 Ovewiew

There is a clear need for development efforts in most PICTs in all of the components of the
waste management model discussed in the preceding sections. Obviously it wiil not be
possible to address all the issues immediately, and therefore a well-organized plan, and
coordinated approach is required. It is proposed that in the first instance priority be given to
three specific areas as follows:

o Key institutional aspects, including policy development and planning, information
exchange, and public education and awareness.

. Improvement and upgrading of existing waste disposal systems
o Development and/or enhancement of waste minimisation activities such as recycling,

so as to reduce the quantities of wastes being disposed

The proposed activities are intended to assist PICTs in moving towards the development of
effective waste management systems within their countries, and in accordance with their
specific needs. The programme should be implemented over a period of ten or more years, in
recognition of the fact that many of the required changes, whether individual, institutional or
systemic, will only be achieved through gradual improvements over long periods of time. In
addition, emphasis should be given to the development of activities embodying some of the
key requirements for sustainability, including the use of appropriate technologies and
management systems, and with a strong focus on self-help and in-country capacity building.

lnformation on the proposed activities is summarised below, while more detailed descriptions
are presented in Appendix 3. The activities are presented on the basis of the different waste
management programme components referred to in chapters 2 and 3, rather than in any
priority order. The question of priorities is discussed in section 4.8 along with some
suggested timelines.

The proposed programme contains many connected components and will involve a wide
range of stakeholders. There is a clear need for some mechanism to ensure that the activities
are implemented in a coordinated and efficient way.

4.2 Cross-cutting Isszes

4.2.1 Public Education and Awareness

Public education and awareness activities are a prerequisite and vital component of any
national waste management programme. However, the implementation of these activities
would be given an initial boost by participation in the Year of Action Against Waste.
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Activity A1: Pacific Regional Year of Action Against l(aste

The Year of Action Against Waste campaign is based around a range of national activities
within each PICT, with SPREP serving a regional facilitation and coordination role.
Governments have been encouraged to support the campaign through appointment of
National Coordinators/Contact Points, and NZAID has supported this initiative by funding a
preparatory workshop for these people in collaboration with SPREP. Additional funds have
been secured for other regional initiatives to promote the campaign, while most national
activities could possibly be and are funded by govemments and through local sponsorship
arTangements.

Activity A2: Integrated Communication Program mes

Significant changes in community attitudes and behaviours towards waste generation and
disposal will generally only be achieved over long periods of time. This process should be
assisted through on-going integrated communication programmes. These should be designed
and implemented within each PICT in accordance with national goals and activities.
However consideration should also be given to some form of regional support for the
programmes through SPREP and other relevant CROP agencies. This work should build on
the materials already produced under the SPREP/EU WASTE project, and materials
produced in support of the Year of Action Against Waste.

Special effort should be added to ensure that sufficient awareness and information is made
available to the public and specific stakeholder groups on planned or scheduled changes to
legislation, institutions or management tools. This will be particularly important for the
introduction of any economic and financial tools, including charge and incentives for waste
reduction (minimisation at source and recycling) or disposal.

4.2.2 CapacityBuilding

There are many requirements for capacity building activities in PICTs in support of waste
management and other prograrnmes. However, many of these are quite generic in nature, and
best addressed under much broader capacity building programmes. The activities proposed
below are those with a specific focus on waste management programmes.

Activity BI: Annual Training Course in Municipal Waste Management

This is an existing activity, which earlier this year, completed its five-year cycle under the
Japan Miyuzaki Initiative. The course extended over a four-week period, with the venue
altemating between Okinawa and Apia, and about 10 to 15 participants each year drawn from
the Pacific Island Forum countries. The course will not be continued after 2005, however
further training will need to be based on country priority needs and likely implemented at the
national or sub-regional level. It is intended that information developed from the JICA course
be extended through distribution of a course video, and maintenance of the information
network described under Activity 86.
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Activity 82: Training for Atoll Countries and Territories

It is widely recognized that the waste management issues and requirements of the atoll
settings are distinctly different and in many cases are more challenging that the high island
counterparts. The very limited availability of land is a major issue when it comes to
designing programmes that deal with waste disposal. This activity would allow for atoll-
specific training to be put in place to train personnel in all components of the national waste
management programmes including policy makers to waste disposal facility workers.

Activity ^BJ.'lssessment of National Capacities in |l/aste Management

This activity should be carried out by each PICT in conjunction with Activities 84, HI and
H3. Most of the work should be carried out internally, but could also benefit from external
assistance from an organisation such as SPREP. Links should also be made with the Pacific
Type II Capacity Building lnitiative, which was announced at the WSSD meeting in
Johannesburg, and with current UNDP activities in this area as well. The assessment should
be carried out within the frst year or two of implementation of the waste management
programme, and then revisited every three to five years.

Activity 84: National Capacity Building Aaivities

This activity follows on from Activity 83, and is intended to implement the findings of the
assessment. This work should be done as a national initiative with assistance from external
sources as necessary. Capacity Building activities should include a focus on skill building for
institutional and systemic management including the skills to develop sound and appropriate
policies and integrated strategic management of waste that incorporates funding and incentive
for waste control.

Activity 85: Country Attachments

There is a country attachment scheme managed by SPREP, which aims to boost national
capacities by supporting country-to-country attachments between Pacific island countries.
Activities of this sort should provide an excellent vehicle for capitalising on some of the work
being done under other parts of the waste programme, such as the landfill demonstration
project in Samoa. There is the potential for waste management personnel to be included in
the current project, but consideration should also be given to obtaining additional funds to
allow a continuation of the programme beyond its current timeframe and scope (to broaden
the skills base).

Activity 86: Maintenance of a Waste Information Network

This activity would aim to enhance the existing skills and knowledge of waste management
personnel through participation in a regional information network. Participants from the
Municipal Waste Training Courses (Activity BI) are already nominal participants in this
network, but the operation of the nefwork needs to be boosted through regular input from a
moderator, and extension to other practitioners. [t is envisaged that the moderator activities
should be provided by SPREP, as part of its coordination mechanism and needs to cover a
wider range of stakeholders at the national level.
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4.3 Policy and legislation

It is important to recognize the difference in the administrative systems that are practised in
the Pacihc region when drafting model legislation - some PICTs use predominantly US
systems while others use the British or French system. Some of the general or common
activities that can be included under this area are:

o Looking at using and enforcing regulations and codes of practice
o Mechanisms for getting stakeholder participation and buy in to policy and legislation

(adopting compliance approach)
o Enforcement powers vested in regulatory authorities to minimize cases brought to

court i.e. -power to issue improvement notice, power to issue stop work until
improvement made, power to close a site.

Another general activity that should be undertaken should be targeted at the development of a
region-wide Toolkit for Regulatory procedures :

o Techniques for stakeholder consultation to set compliance standards, codes of practice
etc.

o Monitoring and sampling techniques and equipment
o Evidence collection techniques and equipment
r Prosecution procedures and techniques for providing evidence to courts

Activity CI: Review of Laws and Regulations

Existing laws and regulations should be reviewed to ensure that departments have the
necessary mandate to carry out their designated duties within the national strategy. The
review should also consider the existence of, or need for, enforcement powers, as well as
methods for implementing the possible funding mechanisms considered under Activity Kl
below. This review should be carried out in parallel with Activities KI and 84. lt should be
possible for this work to be carried out using existing resources within each PICT, although
external assistance may be required for the drafting of new legislation if this is considerld
necessary.

4,4 Waste minimisation, segregation and recycling

Waste minimisation activities should be a major component of most PICT waste management
programmes, because these can achieve significant reductions in future disposal requirements
and therefore costs. The main emphasis of the activities proposed below is on enhancing and
extending existing recycling activities, and identiffing new ways of dealing with other more
diflicult wastes.

Activity DI: Development of National |vaste Minimisation Strategies

This activity should be done in parallel to, but separately from the work on a national strategy
and should involve a review of opportunities to minimize waste at source from the
introduction of economic and other incentives. It should be linked to activities under Kl and
K2. The strategy should lay out a framework for implementation of some or all of the other
minimisation activities listed below.
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Activity D2: Development of National ll/aste Recycling Strategies

lnformation will be required on quantities of recyclable material currently being produced
(see Activity H2), cunent recycling activities, and potential markets for recyclable goods, and
an assessment of other opportunities for waste minimisation. The strategy should then lay
out a framework for implementation of some or all of the other minimisation activities listed
below. Most PICTs will require technical assistance to carry out the necessary assessment
work. This strategy must also include a comprehensive communication strategy, highlighting
how these activities will be promoted to the target audiences.

Activity D3: Enhancentent of Existing Recycling Programmes

There are numerous recycling activities currently operating in the region, especially for
aluminium cans, PET bottles, scrap metal and to a lesser extent, paper and batteries. Many of
these operations are being carried out by NGOs or the private sector, but most are only
marginally viable. Most of these operations would benefit from external technical assistance
directed at upgrading of equipment, implementation of more effective business practices,
regulations and promotional activities to improve participation rates. One possible approach
is that used in the Cook [slands, with NZAID support. This involved the establishment of a
recycling programme with technical assistance from an experienced New Zealand operator.

Activity D4: Assessment and Demonstration of New Recycling Methods

Conventional recycling programmes for materials such as paper, tyres, plastics and glass
require collection and transport of the materials to large scale processing facilities, often in
other countries. This is not a viable proposition for most PICTs, mainly because of the low
waste volumes coupled with high shipping costs. There is a need for development of
alternative recycling methods for these wastes, which are suitable for small-scale, local use.
This could include small scale paper recycling, manufacture of plastic lumber, and the use of
crushed glass in construction materials or ceramics. These are all established technologies,
but there is a need for demonstration and assessment of their application within PICTs,
through technical assistance programmes.

Activity D5: Promotion of Community Composting Aaivities

Community composting programmes have been demonstrated successfully in several PICTs,
and this work should now be extended to other PICTs through further technical assistance
projects and the production of information sheets, videos and other promotional materials
with technical assistance from SPREP and other relevant organizations. On-going promotion
of the techniques should be incorporated into the national waste integrated communication
activities suggested below.
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4.5 lYaste Management

4.5.1 |I/aste Management Policy Development

The key requirement here is for the development of a National Waste Management Policy in
each PICT, where these do not already exist. A lead agency for waste management should be
designated as part of the policy development covered under Activity Er'. This agency should
then set up an appropriate coordination mechanism (e.g. an interdepartmental committee) to
ensure input from all relevant agencies. Local government and the private sector should also
be involved where appropriate, especially in the waste industry sector. The lead agency
should be tasked with development of a National Action Plan for the implementation of the
national strategy.

This policy should be endorsed at the highest levels of govemment, thereby demonstrating
government intent and commitment to the development and implementation of a national
waste programme. The policy should include designation of a lead agency to coordinate
waste management activities, a stated intention to review the relevant laws and regulations,
and commitment to the development of a national strategy for waste management. Also
included here is a proposed process for finalising this regional Strategy, which is another
opportunity for governments to demonstrate their commitment to the overall waste
management programme.

Activity E|: Sub-regional lflaste Forums and Finalisation of the Paciftc Strategy

This Strategy was prepared on the basis of numerous national and regional reports, and
knowledge of the current situation in most PICTs. Howevern there is a need for further
consultation on the proposed activities to ensure buy-in by all possible parties and
stakeholders. It is proposed that this be achieved through sub-regional waste forums, which
should include wide representation from all key stakeholders in the region. The key focus of
the forums would be sharing of experiences and concems in waste management, and
finalisation of the Strategy with expected outcomes to be based around:

r Identification of key issues associated with the generation, collection and disposal of
wastes at the national levels;

o Consideration of the management and use of resources in the context of
environmental sustainability;

r Identification of suitable tools for informing and create awareness amongst
communities;

o Identification of who should be responsible for meeting the cost associated with the
generation of waste; and

o Establishment of the roles of SPREP and the national and territorial government in
waste management.

These sub-regional forums were held during March-June, 2005. It would also be appropriate
for the sub-regional forums to be repeated in about five year's time, to allow for a review and
modification of the Strategy.
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Activity E2: Establishment of a Regional Coordination Mechanism

The setting up of a regional coordinating mechanism is imperative for the regional
implementation of this strategy. While emphasis is placed on the implementation at the
national level, the regional coordination of the individual PICT achievements is important in
the overall implementation of the strategy. SPREP's role as the lead agency is consistent
with its established role in the region.

Activity E3: Establishment of a National Coordination Mechanism,

The role of the lead agency specified in the national strategy should be to ensure coordination
of all activities, to monitor the effectiveness of the programme, and to ensure that the
necessary financial resources are made available. One of the first steps is to establish a
coordinating mechanism, which would most likely be a National Coordinating Committee,
plus other subsidiary bodies as required. This work should be carried out using existing
resources within each PICT.

Activity E4: Development and preparation of a National ll/aste Management Stategt

The development and preparation of a national waste management strategy should be
undertaken by the lead agency but with input from other relevant governmental agencies,
other stakeholders and special interest groups as appropriate. This is an essential first step in
clearly defining a country's goals for waste management and how it intends to achieve them.
The policy should be endorsed at the highest political levels and should be consistent with the
national development goals or plans, including their links to regional and global initiatives
such as the Pacific Plan, MDGs, BPoA, JPOI and the outcomes of the Mauritius meeting.
The policy should further speciS which agency or agencies will be responsible for specific
activities, and especially the lead agency responsible for overseeing policy implementation
and ensuring and ensuring coordination with others.

It should be possible for this work to be undertaken by governments within existing
resources, although some PICTs may require technical assistance from outside when
considering some of the more technical aspects of the programme. The methodology used
will vary within each PICT, depending on the approach normally taken for policy
development.

Activity E5: Development of National Management Planfor Disaster Debris

PICTs are vulnerable to natural disasters and at times experience civil disturbances. In the
aftermath of such sudden and unplanned events PICTs usually have to deal with the large
volumes of debris. There is currently a limited number of disaster debris management plans
in any of the PICTs to prepare for such events. This work involves stakeholder consultations
and the development of a disaster debris management plan. Guam is currently working on
their plan that other PICTs could consider using as a guide.

T
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4.5.2 Waste Collection

Most PICTs have established waste collection systems for urban areas that may need
improvement and extension to the rural areas. Limited specific activities have been proposed
for the upgrading or development of these services.

Activity FI: Incremental Improvement of Existing Collection Systems

The collection system is an integral component of any waste management programme. This
along with waste disposal are the components most demanding of resources and therefore
need special attention. [n order for the other operational components to function adequately,
an efficient and effective collection system needs to be in place. This activity is to assist
PICTs in assessing their respective collection systems and identiff ways in which they can be
improved to make them more efficient and effective.

4.5.3 Wsste Disposal

The emphasis in this section is on the development of new disposal facilities, the upgrading
of existing disposal sites, and methods to address the regional problem of difficult and
hazardous wastes. In addition, this section will address closure and post-closure activities
associated with new landfills and existing disposal sites. , It is envisaged that the need would
be first reflected in the planning activities listed under Activity trl3 below, and that funding
aspects would also be considered under Activity KL Any need for external assistance, if
required, would then be addressed through the national and bilateral planning processes that
are normally used for substantial infrastructure developments.

Activity GI: Incremental Improvements at Existing Disposal sites

This activity will build on the work already being carried out under the Japan Miyazaki
lnitiative (see Appendix l) involving a demonstration project to upgrade the Tafaigata
landlill in Samoa. Similar work will be carried out at other landfills in the region. Some
initial technical assistance will be required for feasibility studies, design and implementation
work at each site. However, it is envisaged that over time, goverrunents will undertake these
activities within their own resources, especially for smaller disposal sites within each PICT.
The work will be supported by regional Landflrll Guidelines, which are expected to be
published during 2006. In addition, some sites will be used for demonstration purposes as
part of the capacity building activities listed below.

Activity G2: Development of landtill and other appropriate waste disposal techniques for
Atoll Environments

The landfill improvement work carried out in Samoa is relevant to most high island situations
in the region. However, a modified approach is needed for atoll environments because of the
limited land availability and close proximity to marine and freshwater resources. A
development project should be planned for the atoll setting, and this should be implemented
over the next two years. Extension to other islands should then be considered, using the same
approach to funding as noted in Activity GI.
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Activity G3: Development of new sanitary landfill

ln some PICTs, the existing disposal facilities are unable to be upgraded due to their location,
condition, and other reasons. ln some cases, new disposal facilities have to be developed,
which would require careful planning and implementation.

Activity G4: Closure and post-closure of existing disposal sites

In the event that an existing disposal facility is unable to be upgraded, then a proper closure
plan with its appropriate post-closure monitoring programme needs to be put in place. This is
important in making sure that the closure work is undertaken properly and that the disposal
facility is monitored well after its closure. These activity would be undertaken parallel to
Activity G3.

Activity G5; lssessment of Regional Options for Managing Dfficult Wastes

Some waste in the region present special problems for PICTs because of the lack of any
viable recycling or disposal options. These include but not limited to; car bodies, tyres,
domestic whitegoods, computers, low-grade scrap metal, dry- and wet-cell batteries, non-
recyclable plastics, and disposable nappies/diapers. The work under this activity would be
most effectively carried out on a regional basis, possibly as a technical assistance consultancy
to SPREP, although national initiatives should also be encouraged either through private or
official bilateral arrangements. The work should involve an assessment of the size of the
problem, an evaluation of disposal options, and possible mechanisms for addressing the
issues, such as advance disposal fees on imported goods, and promotion of the principle of
Extended Producer Responsibility.

Activity G6: Regional and sub-regional clean-up of dfficult wastes

This activity has been previously proposed by SPREP, to be carried out in association with
the proposed Year of Action Against Waste (Activity Al). Implementation of this activity
will depend to some extent on the work carried out under Activity G5, but the clean-up should
also provide useful input to that work through demonstration of some of the possible disposal
options. It is not intended that the clean-up activities will deal with all difficult wastes in all
countries, and the availability of funding is most likely to be a significant limitation. Multi-
national companies should be targeted for participation in the work, as an example of
Extended Producer Responsibility. The work would be organised and coordinated at a
regional level, although national initiatives should also be encouraged.

While clean-ups may be necessary in some cases they should not take the place of on-going
environmentally responsible waste management

4.5.3 Planning and Perfurmance Monitoring

These activities are linked to many others in the programmes in that they provide the
mechanisms for on-going monitoring and review. They should generally be carried out
within existing national resources, with little or no requirement for extemal assistance.
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Activity HI: Establishment of Planning and Monitoring Systems

This activity follows on logically from Activities DI, EI and E4. The work would be
coordinated by the designated lead agency, with input from others as required. The main
requirement is to establish a system for collating information and ieporting on the
implementation of activities under the national strategy. These processes should be used for
identifying and responding to issues in strategy implementation, as well as the need for
changes to the strategy in response to changing circumstances.

Activity H2: Collection and Analysis of ll/aste Data

It is essential for PICTs to regularly collect reliable information on their waste generation
rates, waste composition, effectiveness of waste management programmes and economic
value of waste. This is required for the planning of future disposal requirements, for
identifying and assessing waste minimisation opportunities, and for monitoring the
effectiveness of some of the other activities carried out under the national strategy. Dita on
waste quantities should be collected on a continuing basis, while waste composition surveys
should be carried out regularly where appropriate

Activity H3: Long-Term Planning

This activity should be undertaken within a few years of implementation of the national
strategy, and then revisited about once every five years. Long-term planning should be based
around an assessment of future infrastructure requirements, including equipment for
collection and disposal, and new landfill sites. The planning should take into account
expected changes in waste quantities as a result of strategy activities, population growth, and
national development activities

4.5.4 Impact (Environmental) Monitoring

As noted previously, there is currently only a limited amount of impact monitoring being
done in the region. This is an important activity in terms of identifoing waste disposal sites
most in need of upgrading, remediation or closure. There is also a need for on-going
monitoring, to detect any changes in landfill performance and other environmental indicators
of waste management over time.

Activity I1: Routine Landfill and disposal site monitoring programmes

Basic monitoring programmes should be established at all operational disposal sites and
landfills in each PICT. Extemal advice may be needed for the design of the monitoring
progranrmes, but in most PICTs all routine inputs including laboratory services should be
available. In designing monitoring prograrrmes consideration should not only be given to
monitoring during the operation of the disposal sites and landfills but also for the post-
operation or closure period.
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4.6 Waste Industry

Activity Jl: Establishment of local "recycling" system

Because the waste industry is still in its infancy, there is a great need to put in place a local
"recycling" mechanism that will stimulate efforts for the development of the waste industry
at the national level. These set ups would then be easy to use by regional organizations to
accentuate mechanisms to enhance the recycling component of the waste management
process.

Activity J2: Assessment and Development of partnerships with the recycling industries

Although conventional recycling programmes for recyclable materials such as paper, PET
plastics and glass are not viable in most PlCTs, several PICTs have shown that if coordinated
and planned out properly, these materials can be shipped off-island for recycling with
partners in countries where the waste industry is more developed. In many of these
successful cases, there has been the involvement of partners from within and outside the
PICTs. There is an urgent need for involvement of the business and private sector in making
this happen. This could include making arangements with individuals or companies in
countries where there is a waste industry to facilitate the transportation and selling of the
recyclable materials to recycling companies.

4.7 Funding requirement and mechanism

Activity KI: Review of Funding and Resources Requirements and Possible Mechanisms

Adequate funding and resources are an essential requirement for the development of a
sustainable waste management programme. These funds may be provided from the
consolidated or general accounts/funds but would be more appropriately obtained through
other mechanisms such as user-charges where the revenue collected is directed towards waste
management. This review should be carried out in conjunction with the work on a national
strategy (Activity E4) and may benefit from extemal assistance for those PICTs with little or
no experience in the use of user-pays systems.

Activity K2: Assessment of Financial Mechanisms to Assist Recycling or Disposal Costs

This activity should be carried out in conjunction with Activities DI, D2, D3, D4 and KI.
Opportunities should be examined to integrate funding requirements to economic incentives
for waste minimisation, recycling and disposal. The institutions and regulatory framework
needed to support these options should be reviewed and assessed. Possible items to consider
as a means of enhancing existing recycling prograrnmes, and/or covering the cost of waste
disposal include but not limited to:

r Cost sharing for waste management
o Charges for waste management and disposal including:

o The use of container deposit schemes
o Advance collection and disposal fees, and
o Other similar financial mechanisms
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Some technical advice may be required as to the range of potential mechanisms, but most of
the assessment should be able to be carried out within existing resources.

4.8 Overall Work Plan and Timetable

Many of the activities proposed above will extend over many years. However, there are
others, which need to be undertaken at specific stages in the implementation of this Plan. The
key elements of timing are summarised in Table 4.1 below.

Table 4.1: Proposed Timetable for Implementation of the Ptan

Mav 2003 Endorsement of the Draft Strategy at PALM Itr
Mar 2004 Preparatory workshop for Year of Waste (SPREP, activity Al)
Mar-Jun 2005 Sub-regional Forums to finalise Regional Strategy (activity El)
2003 - 2005 Continuation of the JICA waste management workshops (activity Bl)
2005 Pacific Regional Year of Waste (activity A1)
2005-2006 Development and endorsement of National waste Policies (activitv E4)
2005 -2007 Assess regional options for disposal of difficult wastes (G5) and Regional

clean-up programme for difficult wastes (G6)
2006-201 5 Review laws and regulations (Cl), reviewing funding needs and mechanisms

(K1), establish regional and national coordinating mechanisms (E2 and E3),
prepare national strategies (E4), develop national waste minimisation
strategy (Dl), establish national planning and monitoring processes (Hl),
and assess national capacities (B3)

2008 Repeat of Regional Forum to review Strategy
On-going
activities

All other activities to commence in accordance with National Plans
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Appendix 1: Regional and national waste management
activities

Regional Activities

Most regional waste management programmes have been delivered through SPREP, in
accordance with its overall mandate for the region. Other organisations active in the region
include FAO, WHO, and UNEP. Current and recently completed activities are as follows:

r The EU/SPREP WASTE project (1998-2001), which has provided regional
information on waste compositions and current levels of waste awareness. It has also'
assisted in the development of some national waste management strategies, and
materials for use in waste education and awareness programmes.

o The JICA/SPREP programme on municipal solid waste management (Miyuzaki
lnitiative, 2001-2005), which is supporting intensive training courses in waste
management, demonstration projects (e.g. composting) and the development of
guidelines for landfill design, operation and management, and the incremental
improvement at existing landfills.

o The AusAID/SPREP POPs in PICs project (1997-2006), which aims to address
existing problems and strengthen national capacities for the management of hazardous
chemicals, contaminated sites and hazardous wastes. This prografirme is also being
supported through LINEP, and currently includes a major initiative for clean up and
disposal of existing hazardous waste stockpiles and contaminated sites.

o The SPREPAIZAID HazWaste project (2000-2002), which is developing a set of
regional guidelines on the management of difhcult wastes, including asbestos, waste
oil, scrap metal, and glass.

o The SPREP 2005 Pacific Year of Action Against Waste and Regional Waste Clean-up
programme. This proposed programme is to include waste education and awareness
activities in each country and regional clean-up activities directed at difficult wastes,
such as car bodies, whiteware, wet-cell (car) batteries, glass and plastics. NZAID
have agreed to support a preparatory programrne for National contact points and the
implementation education and awareness component of the programme but funding is
still being sought for the regional clean up work.

o The GEF/SPREP International Waters project (2000-2006), which is to include
demonstration projects on community-based waste management, and an assessment of
regional recycling programmes for waste oil.

o WHO health-care waste management programme (2001-2005) to support the
development of national guidelines and strategies and the training of key personnel.

o FAO composting programmes (on-going). This work has a primary focus on
improving agricultural productivity, but will also assist in increasing the amount of
green wasten which is diverted to more beneficial uses.

r Previous UNEP activities have included the preparation of Guidelines for Municipal
Solid Waste Management Planning in Small Island Developing States in the PaciJic
Region, and A Directory of Environmentally Sound Technologies for the Integrated
Management of Solid, Liquid, and Hazardous Waste for Small Island Developing
States (SIDS) in the Pacific Region. Both of these documents were prepared in
collaboration with SPREP.
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National Activities

All Pacific Island countries have on-going activities in waste management, at both national
and local levels. However, many of these are simply directed at the continued operation of
existing waste collection and disposal services. The activities noted below are those, which
aim to achieve significant changes in the existing services and facilities.

American Samoa: a new landfill opened several years ago is designed and operated to a good
standard. Basic recycling programmes in place for cans, scrap steel and batteries, but much
more remains to be done in this area

Cook Islands: have recently commissioned their new ADB-funded (loan) landfill and waste
management facility in Rarotonga. ln addition, recycling progr:rmmes for aluminium, paper
and glass have been established under an NZAID-funded project. This has augmented some
existing recycling programmes carried out by community goups and several small
businesses.

Fiji: have recently commissioned their new EU-funded landfill at Naboro just outside Suva
city, and possibly remediate the existing one. The Fiji govemment is also quite active in
promoting waste recycling programmes, anti-litter campaigns, and other waste awareness
activities. Health-care waste management is being addressed through a WHO programme,
while JICA has provided assistance through the building of a number of incinerators around
Fui.

FSM: some health-care waste facilities have recently been upgraded through the provision of
incinerators under a Japan/WHO programme. Basic operational improvements were made to
the main landfill site on Pohnpei several years ago, but the disposal facilities in this and all
other States still require significant improvements.

Guanr: an existing landfill has significant problems with leachate and internal fires and is
near capacity. Work has been under way for several years to confirm a site for a new facility,
but this continues to be problematical. Well-established recycling prograrnmes are in place,
mainly through private sector operators.

Kiribati: existing rubbish dumping sites are to be upgraded through the ADB-funded SAPHE
project, and health-care waste facilities have been enhanced through the provision of new
incinerators by Japan/lfHo. Composting and other waste awareness activities were
promoted extensively under a Kiribati Environmental Education Project (KEEP) supported
by NZAID and SPREP. Community-based waste management has been selected as the focal
area for a pilot project under the SPREP lnternational Waters programme.

Marshall Islands: funding from Japan was recently approved for upgrading and improving
waste disposal sites on Majuro, Community-based waste management has been selected as
the focal area for a pilot project under the SPREP lnternational Waters programme.

Nauru: community-based waste management has been selected as the focal area for a pilot
project under the SPREP lnternational Waters programme,
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Niue: a National Waste Strategy and associated Action Plans were developed in 2001 with
AusAID assistance and these have lead to an overall improvement in rubbiih collection and
disposal operations, although further improvements are needed at the disposal sites.

Northern Marianas: work is under way on the development of a new landfill to replace the
existing dump site, which is poorly sited and has been extended well beyond its original
capacity.

Palau: an lntegrated Solid Waste Management Plan was developed in 1999 with AusAID
assistance, and work is expected to begin shortly on a new landfill facility for Koror. Health-
care waste management will be addressed during 2003 under the WHO programme.
Community-based waste management has been selected as the focal area for a piloi project
under the SPREP lnternational Waters programme.

Papua New Guinea: national guidelines for the design and operation of landfill sites were
recently produced with support from Australia. The government is moderately active in
promoting waste awareness activities. PNG is also participating in the WHO health-care
waste programme.

Samoa: improvements to the Tafaigata landfill was completed in 2004 with support from
Japan, along with a community-based composting project- NZAID is supporting a pilot
project on anaerobic digestion of wastes to generate fuel gas, while treatttr-care waste
management is being upgraded as part of a World Bank Health Services project, with
additional support from Japan.

Solomon Islands: a national Action Plan was developed in 2001 with NZAID and SpREp
assistance, but is yet to be fully implemented. Operational improvements at the Honiara
dump have been implemented as part of this Plan, but much work still remains to be done.

Tokelau: NZAID funding recently approved for a community-based waste management
project, which will assist in improving existing dumpsites and developing waste minimisation
activities.

Tonga: a new landfill and waste management facility is to be constructed on Nuku'alofa with
assistance from AusAID. Community-based waste management has been selected as the
focal area for a pilot project under the SPREP lntemational Waters prograrnme.

Tuvalu: a recently completed AusAID project has resulted in the upgrading of the existing
landlill site, rehabilitation of old dump sites and the development of a composting service on
Funafuti. Community-based waste management has been selected as the focal area for a pilot
project under the SPREP lntemational Waters programme.

Vanuatu: a National Waste Management Strategy was developed under the EU/SPREP
WASTE project, along with significant support for community recycling programmes and
waste awareness activities. Health-care waste facilities have been upgraded with support
from Japan/WHO. A new Port Vila landfill, which was opened in 1994, was well designed
and constructed but the on-going operation is suffering from inadequate funding.
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Appendix 2: Effective recycling activities in PlCs

These are the recycling activities that have been effectively coordinated in the Pacific Islands
region:

Aluminium cans: The resale value of scrap aluminium fluctuates in accordance with world
prices but is generally well above the cost of shipping. Aluminium collection recycling
systems have been established in most of the PICTs. However, many of these are marginal
operations at best, usually because of a failure to capture enough of the resource and./or sub-
standard baling equipment.

Lead-acid batteries: Old car batteries are a significant concern throughout the region
because of the associated hazards from lead contamination. The batteries have significant
value as scrap, although the financial retum is usually quite marginal after covering for
shipping costs. Nonetheless several PICTs are now successfully shipping their batteries
offshore for recycling, and more are expected to follow.

Waste oil: This is sometimes being used locally as a supplementary fuel in power stations,
and until recently, some countries were sending their waste oil to Fiji for use as a
supplementary fuel in a steel mill. French Polynesia has recently started to ship waste oil to
New Zealand. There are costs involved in shipping waste oil to other countries for disposal,
but this is likely to remain the only available option for most PICTs. Another current
limitation is the lack of any organised in-country collection systems. Some countries are
considering introducing a system of import levies to pay for the cost of shipping and disposal.

Glass Bottles: Glass bottles are being effectively recycled in several countries in the region,
thanks to the existence of local breweries and soft drink companies with associated bottle
washing plants. However, this option is only applicable to beer and soft drink bottles. The
production of crushed glass for use as aggregate and as a sand substitute is another option that
is being successfully applied in a limited number of situations.

Office Paper and Cardboard: These are being baled and shipped from a few PICTs for
recycling, but the viability of the operation depends on having reasonably large waste
volumes and direct access to international shipping routes.

Plastics: Small volumes of PET plastics are being recycled from some of the larger PICTs
such as Fiji and PNG. However, other than that there are no viable recycling programmes for
plastic wastes. Plastic bags are a particular concem throughout the region. These have
recently been prohibited in Port Vila, Vanuatu, but the desired outcome of this regulation
may suffer from a lack of effective enforcement.

Other problem wastes in the region for which there are currently no viable management and
disposal options include: low-grade scrap metal (especially whiteware and old car bodies),
computers and other electronic goods, dry cell batteries and disposable nappies.
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Appendix 3: Outline Descriptions of the Proposed
Activities

Cross-cutting Issues

Activitv A1: Pacific Resional Year of Action Aeainst Waste
Lead Asencv SPREP in coniunction with national governments

Outline The Year of Action Against Waste campaign is based around a range of
national activities within each PICT, with SPREP serving a regional facilitation
and coordination role. Governments have been encouraged to support the
campaign through appointment of National Coordinators/Contact Points, and
NZAID has supported this initiative by funding a SPREP-run preparatory
workshop for these people. Additional funds have been secured for other
regional initiatives to promote the campaign, while most national activities
could possibly be and are funded by governments and through local
sponsorship arrangements.

Indicative actions L Appointment of National Coordinators/Contact Points
2. Regional preparatory workshop for NCs (SPREP)
3. NCs develop national programmes in consultation with others
4. Programme implementation
5. Review activities at year end. plus recommendations for future work

Pronosed Timins 2005--onwards
Resource Needs At least US$90,000 for regional and national initiatives to promote the

campaign. It is envisaged that future activities be proposed and PICTs to
consider funding them through existing funding mechanisms with regional
suDDort coming from external sources.

Activitv A2: Integrated Communication Programmes
Lead Asencv Desimated national coordinating agency for waste management
Outline lntegrated commturication prograrnmes should be improved or designed and

implemented within each PICT in accordance with national goals and activities.
However consideration should also be given to some form of regional support
for the prograrnmes th,rough SPREP and other relevant CROP agencies.

lndicative actions L Develop initial concepts during work on National Strategy
2. Finalise proposals and programme after the Year of Action Against Waste,

and request on-going funding
3. lnitiate programme activities

Proposed Timing 2006 onwards
Resource Needs PICTs to consider funding this through existing internal funding mechanisms

with extemal funding and resources secured from donors and through
partnerships with SPREP. and other relevant CROP asencies.
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Capacity Building

Activity B1: Annual Trainine Course in Municioal Waste Manasement
Lead Asencv JICA/SPREP
Outline This is an existing activity, which earlier this year, completed its five-year

cycle under the Japan Miyuzaki lnitiative. The course extended over a four-
week period, with the venue alternating between Okinawa and Apia, and about
l0 to 15 participants each year drawn from the Pacific Forum Island countries.
The course will not be continued after 2005, but it is intended that its impact be
extended through distribution of a course video, and maintenance of the
information network described under Activitv 86.

Indicative actions Prosramme activities alreadv determined
Prooosed Timins 2006-2010
Resource Needs Fundins for future trainins activities to be determined and soueht

Activitv 82: Trainine for Atoll Countries and Territories
Lead Asencv SPREP in collaboration with Dartners
Outline It is widely recognized that the waste management issues and requirements of

the atoll settings are distinctly different and in many cases are more challenging
that the high island counterparts. The very limited availability of land is a

major issue when it comes to designing prograrnmes that deal with waste
disposal. This activity would allow for atoll-specific training to be put in place
to train personnel in all components of the national waste management
prograrrrmes includine policv makers to waste disposal facilitv workers.

Indicative actions l. Develop a fully costed atoll-specif-rc training programme in collaboration
with waste expert in this area

2. Circulate prograrnme to atoll PICTs for their perusal and endorsement
3. Seek donor funding for conducting training
4. Conduct training on a sub-regional basis initially and then at the country

level
5. Evaluate and monitor the impact of the training after 3 years
6. Revrew the trainins Drosrarnme after 5 vears

Proposed Timine 2006-20r0
Resource Needs Funding for future trainins activities to be determined and sousht

I

Activity 83: Assessment of National Capacities in Waste Manasement
Lead Asencv National governments

Outline Capacity building requirements should be initially considered and addressed
during the planning work under Activities 84, HI and H3. An initial necds
assessment should be carried out, and a programme designed to address these
needs, along with the appropriate funding. There is also a need for periodic
reviews of the capacity building programme to monitor its effectiveness and
make any necessary adjustments.

Indicative actions l. Designating a lead agency for SWM
2. Establish national team to conduct needs analysis
3. Obtain external advice as required
4. Carry out assessment and reoort back to national coordinatins bodv

Proposed Timinq Initial assessment during 2006-2008, then revisit every 3 to 5 years.

Resource Needs PICTs to consider funding this through existing internal funding mechanisms
with external funding and resources secured from donors or through
partnerships with SPREP and other relevant CROP asencies
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Activity 84: National CapaciW Building Activities
Lead Asencv Designated national coordinating agency for waste management
Outline This activity follows on from Activity BJ, and is intended to implernent the

findings of the assessment. This work should be done as a national initiative
with assistance from external sources as necessary. Capacity Building activities
should include a focus on skill building for institutional and systemic
management including the skills to develop sound and appropriate policies and
lntegrated strategic management of waste that incorporates funding and
incentive for waste control.

Indicative actions l. Develop capacity building programme
2. Obtain budget approvals for proposed prograrnme
3. Implement the programme
4. Review programme periodically to make adiustments where appropriate

Proposed Timins 2006 onwards
Resource Needs PICTs to consider funding this through existing intemal funding rnechanisrns

with extemal funding and resources secured from donors or through
partnerships with SPREP and other relevant CROP agencies

Activity 85: Country Attachments
Lead Asencv SPREP, in conjunction with nationalagencies
Outline There is a country attachment scheme managed by srnerphich airns to uoost

national capacities by supporting country-to-country attachments between
Pacific island countries. Activities of this sort should provide an excellent
vehicle for capitalising on some of the work being done under other parts of the
waste programme, such as the landfill demonstration project in Samoa. There
is the potential for waste management personnel to be included in the current
project, but consideration should also be given to obtaining additional funds to
allow a continuation of the programme beyond its current timeframe and scope
(o broaden the skills base).

lndicative actions l. Governments to identifu potential use of the scheme during ecttvtty nt
2. SPREP to establish attachment guidelines and assist in identifying suitable

placements
3. Seek funding if negessary, and implement

Proposed Timine 2006 onwards
Resource Needs SPREP to seek funding for the implementation of the activiW

Activity 86: Maintenance of a Waste Information Network
Lead Asencv SPREP
Outline This activity would aim to enhance the existing knowledge and skills of waste

management personnel through participation in a regional information network.
Participants from the Municipal waste Training courses (Activity BI'S are
already nominal participants in this network, but the operation of the network
needs to be boosted through regular input from a moderator, and extension to
other waste practitioners.

Indicative actions l.

2.

Activities could include operation of an e-mail discussion group,
distribution of regular newsletters and information bulletins, organisation
ofperiodic technical workshops and conferences, and support for
mentoring programmes.
Activities would also include information gathering either through the e-
mail discussion group or by filling out issue-specific methods such as
questionnaires.
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Proposed Timins 2006 onwards
Resource Needs SPREP staffing and minor operational costs but some extemal activities may

require additional fundine which would be sought throueh donors

Policy and legislatiort

Waste generstion and minimisation

Activitv Cl: Review of Laws and Resulations
Lead Agency National coordinating agency (for waste management) with inputs from

relevant government agencies such as the legal department, law societies,
academics etc

Outline Existing laws and regulations should be reviewed to ensure that departments
have the necessary mandate to carry out their designated duties within the
national strategy. The review should also consider the existence of, or need for,
enforcement powers, as well as methods for implementing the possible funding
mechanisms considered under Activity KI below. This review should be
carried out in parallel with Activities KI and 84.

Indicative actions l. Establish working party
2. Review policies, laws and regulations in parallel with work on national

strategy (E4) and funding mechanisms (Kl)
3. At a minimum, engage in sub-regional collaboration with other PICTs and

relevant regional organisations.
4. Recommendations to government
5. Draft amendments of new policies. laws and regulations as required

Proposed Timine Within 6-18 months of adoption of National Policv.
Resource Needs PICTs to consider funding this activity initially from internal resources,

although external assistance may be required for the drafting of new legislation
if necessary. In such cases extemal funding and resources may be sought
through SPREP or throush bilateral mechanisms.

Activity D1: Development of National Waste Minimisation Stratesies
Lead Agency Designated national coordinating agency for waste management, with inputs

from departments of Industry, lntemal Affairs and other agencies as
appropriate.

Outline This activity should be done in parallel to, but separately from the work on a

national strategy and should involve a review of opportunities to minimize
waste at source from the infoduction of economic and other incentives. It
should be linked to activities under Kl and K2. The strategy should lay out a
framework for implementation of some or all of the other minimisation
activities listed below.

Indicative actions l. Establish working party and consult with relevant stakeholders
2. Collect and assess information on waste minimisation opportunities at

source.
3. Submit report and recommendations to national coordinating body
4. lncorporate recommendations into national strategy
5. Implement strategy as appronriate

Pronosed Timins Within l2-36 months of adoption of national policy
Resource Needs PICTs to consider funding this activity initially from intemal resources,

although extemal technical assistance may be required if necessary. ln such
cases external funding and resources may be sought on a case-by-case basis
through SPREP or throueh bilateral mechanisms.
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Activity D2: Development of National waste recvcling strateeies
Lead Agency Designated national coordinating agency for waste management, with inputs

from departments of Industry, Internal Affairs and other agencies as
appropriate.

Outline This work should involve a review of information on quantities of -cyclabte
material currently being produced (see Activity HI), current recycling
activities, and potential markets for recyclable goods, and an assessment of
other opportunities for waste minimisation. The strategy should lay out a
framework for implementation of some or all of the other minimisation
activities listed below.

Indicative actions Establish working party and consult with relevant stakeholders
Collect and assess information on recycling opportunities
Submit report and recommendations to national coordinating body
Incorporate recommendations into national strategy and implement as
appropriate

I
2
aJ

4

Proposed Timins W{bqr 12-36 months of adoption of nationalpolicy
Resource Needs PICTs to consider funding this activity initially from internal resources,

although external technical assistance may be required if necessary. In such
cases extemal funding and resources may be sought on a case-by-case basis
through SPREP or through bilateral mechanisms.

ActiviW D3: Eqhancement of Existing Recyclinr prosrammes
Lead Agency SPREP (mainly in a coordination role) in collaboration with designated lead

agency for waste management and donor agencies
Outline There are numerous recycling activities currently operating in the regiorl

especially for aluminium cans, PET bottles, scrap metal and to a lesser extent,
paper and batteries. Many of these operations are being carried out by NGos
or the private sector, but most are only marginally viable. Most of these
operations would benefit from external technical assistance directed at
upgrading of equipment, implementation of more effective business practices,
regulations and promotional activities to improve participation rates.

Indicative actions l. work with governments to identifu activities that would benefit from this
work
Enhance and stengthen regional and sub-regional collaboration
Liaise with donors over possible support
Assist in developing the work plan
Implementation of the work plan as required
Review and report (regionalty) on outcomes as aDproDriate

2.
3.

4.
).
6.

Proposed Timins 2006 onwards
Resource Needs Cost of these operations should be determined on a case-by-case basis. Costs

yould include consultancy fees as well as possible equipment costs
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Activitv D4: Assessment and Demonstration of New Recycling Methods
Lead Agency SPREP (mainly in a coordination role) in collaboration with the appropriate

oartners at both the national and reeional levels

Outline Conventional recycling progranrmes for materials such as paper, tyres, PET
plastics and glass are not viable in most PICTs, mainly because of the low
waste volumes coupled with high shipping costs. There is a need for
development of alternative recycling methods for these wastes, which are

suitable for small-scale, local use. This could include small-scale paper, tyre
recycling, manufacture of plastic lumber, and the use of crushed glass in
construction materials or ceramics. These are all established technologies, but
there is a need for demonstration and assessment of their application within
PICTs. throueh technical assistance progarnmes.

Indicative actions 1. Work with governments to identiff suitable targets for this work
2. Liaise with donors over possible support
3. Assist in implementation as required including market support
4. Review and share information reeionallv on outcomes as appropriate

Proposed Timinq 2006 onwards

Resource Needs Cost of these operations should be determined on a case-by+ase basis. Costs

would include consultancy fees as well as possible equipment costs

Activitv D5: Promotion of Communitv Compostine Activities
Lead Agency SPREP, in conjunction with donor agencies and governments already active in

this area

Outline Community composting prograrnmes have been demonstrated successfully in
several PICTs, and this work should now be extended to other PICTs through
further technical assistance projects and the production of information sheets,

videos and other promotional materials with technical assistance from SPREP

and other relevant organizations. On-going promotion of the techniques

should be incorporated into the national waste integrated communication
activities sussested below.

Indicative actions l. Review existing infiormation and other materials on composting activities
2. Obtain funding and develop regional resource materials
3. Liaise with sovernments over incomoration into national prograrnmes

Proposed Timing 2006-2008 for steps I and 2, and then on-going
Resource Needs PICTs should consider funding the internal component of this work from

existing resources while preparation of promotional and resource material can

be acquired externally throueh SPREP or from other relevant organizations.

I

Waste Management and implementation of the strategy

Activitv El: Sub-reeiond Waste Forums and Finalisatlon of the Pacific SWM Strategy
Lead Asencv SPREP in collaboration with PICTs
Outline There was a great need for an extensive consultation on the draft sfrategy to

ensure participation and support by all parties with the four sub-regional waste

forums serving as the major avenue to engage PICTs and other relevant
stakeholders to contribute to this process. More than 60 country and territory
participants had the opportunity to review the document and contribute to the

document where appropriate. The key focuses of the sub-regional forums were

the sharing of experiences and concerns in waste management, and finalisation
of the strategy. The sub-regional approach to extensive consultation should be

repeated in about five year's time, to allow for review and modification of the

Stratecy.
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Indicative actions l. Confirm budget, identify and obtain funding (SPREP)
2. Organise venue, potential participants (about 70), programme, travel

arangements (SPREP)
3. Governments to review draft strategy and submit country reports to SpREp

in advance of meeting
4. Strategy revised during sub-regional forums and finalised by the

chairpersons of the four sub-regional forums
5. Final version ofthe strategy endorsed and approvedby the 16 SPREP

Meeting and published by SPREP,
6. Reconvene sub-regional consultation meetings to review prosress in 2010

Proposed Timine March-June, 2005, then repeat in 2010
Resource Needs The four sub-regional meetings held in 2005 cost about us$ 160,000 but this

figure will need to be reviewed for the repeat meetings in 2010.

Activity E2: Establishment of a Regional Coordination Mechanism
Lead Aeencv SPREP in collaboration with PICTs
Outline The setting up of a regional coordinating mechanism is imperative for the

regional implementation of this strategy. while emphasis is placed on the
implementation at the national level, the regional coordination of the individual
PICT achievements is important in the overall implementation of the strategy.
SPREP's role as the lead agency is consistent with its established role in the
region.

Indicative actions 1. Develop and agree on the coordination mechanism with its associated
prograrnmes and activities based on SPREP's established role in the region

2. Establishment of dedicated SPREP staff position to oversee and assist sub-
regions with this activity - either through a centrally located officer in
SPREP or sub-regionally located officer in the region (Melanesian,
Micronesian and Polynesian)

3. Implement mechanisms, in coniunction with activitv E3.
Proposed Timine Within 6-18 months of endorsement of national stratesv
Resource Needs SPREP staffing and minor operational costs but some external activities may

require additional funding which would be sousht throush donors

{ctivity E3: Establishment of a National Coordination Mechanism.
Lead Aeencv Designated national coordinating agency for waste management
Outline The role of the lead agency specified in the national strategy should be to

ensure coordination of all activities, to monitor the effectiveness of the
programme, and to ensure that the neceisary financial resources are made
available. one of the first steps is to establish a coordinating mechanism,
which would most likely be a National Coordinating Committee, plus other
subsidiary bodies as required.

Indicative actions l.
2.
3.

Identify all relevant stakeholders and convene a meeting
Develop and agree on the coordination mechanism
Implement mechanisms, in coniunction with activiW Hl.

Proposed Timine Within 6-12 months of endorsement of national shategy
Resource Needs PICTs to consider using existing resources to undertake this activity
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Activitv E4: Development of a National Waste Manasement Strategv
Lead Asencv National sovernments
Outline This is an essential first step in clearly defining a country's goals for waste

management and how it intends to achieve them. The policy should be
endorsed at the highest political levels and should be consistent with the
national development goals or plans, including their linlcs to regional and global
initiatives such as the Pacific Plan, MDGs, BPoA, JPOI and the outcomes of
the Mauritius meeting. The policy should further specify which agency or
agencies would be responsible for specific activities, and especially the lead
agency responsible for overseeing policy implementation and ensunng and
ensurins coordination with others.

Indicative actions l. Nominate government agency to lead the work on the strategy
2. Consultations with all other stakeholders.
3. Draft policy considered by cabinet, revised as required
4. Policy endorsed by govemment
5. Implement the stratesy

Proposed Timins Within 6 to l8 months of endorsement of the Stratesy
Resource Needs PICTs to consider funding this activity through existing internal funding

mechanisms and in cases where technical assistance in required, external
resources should be sought and provided through partnerships with SPREP,
other relevant CROP asencies and donors

Activity E5: Development of National Manasement Plan for Disaster Debris
Lead Agency Designated national coordinating agency for waste management, with inputs

from other aqencies as approoriate.
Outline PICTs are wlnerable to natural disasters and at times experience civil

disturbances. ln the aftermath of such sudden and unplanned events PICTs
usually have to deal with the large volumes of debris. There is currently a
limited number of disaster debris management plans in any of the PICTs to
prepare for such events. This work involves stakeholder consultations and the
development of a disaster debris management plan. Guam is currently working
on their plan that other PICTs could consider usins as a suide.

Indicative actions l. Establish lead agency to develop the plan.
2. Conduct stakeholder consultations and develop plan in line with national

disaster management or emergency response plan.
3. Submit plan for consideration and endorsement by govemment.
4. lmplement plan as needed.

Pronosed Timinp 2007 onwards
Resource Needs PICTs to consider funding this activity through existing internal funding

mechanisms and in cases where technical assistance in required, external
resources should be sought and provided through parbrerships with SPREP,
other relevant CROP asencies and donors
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Waste Collection

I

t

I

Activity Fl: lncremental Improvements at Existing Collection Svstems
Lead Asencv National governments
Outline The collection system is an integral compone@

programme. This along with waste disposal are the components most
demanding of resources and therefore need special attention. In order for the
other operational components to function adequately, an efficient and effective
collection system needs to be in place. This activity is to assist pICTs in
assessing their respective collection systems and identify ways in which they
can be improved to make them mgre efficient and effective.

Indicative actions l. Governments to identifu existing collection systems and undertake
assessment exercise to determine their efficiency and effectiveness
Develop an upgrading programme for their improvement
Liaise with JICA or other donors as appropriate
Undertake feasibility study and projecr design
Project implementation
Review and report findings with assistance from SpREp

2.
a
J.

4.
5.
6.

Proposed Timins 2006 onwards
Resource Needs The funding and resource requirements for each impffi

PICTs setting will differ and will be determined on a case-by-case basis

lVaste Disposal

sting Disposal sites
Lead Asencv National govemments
Outline This activity will build on the work already Ue

Miyazaki lnitiative (see Appendix l) involving a demonstration projeci to
upgrade the Tafaigata landfill in Samoa. Similar work will be carried out at
other landfills in the region. Some initial technical assistance will be required
for feasibility studies, design and implementation work at each site. However,
it is envisaged that over time, governments will undertake these activities
within their own resources, especially for smaller disposal sites within each
PICT.

Indicative actions l. Govemments to identify eligible disposal sites
2. Liaise with JICA or other donors as appropriate
3. Complete feasibility study and project design
4. Project implementation
5. Review and report findings with assisknce from SpREp

Proposed Timins 2006 onwards
Resource Needs The funding and resource requirements for each improvement work in e,ach

PICTs setting will differ and will be determined on a case-by-case basis
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Activity G2: Development of landfill and other appropriate waste disposal techniques for Atoll
Environments
Lead Asencv National sovernments in coniunction with SPREP and donors

Outline The landfill improvement work carried out in Samoa is relevant to most high
island situations in the region. However, a modified approach is needed for
atoll environments because of the limited land availability and close proximity
to marine and freshwater resources. A development project should be planned

for the atoll setting, and this should be implemented over the next two years.

Extension to other atoll PICTs should then be considered, using the same

approach as noted in Activitv G|.
Indicative actions L Develop plan for the development work and seek appropriate funds and

resources
2. Chosen governments to identifu potential disposal facility
3. Liaise with donors as appropriate
4. Complete feasibility study and project design
5. Project implementation
6. Review and report findings with assistance from SPREP

Proposed Timine 2006-2008 (Initial PICfl. 2008 onwards for other atoll PICTs

Resource Needs The funding and resource requirements for each PICTs setting will differ and

will be determined on a case-bv-case basis

Activitv G3: Development of new sanitary landfill
Lead Agency Desienated lead asencv in coniunction with the coordinating committee
Outline ln some PICTs, the existing disposal facilities are unable to be upgraded due to

their location, condition, and other reasons. ln some cases, new disposal
facilities have to be developed, which would require careful planning and

implementation.
lndicative actions l. In conjunction with Activities H2 and I/J, undertake EIA study

Z. Govemments to decide on the site based on the EIA
3. Secure architecture and engineering (A&E) services and develop

closure/post closure plans
4. Construction of the faciliry
5. Develoo and imolement ooeration and maintenance (O&M) plans

Proposed Timine 2006 onwards
Resource Needs PICTs to consider funding this internally initially but external funding may be

reouired for the construction of the facilitv

Activity G4: Closure and post-closure of existing disposal sites
Lead Aeencv Desisnated lead agencv in coniunction with the coordinating committee
Outline In the event that an existing disposal facility is unable to be upgraded, then a

proper closure plan with its appropriate post-closure monitoring programme

needs to be put in place. This is important in making sure that the closure work
is undertaken properly and that the disposal facility is monitored well after its
closure. These activitv would be undertaken parallel to Activitv G3.

Indicative actions I ln conjunction with Activities H2 and fiI3, undertake facility assessment

and investigation
Desi gn closure/post-closure plan
Implement closure activities
Monitor oost-closure activities

2
3

4
Prooosed Timins 2006 onwards
Resource Needs PICTs to consider funding this internally initially but extemal funding may be

required for the closure and post-closure activities
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Activity G5: Assessment of Regional Options for Manasins Difncutt We-st.*
Lead Agency SPREP
Outline Some wastes present special problems for pICTs because of the lack of any

viable recycling or disposal options. These include but not limited to; car
bodies, t1nes, domestic whitegoods, computers, low-grade scrap metal, dry and
wet-cell batteries, non-recyclable plastics, and disposable diapers/nappies. The
work under this activity should involve an assessment of the size of the
problem, an evaluation of disposal options, and possible mechanisms for
addressing the issues, such as advance disposal fees on imported goods, and
promotion of the principle of Extended Producer Responsibility.

Indicative actions l.
2.

3.

Develop detailed TOR for consultancy
Identiff and obtain funding
Conduct study and share findings within the region and sub-region,
recommendations for follow-up actions

with

Pronosed Timins 2006-2008
Resource Needs SPREP to work with potential partners and determine the resources needed for

such an activity on either a regional basis or a sub-regional basis

Activity G6: Regional and sub-regional clean-up of difficult wastes
Lead Agencv SPREP
Outline This activity was previously proposed by SpREp, to be canied out in

association with the proposed Year of Action Against waste (Activity AI). It is
not intended that the clean-up activities will deal with all difficult wastes in all
countries, and the availability of funding is most likely to be a significant
limitation. Multi-national companies should be targeted and encouraged for
participation in the work, as an example of Extended producer Responsibility.
The work would be organised and coordinated at a regional level, although
national initiatives should also be encouraged. The activities will also be
relevant to Activity G5.

Indicative actions I
2

3

4

Develop target lists of wastes and locations
Identify potential sponsors and providers ofdisposal services, to design
specific activities and confirm costs and budgets
lmplement activities as appropriate
Publicise activities, preferably in conjunction with Year of Action Against
Waste

Prooosed Timins 2006-2008
Resource Needs Both national and

basis.
regional operational costs to be determined on a case-by-case

Planning and Performance Monitoring

Activity Hl: Establishment of Planning and Monitoring Svstems
Lead Agencv Designated national coordinating agency for waste management
Outline This activity follows on logically from Activities DI, El and E4. The work

would be coordinated by the designated lead agency, with input from others as
required. The main requirement is to establish a system for collating
information and reporting on the implementation of activities under the national
strategy. These processes should be used for identiffing and responding to
issues in shategy implementation, as well as the need for changes to the
strategy in response to changing circumstances.
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Indicative actions l. Identifo information and reporting needs, in consultation with other
relevant government agencies

2. Agree on and implement routine reporting system
3. Set timetable for nlannins reviews and imnlement

Pronosed Timins On completion of national stratew
Resource Needs PICTs to consider funding this activity through existing internal funding

mechanisms with technical advise provided through partnerships with SPREP

and other relevant CROP asencies

Activitv H2: Collection and Analvsis of Waste Data
Lead Aeencv Desisnated national coordinatins aqencv for waste management

Outline It is essential for PICTs to regularly collect reliable information on their waste
generation rates, waste composition, effectiveness of waste management
programmes and economic value of waste. This is required for the planning of
future disposal requirements, for identifying and assessing waste minimisation
opportunities, and for monitoring the effectiveness of some of the other
activities carried out under the national strategy. Data on waste quantities
should be collected on a continuing basis, while waste composition surveys
should be carried out rezularlv where aooropriate

Indicative actions l. Allocate responsibilities for data collection and analysis
2. Obtain advice on methodologies if required
3. lnitiate routine data collection and information management programme

Proposed Timing Initial survey during national planning stage, then establish on-going
Drosrarnme

Resource Needs PICTs to consider funding this activity through existing intemal funding
mechanisms with technical advise provided through partnerships with SPREP
and other relevant CROP aqencies

Activitv H3: Lonp-Term Plannins
Lead Asencv Desisnated national coordinatins asencv for waste manasement
Outline Long-term planning should be based around an assessment of future

infrastructure requirements, including equipment for collection and disposal,
and new landfill sites. The planning should take into account expected changes
in waste quantities as a result of strategy activities, population growth, and
national development activities

Indicative actions l. Review existing plans and future projected needs during work on national
strategy

2. Agree on future planning timetable and methodologr, then implement
Proposed Timing Plan reviews undertaken within a few years of implementation of the national

strategy, and then revisited about once every five years.

Resource Needs PICTs to consider funding this activity through existing intemal funding
mechanisms with technical advise provided through partnerships with SPREP
and other relevant CROP asencies
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Impact (E nvironmental) Monitoring

Waste Indastry

Activity Il: Routine Landfill and disposal site monitoring prosrammes
Lead Asencv Desimated national coordinating agencv for waste manasement
Outline Basic monitoring prograrnmes should be established at all operational disposal

sites and target landfills in each PICT. External advice may be needed for the
design of the monitoring programmes, but in most PICTs all routine inputs
should be available in-countrv.

Indicative actions l. Identiff target disposal sites and landfills
2. Agree on monitoring methodology, including laboratory inputs
3. Design and implement operation and closure monitoring prograrnme
4. Review programme at 3 to 5 yearlv intervals

Proposed Timine 2006 onwards
Resource Needs External advice (SPREP) may be needed for the design of the monitoring

prograrnmes, but in most PICTs all routine inputs should be available in-
countn/.

Activity Jl: Establishment of local "recycling" svstem
Lead Agency National coordinating agency (for waste management) in collaboration with the

private and business sector and SPREP (technical advise)
Outline Because the waste industry is still in its infancy, there is a great need to put in

place a local "recycling" mechanism that will stimulate efforts for the
development of the waste industry at the national level. These set ups would
then be easy to use by regional organizations to accentuate mechanisms to
enhance the recycling sector of the waste management process.

Indicative actions l. Establish work party to identifo the possible private sector companies or
individuals to operate this recycling systems such as collection points,
waste segregation mechanisms, transfer stations etc.

2. Liaise with partners and other possible donors over possible support
3. Put into place mechanisms with incentives to atfiact fuller participation

from all sectors of the business communitv
4. Establish local recycling system

Proposed Timins 2006 onwards
Resource Needs PICTs to consider supporting this activity tluough existing internal resources

with technical advise provided through partnerships with SPREP and other
relevant stakeholders (both internal and external)
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Activitv J2: Assessment and Develonment of oartnershios with the recvcline industries
Lead Agency National coordinating agency (for waste management) in collaboration with the

private and business sector and SPREP

Outline Although conventional recycling programmes for recyclable materials such as

paper, PET plastics and glass are not viable in most PICTs, several PICTs have

shown that if coordinated and planned out properly, these materials can be

shipped off-island for recycling with partners in countries where the waste
industry is more developed. In many of these successful cases, there has been

the involvement of partners from within and outside the PICTs. There is an

urgent need for involvement of the business and private sector in making this
happen. This could include making alrangements with individuals or
companies in countries where there is a waste industry to facilitate the

transportation and selline of the recvclable materials to recycling companies.
Indicative actions l. Establish work party to identify the possible partners in countries that have

a waste industry
2. Liaise with partners and other possible donors over possible support
3. Implementation the recycling process as required
4. Review and reoort (reeionallv) on outcomes as appropriate

Proposed Timins 2006 onwards
Resource Needs PICTs to consider supporting this activity through existing internal resources

with technical advise provided through partnerships with SPREP and other
relevant stakeholders (both internal and external)

Funding requirement and mechanism

Activitv Kl: Review of Fundins Reouirements and Possible Mechanisms
Lead Agency National coordinating agencv (for waste manaqement) plus Treasury
Outline Adequate funding and resources are an essential requirement for the

development of a sustainable waste management programme. These funds may
be provided from the consolidated or general accounts/funds but would be more
appropriately obtained through other mechanisms such as user-charges where
the revenue collected is directed towards waste management. This review
should be carried out in conjunction with the work on a national strategy
(Activity E4) and may benefit from external assistance for those PICTs with
little or no exnerience in the use of user-oavs svstems

Indicative actions l. Establish working party
2. Review funding requirements and possible funding mechanisms in parallel

with work on national strategy (E4) and laws and regulations (Cl)
3. Submit recommendations to government on innovative sftategic financing
4. Implement mechanism as required

Proposed Timing Within 6-18 months of adoption of National Policy, although this work could
involve some lonser term develooments as well

Resource Needs In cases where the necessary capacities do not exist in PICTs, then extemal
assistance may be provided with the associated costs determined on a case-by-
case basis. ln most cases, PICTs should consider supporting this activity from
existing internal resources.
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Activity K2: Assessment of Financial Mechanisms to Assist Recycling or nisposat costs
Lead Agency Designated national coordinating agency for waste policy, with inputs from

relevant Government agencies as appropriate.
Outline This activity should be carried out in conjunction with Activities nt, oa and

Kl. The key requirement is to assess the use of container deposits, advance
disposal fees, and other similar financial (economic incentive and disincentive)
mechanisms, as a means of enhancing existing recycling programmes, and/or
covering the costs of waste disposal.

Indicative actions l. Establish working party
2. Review options for financial mechanisms in parallel with work on waste

minimisation strategies (Dl). Also relate to work on national strategy (84)
and laws & regulations (Cl)

3. Consult with stakeholders over proposed options
4. Recommendations to govemment
5. Implement mechanisms as required

Proposed Timing hitially l2-24 months after adoption of national policy, then review
periodically

Resource Needs PICTs to consider supporting this activity through existing internal resources
with technical advise provided through partnerships with spREp and other
relevant stakeholders



I 6SlWOffrcialsAVP.7.2.3
Page 1

SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGMMME

Sixteenth SPREP Meeting
Apia, Samoa

13-16 September 2005

Agenda ltem 7.2.3: Increasing the Integration of Pacific lslands Territories
into the Workprogramme of the Secretariat

Purpose of Paper

l. To report on the Secretariat efforts to increase the involvement of the Pacific island
territories in the work progranune of SPREP.

Background

2. During the l5th SPREP Meeting, the Secretariat convened an informal consultation
with territories on increasing their involvement and integration into the work prograrnme
of the Secretariat. The objective of the consultation was to identify ways to achieve
greater participation of the territories in the work of the Secretariat. At this consultation, a

number of gaps were identified such as the lack of a mechanism to mobilise the expertise
available within the territories to assist other Pacific island members, the weakness of
dialogue between Pacific island countries and the language barrier (French-English), the
lack of recognition of the territories as full SPREP members (Parties), the. eligibility of
territories in the project activities of some donors, the lack of visibility of SPREP in
territories and the dissemination of information to the territories.

3. The 5th Environment Ministers' Forum that followed the SPREP Meeting of
Officials and the informal consultation "requested the Secretariat to further its efforts to
increase the involvement of the Territories in the programmes of SPREP and welcomed
the Secretariat' initiative to hold a worl*hop in 2005 addressing increased Territory
participation and to report the outcomes to the I6'h SPREP Meeting of Oficials".

4. Accordingly, the Secretariat convened a meeting inviting all seven territories and
metropolitan countries at SPREP Headquarters, 13-15 June 2005. Representatives from
American Samoa, France, French Polynesia, Guam, New Caledonia, Tokelau,
Conservation lnternational, Secretariat of the Pacific Community and the French
Development Agency (AFD) attended the meeting. It successfully achieved its objectives
which were to:
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r provide the territories with an in depth knowledge of SPREP programmes and

activities;
. provide the Secretariat with a good understanding of the resources available within

the territories together with their needs; and

' identiff collaborative efforts towards the implementation of the Action Plan and

the Strategic Programmes.

5. A range of opportunities for increased collaboration with the Secretariat and its
members were identified related to biodiversity, climate change, waste management and

cross sectoral issues. The necessary process to enable such integration was also addressed

and a number of solutions were identified. Details are contained in the Report of the

meeting which is attached.

Recommendations

6. The Meeting is invited to:

Territories;

Pacific island territories in the workproglamme of SPREP; and

undertaken to address the identified opportunities and mechanisms for greater

involvement and participation of the Pacific island territories into the

workprogramme of SPREP.

I July 2005

I

' '-'t
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Meeting on lncreasing Integration of pacific
lsland Territories into the Work programme of
the Secretariat

SPREP
Secretariat of the pacitic
Regional Environment
Programme

PROE
Programme r6gional
oc6anien de I'environnement

SPREP Headquarters
Apia, Samoa
13 -15 june 2005

AGENDA ITEM t: Officiat Opening

l ' The Meeti{8 on lncreasing Integration of Pacific Island Territories into the WorkProgramme of the Secretariat was conrrened in Apia, Samoa on l3 to l5 June 2005.

2' The Meeting wils attended by representatives from American Samoa, France,French Polynesia" Guam, New caledonia, and Tokelau. observers includedrepresentatives from Conservation Intemational (CD, Secretariat of the pacific
communitv (SPCI. French Development Agency rerol and world Meteorologicalorganisation (wMo). A list of participants is attachedas Annex l.

3' Reverend Ailani Tanielu opened.the meeting in prayer. The Director of SpREp,
[r-{1e1o Takesy then made hiJ opening remarksl Hi-welcomed the detegates to theSPREP Headquarters and stressed the Import*"" oi the meeting in light of theimplementation of the Action_Plan, guided iy fr" i..r-y.* Strategic programmes. Hefurther recalled the "lnformal Consultition on 

'Itt";d;'Integration 
of the pacific IslandTerritories and the work of the SPREP" held in Tahitidurin-g ttt. rlit"ipnee ueetingwhere a number of gaps were identified in particular the weakness in dialogue benveenPacific island countries and Territories (PICTs); language barrier(s); effectiveparticipation of the Territories as full members; dissemination of information to theTerritories and the lack of SPREP visibility in the i"..tiori.r. It is hoped that the meetingwill identifo mechanisms and solutions to address the needs of the Territories as well asmobilise the expertise available within the Territories io benefil other pacific islandmembers.

4' The Director reiterated the importance of the meeting and advised that the frnaloutcomes would be reported to the 16:hjPREP Meeting ii september 2o0s in Apia,samoa' He also recalled the Ministerial statements madJ 
"iinr ?ii'rtir*ri.i"r Meetingthat specifically requested the Secretariat to further its efforts to increase the involvementof Territories in the Secretariat's work progmmmes and to report these findings to the l6thSPREP Meeting.

5' The Director then officially opened the meeting. His opening statement isattached as Annex 2.



AGENDA ITEM 2: Selection of Chairperson and Organisational Matters

6. The Meeting elected New Caledonia as Chair.

7. The agenda was adopted without amendment and is attached as Annex 3.

AGENDA ITEM 3: Overview of Meeting

8. The Secretariat outlined the meeting's agenda and emphasised its informative
nature with the aim of improving the understanding of the work both at the Territorial and
Secretariat level, in light of the implementation of the Action Plan and ten year Strategic
Programmes. Based on the expected fruitful discussions, it is the hope that a mechanism
will be identified to promote vertical and horizontal collaboration.

9. The Chair of the meeting proposed that the working groups to be convened during
the meeting should provide for a mixture of French and English speaking groups.

AGENDA ITEM 4: Presentation of SPREP activities implementing the SpREp
Action Plan and the ten Year Strategic Programmes

10. The Secretariat presented its four major focus areas together with the activities for
implementation.

Multilateral Environmental Agreements (MEAs), Regional Coordination Mechanisms and
Partnerships

I l. Under the MEAs, special attention was drawn to numerous existing conventions of
particular interest for Pacific island countries. Technical complexities of conventions, lack
of human and financial resources, and the weakness of legal and institutional framework
of PICTs were mentioned as some of the main problems encountered in managing these
conventions. The Secretariat highlighted that the successful implementation of these
MEAs and inter-linkages would be through strengthening of national governance. A
number of activities were outlined including negotiation training, policy coordination, and
legal assistance. Technical training on specific aspects in the implementation of MEAs is
also another focus areas ofthe Secretariat.

12. Mention was made of the Secretariat's endeavours to strengthen the regional legal
framework comprising the Apia, Noumea and Waigani Conventions together with ihe
Pacific Regional Centre for the Joint implementation of the Basei and Waigani
conventions to provide for synergistic implementation of the relevant global conventions.
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13' Under the Regional Coordination Mechanisms, some of the examples presented bythe Secretariat were the Roundtable for Nature Conservation, climate Change Roundtable
and specific working groups where the Secretariat works in partnership with other regionalorganisations' Although they have their own specific processes, these groups share acornmon goal of partnership and collaboration to implement activities withir each specificstrategy The Pacific Type tr Lritiatives is aiso another coordination mechanismfacilitated by the Secretariat in collaboration with other regional organisations (SpTo,
USP, PIFS and SOpAC).

14' Focusing on-key issues, regional organisations and other partners discuss keyissues implement.g !v each respective. organlsation, highlight gaps and identi$ relevantorganisations to facilitate particular initiatives.

15' In terms of. partnerships, the Secretariat requested the Territories to becomeinvolved in coordination mechanisms and implementation methods trg MauritiusStrategy), development of sector related national plans (eg: climate change) andprograrnmes of work related to islands framework

Environmental Policy, planning, Monitoring and Reporting

16' The Secretariat highlighted relevant documents that supported integrated planning
systems (eg: Pacific Ministers High Level Meeting statement). The Sec-retariat gave adetailed presentation on internal processes to address issues covered under the area ofenvironmental policy and planning as well as broad areas of activities to be implemented
using the programmatic approach (eg: Millennium Development Goals (MDGs), reportingon the Pacific state of the environment (in_partnership *ittt tnmp, EScAp, ADp) andsupporting GIS and remote sensing capacity building (with sopAC). 

-

L7 ' The Regional Synthesis has been published in English and French but theSecretariat pointed to data integrity as one orine problems facei by tt 
" 

ortunisation in thecompilation of such reports.

People and Institutions

18' The Secretariat pointed out that although this particular area is listed underProgramme l, Island Ecosystems, that the perslonnel also work across programme 2,Pacific Futures, as well as in the implementation of activities listed under corporate
Services.

19' It was highlighted that constraints in relation to human resource personnel in-country included high staff turnover, and limited experience and skilis in projectmanagement' Commonalities in opportunities such * p..r support network, country-to-country attachments, and similar initiatives were identified- as areas dor potential
involvement with the Territories. The secretariat called on the assistance of Territorieswho have existing methods in environmental education to share their knowledge and workto promote best practice in the region in education for sustainable developmeni.



20. American Samoa highlighted programmes currently run by Environmental
Protection Agency (EPA) and Department of Commerce that can be promoted by the
Secretariat. American Samoa also pointed out that it may not be just technical assistance
but also there may be funding available within American Samoa to help out where
necessary.

21. Tokelau pointed to their political status as a barrier in the accessing of funds
particularly under the component of information accessing and sharing pacific
Environmental Information Network (PEIN) and requested that a meeting outcome may be
a strategy to support Tokelau access funding to conduct similar initiatives. The Secretariat
suggested that there is a possibility of looking at a counter-part donor to assist fund
activities in countries that are not pacific ACp States.

22. New Caledonia queried the human resource personnel training as identified under
Human Resource Development and stated that it does not provide for a level playing field
for agencies that are not government agencies. The Secretariat respondei that NGO
training is an area where SPREP has been able to find support but only through areas
identifred by their respective governments. The Secretariat p-ointea to ttre Roundtable on
Nature Conservation as an avenue where NGOs could hightight their needs for support. It
is also envisaged that the working groups will identi$ othir avenues for NGO support. Of
course all this will need to be done in close collaboration with respective governments of
Territories.

Ecosystem Management

23' The Secretariat provided an outline of activities currently being implemented
including regional policy advice to support existing strategies (eg: Nationil Biodiversity
Strategies and Action Plans (NBSAP) and National Sustainable Development Strategy
(NSDSs) and MEA negotiations.

24. Constraints and opportunities were identified and the Secretariat highlighted
examples of collaboration with other organisations and groups to achieve beneficial
outcomes, such as the Coral Reef Initiative for the South Pacific (CRISP), currently
implemented in collaboration with AFD. SPREP is looking to strengthen institutional or
country attachments. The Secretariat hopes to see the involvement of the Territories to
strengthen recruitment policies (where a particular requirement would be for the applicant
to be bilingual) and bilingual communication.

25 The representative of AFD offered to make a brief presentation on the coral reef
initiative to take place at a later stage during the meeting.

I
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Species Conservation and Invasive Species

?6 In the presentation on Species Conservation and Invasives Species, the Secretariat
highlighted constraints including the insufficient number of specialists in contradiction to
the huge demand for assistance and resources. The Secietariat urged Territories to
become involved by attending the upcoming meeting in PNG to review the regional
strategy and develop a new work plan. Tenitori.r *"r. also encouraged to join theBirdlife partnership and to collaborate with SPREP and Birdlife to 

-implement 
the

regional shategy' The Secretariat further alluded to large funding sources anticipated thatterritorial NGos would equally be eligible for (eg: donservation Intemational-Critical
Ecosystem Partnership Fund (CI-CEPF) and Regionil Natural Heritage project (Australia)
(RNHP).

27 ' The Marine Species programme has been successful in the development of a turtle
database. The invasive species strategy has been successful so far in the development of
national invasive species strategies, regional strategy on shipping related invasive marines
species and tools and techniques to add.ress invasivi-species.

28' Special mention was made of key partners such as ruCN, Nature Conservancy andcountries like New Zealand and US who have assisted in the coordination and
implementation of activities under the invasive species componenr.

29' 
- 

Invasive species is a cross-cutting issue and the Secretariat highlighted the need for
a mechanism for stronger national, as it was not a problem that could be solved only by
Enviro_nment Departments. It also hopes to see th; ill collaboration of Territories with
other PICs in the implementation of the various plans (eg: pacific Ant prevention plan,

facific lnvasive Species Ivlanagement Project and the'B*iocontrol development project
implemented in collaboration with SpC).

30' The Secretariat highlighted the July meeting in Papua New Guinea and the August
meeting which will be held in Samoa.

3l' 
-French 

Polynesia stated that the Cook Islands had asked French polynesia to assist
repopulate some of their islands in relation to a particular bird species that had been wiped
out during one of the cyclones.

Waste Management and Pollution Control

32' The Secretariat started off by focusing the attention of the meeting on island waste
disposal sites from Tokelau, Kiribati, Marslall Islands, Solomon Islanls, Cook Islands
and Fiji.
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33' Full details of activities covered by this area were outlined. Hazardous material
management includes assistance in identiffing stockpiles of the POPs and other intractable
pesticides as well as technical advice and training for the implementation of the Basel and
Waigani Conventions. Activities under the Solid Waste Management area includes
training to improve institutional capacities and assist improve dispoial facilities and their
management. An example is the upgrading of Samoa's open dump using the Fukuoka
method which will be used as a regional model.

34. The Secretariat pointed to collaborative work currently implemented by the
International Waters Project that relates specifically to waste m*ugem-nt. Attention was
drawn to two important initiatives currently being implemented Lnder this programme
component l) 2005 Year of Action Against Waste Campaign, and 2) Development and
finalisation of the Regional Solid waste Management straiegy ror rtci..
35. The representative of New Caledonia stated that problems may vary according to
the size of the island and that New Caledonia's collectiorand management of waste poses
a reverse problem as compared to some of the other islands. New Caledonia also queried
if the Secretariat looked at recycling as part of their waste management strategy. The
Secretariat responded that it works with governments in looking at various ways of
managing waste; one of which may be minimisation of produced waste or recycling ur u
way of reducing waste.

36' AFD asked if the Secretariat was aware of the offer made by the French
Development Agency at a meeting in New Caledonia as SPREP is one of the major
partners mentioned by UNEP. The Secretariat advised that it was aware of the frf.fgp
initiative, and the proposed French Government funding for this initiative.

37. The Secretariat asked AFD who participated at this meeting - AFD said it was a
special roundtable meeting organised by AFD in collaboration with the Global
Foundation, between Australia and New Caledonia. New Caledonia requested trade
exchange between New Caledonia and Australia and another request on ."oto*ism and
waste management. The AFD presented a broad outline and culminated with a financial
commitment from them.

38. The Secretariat queried the amount of funds offered and AFD stated that the
amount available was not made known during the meeting.

39. New Caledonia asked for fuither clarification on the Fukuoka method.

40. American Samoa queried whether there was a leachate treatment in existence and
the Secretariat responded that it is working with the JICA Waste Management Expert to
develop one. American Samoa also asked if the Secretariat *u. ,"io--ending the
Fukuoka Method to governments as the best waste management solution. The Secretariat
stated that the Fukuoka method was considered as their best option, in light of the small
size of the islands and the limited resources available. The Secretariat made an example
of the French Polynesia sanitary landfill which cost USD$15 million and the CfVfrAf
approx. UsD$30million. These two although very effective are also very expensive.

t
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4l' The AFD stated that the island countries should not just focus on solid waste butalso at invisible forms of pollution such as used *ut.r 1r"*age) which is polluting coralreefs and is an issue that must be dealt with urffi] rrt" decretariat responded thatsewage issues were under the SOPAC mandate orna rurtt e, informed the meeting aboutongoing discussions for future collaborative efforts.

climate change, crimate variabirity and sea Lever Rise, and Atmosphere

42' Focus areas implemented und-e1 this programme were outlined by the secretariat.The Secretariat also presented the Climatr'ch"ung;pru*.*ork and asked if countriescould identifu at least ten adaptation prioriti", ,J that the secretariat could provide astrategic document as opposed to a long wish list. It is hoped that through the framework,these priority issues could be addressed oue, the next ten years and will be the basis forwhich funding will be sought.

AGENDA ITEM5: 'Territory presentation on status of implementation of activitiesthat related to spREp Action-pLn anu r0 year straiegic programmes

French Polynesia:

43' The representative from French Polynesia briefly outlined their priorities (wastemanagement' drinking water and invasiva species) and then identified the particularprogrimlmes of the Secretariat that were applicable io French polynesia, namely invasivespecies' conservation of turtles in the paiific, coastal -*rg...nt programme and theInternational Waters proj ect.

New Caledonia:

44' The representative of New Caledonia covered six sections in his presentation:administrative structure; institutions responsible for environmentat -att"rsi spheres ofcompetence; strengths and weaknesseJ of institutions r..p""liur.'^?lr'it" field ofenvironment and possible collaboration activities between New caledonia and spREp.

45' As 75o/o of flora and fauna species are endemic in New caledonia, a conservationstrategy has been developed to put an end to the loss of biodiversity by the end of 2010..The strategy has five objectivei and New caledonia calls upon France, Europe and thePacific to help meet the objectives as it is- 1 u.ry *riitiou, plan and will require acombined and concerted effort to meet these objectivls-

46' He mentioned New caledonia's strengths as the local expertise and genuinepolitical will to promote the conservation and pritection of the .nuiro'rr,,'rrribut pointed toconstraints in relation to funding. Financial ,.roor.., nrcJ to be increased in a sustainablemanner and New caledonia will need to increase diaiogue with other partners andorganisations on both the national and regional level.I
t



47. New Caledonia acknowledges the similarities of programmes conducted by the
Secretariat and identified areas for close collaboration. 

-He 
pointed to the sharing of

information in the bioprospecting and bio-piracy and possible legal assistance from
SPREP' He stated that there is a need for better insight asto what hai been done in other
parts of the region on environmental indicators.

48. ADF queried whether there were any differences in legislation given the different
Provinces responsible for drawing them up. The representative of New Caledonia
acknowledged that there is a possibility of differences but that there is a genuine attempt
of all institutions towards the conservation and protection of the environment with the
conservation strategy as proof of that.

49. The Secretariat thanked New Caledonia for the succinct and comprehensive
presentation and requested the help of New Caledonia in relation to their local expertise
and research institutions. A query was also posed by the Secretariat on whether Tenitories
were consulted on international conventions especially in reference to the Conference of
the Parties and national reporting to the Conventions.

50. New Caledonia stated that they asked the French Government during the 15th
SPREP Meeting to distribute information on instruments that had been signed by France
on behalf of the Territories.

American Samoa;

5l ' The representative of American Samoa thanked the Secretariat for convening such
an important meeting and reiterated their willingness to offer their available expertise to
assist the Secretariat as well as other member countries when the need arises and where
time and resources permit. They are willing to embrace holistic collaborative activities
but calls for proper measurement and monitoring indicators to ensure resources are utilised
wisely. There is a need for follow up and evaluative mechanisms to be incorporated into
partnerships and country attachments, to ensure that the knowledge gained is useful to and
incorporated into the programmes of the partnering countries. He further strengthened the
desire of American Samoa to maximise the benefit of future collaborations and
partnership' American Samoa appreciates the regional partnership initiative as well as the
dissemination efforts of the Secretariat.

52. He mentioned that American Samoa's Coastal Management programme hosted a
shadow iurangement with its neighbouring island and invited other Spnnp member
countries and territories to make similar shadow arrangements as time permits. They also
called on support of the region in their push for the establishment of a laboratorv in
American Samoa, to assist research efforts throughout the region.

53' The Secretariat asked on the progress of the American Sarnoa offer of assistance to
Niue in relation to a feasibility study or environmental impact assessment (EIA) of the
Loining Factory. American Samoa responded that the assistance to Niue did not come to
fruition but the offer still stands. The Secretariat was advised American Samoa EpA
certainly cannot do everything but where a project is accepted, assistance will be based on
availability of time, material and resources.
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54' The Secretariat asked about American Samoa's campaign on plastic and requestedcloser collaboration efforts especially on lessons leamt to assist other campaigns.American Samoa is looking to reduce plastics coming into the Territory and is currently
Yotking on a pilot project. They also will be lookin! at drawing up a legislation to banplastics.

55' The Secretariat commented on American Samoa's work on invasive species andhow it is a good model that other countries/territories could utilise. French polynesia
queried the study mentioned by American Samoa (ie: economic value of coral reef)whether it was a study on the value of the living itselior of the exploitation of coral reefsin its entirety. American Samoa stated ttrat ttri study focuses on the both the economicvalue and the non-use value of the resources. The entire economic evaluation report isavailable on the website hppt://doc.asg.as/CRAG/Projects.htm and American Samoainvites everyone to read it as it containi information on the whole process of how thecompany contracted calculated the value of the resources.

Guam:

56 The representative from Guam expressed their appreciation for SpREp to convenethis important forum and for the Territories in r..ogniririg the importance of the meetingthrough their attendance.

57 ' Guam stated that they are committed in increasing spREp,s visibility in Guam andvice-versa' Guam also offers expertise available locallyL well as through several entitiesthat they work with (eg: us EpA, Nationar park service, NoAi). The Guamrepresentative highlighted-areas of importance to Guam and encouragea the Secretariat toincrease collaborative work with Guam.

58' Guam hopes that deliberations will give rise to an action oriented work programme
by and between the Secretariat and the rest of the Territories.

Tokelau:

59' The amount of solid waste that comes in to Tokelau is of major concern andrequests the Secretariat was requested to undertake a survey and make properrecommendations to the government of Tokelau to assist them dial with the problem.lnvasive species is also another area of concern given the limited amount of food cropsavailable' Stated that their school curriculum wL reviewed last month in an effort tointroduce environmental issues into the school curriculum and that a strategic plan foreconomic development and environment is being compited. Consultations throughoutTokelau are currently underway.

60' 
-- It is hoped that when the Tokelau Strategic Plan is finalised that it will be linked tothe SPREP Action Plan & Programme Strateg/documents. Tokelau also expressed theirdisappointment with the lack of funding available to assist Tokelau,s activities (eg: pEIN

donor restrictions) and calls on SPREP'i assistance to try to avoid these situations.

I
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61' The Secretariat responded to a question posed to Tokelau in relation to marineprotected areas (MPAs) that a survey was done in zoo: and a report is available. Therewas also another survey done after the cyclone in early 2005 as purt of a UN mission and
191i" that report is available for whoever is interested. The Secretariat commented onTokelau's Strategic Plan and the consultation process with communities. It was withmuch satisfaction that the Secretariat noted that iokelau willmeet the priority as agreed toduring the World Summit on Sustainable Development (WSSD) or *.priing National
Sustainable Development plans by 2005.

French Development Agency (AFD)

62' The AFD presented on the CzuSP projeet and its implementation through 3components.

63' The CRISP was first introduced at the ICRI Meeting held in Japan, and wasofficially launched during the 15ft SPREP Meeting. 60 partners attended a meeting in
January 2005 and CRISP is now about to sign thehnding agreement between the AFD*q *I9:Ying agencies. It is envisaged that it will be launched within the next few months
and will be implemented 

_ovel a 3 year period. All member countries will benefit from this- especially in terms of information sharing. French Territories have been involved
especially in Componentl and there is u porrlbility of more funding through SpREp for
-F-renc! 

Territories (EURol45,000). Additional nrnoing is also envisaged from Australia,
New Zealand and other development partners.

64. Country presentations are attached as Annex 4.

AGENDA ITEM 6: working Group: Development of a framework for areas ofcollaboration

65' Issues discussed and action bodies identified for the implementation of each
activity for working Groups I and 2 are attached as Annex 5.

AGENDA ITEM 7: Practical outcomes of the sectoral working group session

SPREP to work with French folynesia inErms of
gathering and sharing information on the pissing fly and
little red fire ants (electric ants).

Liz Dovey, SPREP

Connect invasives people fromGuam with SPREF
SPREP interested in collecting tnffi
Polynesia and New Caledonia on how they are dealing with
invasive species issues (specifically miconia, ants) to;hare
with other members.

Liz Dovey, SPREP

SPREP to explore ways to -obi@
to Tokelau in terms of invasive ants

Liz Dovey, SPREP
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ACUOn

-

Willparticipateinffi Action taken by:
French Polynesia, New CaledoniiMarine water quality mapping@

Polynesia. SPREP to discuss with French polynesia where
necessary on how to mobilize such exnerfise

Dominique Benzaken, SpREp

\-urtlrrtuc qrscusston on turile conservatlon with French
Polynesia, New Caledonia and Guam

Arure Trevor, SPREP

orrr-c,r ru snare expenences and lessons learned from the rest
of the Pacific in relation to enforcement for MpAs with Guam
and American Samoa

Dominique Benzaken, SpREp

Involve Tokelau in CRISp Dominique Benzaken, SpREp
t_aeqify territory partic ipant fb@
the Roundtable

Liz Dovey, SPREP

\,uursrnare excnange oI best prachces in relation to invasive
species and bird conservation with all of the Terr.itnrip"

Liz Dovey, SPREP

Drr\-Er u*eresres ln now rrencn polynesia has involved the
business sector in coral reef manasement-

Dominique Benzaken, SpREp

r-4\,urrals ure snnnng oI lessons learned on community based
models for co-management of coral reefs.

Dominque Benzaken, SpREp

Seek participation of th
2006.

Anne Trevor, SPREP

\-LIIYIAIII U|1ANGU
Drrr-Er uneresreo ln outcomes of research on cltmate change
impacts on coral reefs from Guam

Dominique Benzaken, SpREp

clrrr-c,r ru worK wlrn rrencn polynesla and New Caledonia to
look at their experiences in relation to solar and wind power
and sharing it with member countries_

Solomone Fifita, SPREP

yvru provlse/snare cnta rom the chmate Monitoring and
Diagnostic Laboratory (Clean air station) on renrecr

American Samoa

vyuurq lrKE uuonnauon on mappmg ot'inundation pattems in
New Caledonia and to share this with other members in
relation to climate change impacts.

Dominique Benzaken, SpREp

WADII' IVIAI\A(jEMENT
SPREP to showcase success stoffi
management - eg French polynesia's recycling facility and
waste minimization activities such as the bag for life. 

-

Frank Griffrn, SPREP and Tamara-
Logatt, SPREP

Guam would like to sh"re ex@
minimization, recycling and waste a*areneis activities.

Frank Griffin, SPREP and Tamara-
lpgan, SPREP, lnternational Waters
Programme - possibly facilitate a
waste focused session at the SpREp
meeting.

LI(UDU UUI'IING
Tokelau called for consideration@
attachments and similar capacity building activities.

Frank Wickham, SPREp
(facilitation role by SPREP possible
action by other territories)

rrcuun ror)rnesla ls wlltmg to provrde SpREp with technical
information in relation to studies conducted by their various
agencies

French Polynesia

Guam and American Samoa ar@
other SPREP members especially in tenns of counnry
attachments and training opportunities such as the waste
nranagement initiatives and the coastal manasement
programme

Frank Wickham (facilitation rolej
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Action Action taken bv:
New Caledonia is interested in working with other SpREp
members particularly on forestry resource information and
bushfire impact management and fire hazardassessment and
planning processes.

Kate Brown, and Matt Mclntyre
SPREP could facilitate information
exchange.

lnvolve Territories in environmental assessment and planning
toolkits (mining)

Matt Mclntyre, SPREP

SPREP to promote involvement of Guam in state of the
environment reporting process.

Matt Mclntyre, SPREP

New Caledonia could make available laboratory service to
other members in 5 years time depending on availability of
facilities
Member countries and Secretariat to look at making masters of
educational resources developed available for use by others to
save on cost of printing, fanslating and posting

Chris Peteru, Tamara Logan (for
Secretariat resources & a fac ilitation
role for member countries)

Tokelau would like assistance with the development of SD
policies

MattMclntyre, SPREP

Involve territories in environmen[al assessment and planmng
toolkits

Matt Mclntyre, SPREP

Coordinate exchange of best practices on use of economic
instnrments and resource valuation

Matt Mclnryre, SPREP

American Samoa has the capacity and can consider how they
can assist other SPREP members on request in monitoring and
reporting, environmental assessments for development
projects or other environmental studies (eg sediment toxicity,
tenestrial mercury assessment studies)

American Samoa

Can provide results of specific to studies to other members (eg
fish toxicity study, sediment toxicity etc)

American Samoa

Where someone has a specific training request, American
Samoa can give them specific training.

American Samoa

Include Territories Focal Points in GIS activities/promote use
of territory expertise.

Matt Mclntyre, and Dominique
Benzaken SPREP

Coordinate exchange of best practice on use of economic
instruments and resource valuation.

Matt Mclntyre and Dominique
Benzaken. SPREP

Assist Tokelau in reconciling draft National Development
Plan and Sustainable Development principles/obiectives

Matt Mclntrye, SPREP

Interested in investigating a case study in New Caledonia
looking at institutional arrangement in ICZM and CRM to
look at the barriers and what they have used to overcome this.

Dominique Benzaken, SPREP

lnvestigate mechanisms to engage the Territories in the use of
the Ramsar Convention to manage wetlands.

Dominique Benzaken, Vainuupo
Jungblutt. SPREP

Investigate mechanisms to engage territories in the
implementation of regional strategies (eg PIROF, Action
Strategy for Nature Conservation)

Dominique Benzaken and Kate
Brown, SPREP

PROCESS ISSTIES
Provide adequate notice for meeting invitations and agenda to
allow for preparation, budgeting and decision time.

SPREP

Would like to be increasingly involved in technical workshops
subject to appropriate plans

French Polynesia

Territories to provide the Secretariat with a list of contact
points especially in relation to specific Drosrammes

t2



I
I

Annex I

Participants List
AMERICAI\ SAMOA
Mr. Peter Peshut
Acting Director
American Samoa Env ironmental
Protection Agency (EpA)
PO Box PPA
PAGO PAGO
American Samoa 96799

Ms. Virginia Farmer
Coral Management Fellow
The Governofs Coral Reef Advisory Group
and Coral Reef Initiative-American 

-Samoa'

Oflice in: American Samoa Deparfrient of Commerce
Pago Pago, American Samoa 96799

Mr. Faleseu Eliu paopao

Director
Departnent of Commerce
American Samoa Governmenr
96799 Pago Pago
American Samoa

FRANCE
Mr. Hugues Nordi
Deputy Permanent Rcpresentative
ofFrance to SPC
Delegation francaise aupres de la CpS
98807 NOUMEA CEDEX
New Caledonia

FRENCH POLYIIESIA
Mr. Maurice Lau poui Cheung
Foreign Affairs Departnent
French Polynesia Government
Tahiti
French Polynesia

GUAM
Mr. Michael Mann
Chief Information Offrcer (Special Assisrant
to the Administrator)

Guam Environmental protection Agency
PO Box 22439
GMF, Barrigada
Guam 96921

NEW CALEDOMA
Mrs.Isabelle Ohlen
President Commission de I'environment
9 Route des articles - Baie
De la Moselle
BP Ll 98849
Noumea Cedex

Tel : (684) 633 2304
Fax: (684) 633 5801
Email : ppeshut@yahoo.com

Tel: (684) 633 5155
Fax: (684) 633 4195
Ernail: vfarmer@doc.asg.as

Tel: (684) 633 5155
Fax: (684) 633 4l95
Email:

Tel: (687) 261603
Fax: (687)261266
Email: Hugues.NORDl@diplomatie.gouv.fr

Tel : (689) 47.22.68
Fax: (689)
Email: Maurice laupouicheuns@nresidence.pf

I (671) 475 1646
r (671) 477 9402
mmann@ guamepa. gov zuam-net

Tel: (687) 258 000
Fax: (687)274900
Email: isabelle..ohlen@$rovince.sud.nc

Tel:
Fax :

Email:
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Elisabettr Grernont
Assistant
Regional Cooperation and External Relations
BP M2 - 98849
Noumea Cedex
New Caledonia

Mr. Joseph Manaute
Member of Govemment
Charge de l'agriculnre
De l'elevage et de la peche
Noumea Cedex
New Caledonia

Mr. Jean-Jeronr Cassan
Environment Ofticer
Environment Division
PO Box 4l
98 800 Kone
New Caledonia

Mr Daniel Poigoune
Vice President
Northem Province of New Caledonia
BP 41,98860 Kone
New Caledonia

Ms Caroline Machoro
Congress Mcmber
Congress of New Caledonia
Noumea
New Caledonia

I\TEW ZEALAFII)
Mr. MalcolmMillar
Deputy High Commissioner
New Zealand High Commission
Beach Road
APIA

TOKELAU
Mr. Pelasio Mose
Policy Advisor
Dept. of Economic Development & Environment
Tauata o Faleagafirlu Building
Fakaofo
Tokelau

Ms. P'ka-Mauga Ake
Head ofPlanning & Monitoring
Tokelau Government
Taufusi
Apia
Samoa

Tel: (687)246522
Fax: (687)246524
Email: coopresfAqouv.nc

Tel: (687)2465 54
Fax: (687) 24 6627
Email: ioseph.rnanaute@gouv.nc

Tel: (687)477239
Fax: (687)477135

Email: dde-environnement@Jrovince-nord.nc

Tel: (687) 47 7l 45
Fax: (687) 47 2472
Email: presidence@rorovince-nord.nc

Tel: (687) 266930
Fax: (687) 266933
Email: vc@province-nord.nc

Tel: (685) 21711
Fax: (685) 20086
Email: MalcolrnMillar@mfat.govt.nz

Tel: (690)3127
Fax: (690) 3l 18
Email: mose.pelasio@clear.net.nz

Tel: (685) 32325
Fax: (685) 32328
Email: akepuka@lesamoa.net
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Conservation International (Ce
Mr. Francois Martel
Technical Director - Melanesia CBC program
and Team Leader for pollmesia-Micronesia
Hotspot
Conservation lnternational
c/- SPREP
PO Box 240
Apia
Samoa

Secretariat of the Pacific Community (SpC)
Ms. Mary Power
Coordinator Reef Fisheries Observatorv
Secretariat of the Pacific Communitv
B.P D5
Noumea
New Caledonia

CRISP Project
Mr. Eric Clua
Chefde projet - Project manager
Initiative Corail pour le pacifique Sud (CRISp)
Coral Reef lnitiative for the South pacific (CRISP)
CPS/SPC. BP D5
98848 Noum6a Cedex
New-Caledonia

wMo
Mr. Henry Taiki
Programme Officer
WMO Subregional Offrce for the South West pacific
PO Box 3044
APIA
Samoa

Tel: (685) 21953
Far (68s )21593
Email: fmartel@conservation.org

Tel: (687)2620001260148
Fax: (687) 263818
Email: MaryP@spc.int

Tel:
Fax:

(687) 26 s4 7r
(687) 26 s4 7r
Email: eucc@spc.int

Ms. Valerie Hassan
lnterpreter/Translator
Noumea
New Caledonia

Mr. Jean Luc Genion
6 National St
Leictrhardt 2040
Australia

Tel: (685) 25706
Fax: (685\25771
Email: HenryT@sprep.ors

Tel: (687) 43 48 30
Fax (687) 43 48 30
Ernail: valhassan@canl.nc

Tel: (61) 2 9569 969s
Fax: (61) 2 9569 9695
Email: Jlgenion@tpe.com-au

l5



Bertold Schmitt
Conference Interpreter
62 Bix Road
Sydney - Deewhy, NSW 2099
Aushalia

Annex I

Tel: (612) 9971 7861
Fax: (612\99717562
Email: BertoldSchmitt@comnuserve.com

Tel: (612)9398 1767
Fax: (612) 8569 1383
Email: Olivier@french.comau

Tel: (649) 39 1660
Fax: (649) 39 1663
Ernail; inconser@ihue.co.nz

Mr. Olivier Richard
Chief Translator
2l Queen Sheet
Randwich NSW 2031
Aushalia

TECEDIICIAN

Mr. Alan Doyle
Technician
Language Professionals Ltd
15 Day Street
Newton, Auckland
New Zealand

PO Box 240
Vailima
Apia
Samoa

Asterio Takesy
Director

Kate Brown
Action Snategy Adviser

Sanri Bentin
Infonnation Resource Centre Manager

Andrea Volentras
Climate Change Coordinator

Emma Sale-Mario
Assistant Ozone Depleting Substance Offrcer

Amena Yauvoli
Sustainable Development Policy Adviser

Tamara Logan
Education & Social Communication Officer
Liz Dovey
Bird Conservation & Invasive Species Officer

Tel : (685) 21 929
Fax: (685) 20231
Email : sDreo@sDreD.ors

Taito John Roache
Corporate Services Manager

Alofa Salima Tuuau
Finance Manager

Jacques Mougeot
Environmental Law Adviser

Taito Nakalew
Climate Change Adaptation Oflicer

Paula Holland
Natural Resource Economist - IWp

Frank Griffrn
Pollution Prevention Coordinator

Frank Wickham
Human Resource Development/Training Offrcer
Dominique Benzaken
Coastal Management Adviser
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Coral Pasisi
Sucuinable Devoloprnent Offiger

Aliita$i Uesele-Feaia
lT/$.letwork Ofrcer

Fauline Fnrpan
Couference and Travel Officer

Theresa Fnrean
Prcg4aina Assistant
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Introductory Remarks by the Director of SpREp
Asterio Takesv

Reverend Ailani Tanielu

Distinguished representatives of the Pacific Islands Territories, France, New Zealand and
the United States of America, distinguished representatives of the Secretariat of the pacific
Community (SPC), World Meterological Organization (WMO), AFD and Conservation
International, my fellow SPREP stafl ladies and gentlemen.

It is indeed my pleasure to welcome you all [de vous souhaiter la bienvenueJ to your
PREP headquarters.

It is my strong sense that this three day meeting on increasing integration of the pacific
Island Territories into the work programme of the Secretariat of the Pacific Regional
Environment Programme. Is a crucial step to enhance the role of the territoriis, as
Members of SPREP integration is two-way process, thus this meeting will also strengthen
the secretariat's role with the territories in addressing your aspirations related to the
sustainable development of the region. To a large extent the PREF action plan has set the
parameters for the next five years and implementing the Action Plan will bi carried out by
the SPREP ten year Strategic Programmes. As we know, l'union fait la force.> ? Let uts
be reminded that these were officially endorsed at the last meeting of PREP in Pape'ete.

Both documents require that we strengthen our approach to the territories through ongoing
discussion, interaction, exchange and active participation----strengthening collaboration
and cooperation on all fronts.

With this aim of achieving strengthened cooperation with and involvement of the
territories, we must bridge a number of gaps already identified at the informal consultation
which took place in September during the l5th SPREP Meeting in Pape'ete. Among
others, these are related to:

' The lack of a mechanism to mobilise the expertise available within the territories to
assist other Pacific island members;! Weakness of the dialogue between Pacific island countries and Pacific islands
territories

. The language barrier (french-english) ;r The more effective participation of the territories as full SPREP members ;. The eligibility of territories with certain donors ;. The dissemination of information to the territories ; andI The lack of SPREP visibility at the territorial level
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How can we together bridge these gaps?

This is exactly the goal of the meeting with its three specific objectives. These are:

' To provide the territories with an in depth knowledge of spREp programmes andactivities;

' To provide the secretariat with a better understanding of the resources availablewithin the territories together with their needs; and
' To identify collaborative efforts towards the implementation of the action plan andthe l0 year strategic programmes

I would like, at this juncture, to reiterate the- critical importance of this meeting and theneed for practical results, so we can proudly report on it, successful outcome to o'rofficials in september. In saying this, let me recall it. rinn Environment Ministers,Forum which:

<Requested the secre-tariat tofurther its eforts to increase the involvement of territories inthe programmes of sPREP and welcomii the secretariat' initiative to hold-a workshop in2qq,-addressing increased territory participation and to report the outcome to the l6thSPREP Meeting of Officials. >

Your willingness to work closer with the secretariat as demonstrated by your attendance today is asignificant beginning' Let us therefore begin to forge the ,"tuii-o*t ip, thal will .nuui" tr," sharing of
:JfiH"r,*d 

experiences between and o'ur membir countries and territori", * *"it as with your

In closing, let me wish all of you fruitftl deliberations, and a most doyable meeting withmeaningful outcomes.

bonne chance a vous tous.

Thank you.

Fa'afetai tele.

Soifua
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The specific objectives of the meeting are:

o To provide the Territories with an in depth knowledge of SPREp programmes and
activities;

o To provide SPPEP Secretariat with a good understanding of the resources available
within the Territories together with your needs; and

o To identiff collaborative efforts towards the implementation of the Action plan and the
l0 Year Strategic programme

Provisional Agenda

MONDAY, l3th June 2005

09:00-9 :30 Registration

9 :30-10 :00 Opening Prayer

Opening Statements

Election of the Chair

l0 :00-10 :30 Overview of the Meeting

10:30-11 :00 Morning Tea

ll :00-12 :00
Presentation of sPREP activities implementing the SpREp Action plan and l0 year
Shategic Programmes and Q & A

) MEAs, Regional Coordination tutechaniJms andTa.tnerships
D Environmental Policy and plannjng
) Environment Monitoring ana Reporting
) People and lnstitutions

l2 :00-13 :30 Lunch

l3 :30-15 :00
continuation of presentation of SpREp activities inplementing the spREp Action
Plan and the l0 Year Stategic Programmes e&A

) Ecosystem Management
D Species conservation and invasive species
) Waste Management and Pollution Connol
) Climate Change, variability and sea-level rise

I5:00-15 :30 Afternoon Tea

l5 :30-17 :30
Territory presentation on status of implementation of activities that relates to SpREp
Action Plan and l0 Year Strategic programmes

F French Polynesia

D Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands
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TUESDAY,14 June 2005

9 :00-10 :00 General discussion ; Elements for possible collaboration
Review of expertise available wi
mobilise such exnertise
Review of needs of the Territories
them

l0 :00-10 :30 Morning Tea
l0 :30-12 :00 Working Groups (1 and 2)

Development of a framework for areas of collaboration :
funding issues, areas of collaboration ..,)

12 :00-1 :30

l3 :30-15 :00 Continuation of working groups

15 :00-15.15

l5 :15-17:00 one by one consultation : Delegates-SpREp Secretariat staff on specific subjects of
interest

WEDNESDAY, l5th June 2005
9 :00-10:30 Presentation of working group results and report back on one by one discussion

(Q&A)

10 :30-11 :00 Morning Tea

ll :00-12 :00 continuation of working groups results and report back on one by one discussion
(Q&A) and recommendations on the way forward

l2 :00-13 :30 Lunch with SPREP staff and opportunities f,or further discussion on areas of
collaboration

16 :00- 17 :00 Presentation of findings of the meeting and agreed actions and recommendations for
increasing integration into the work programme of the secretariat

l7:00-17:15 Closing remarks

Cocktail hosted by SPREp Director
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Statement by Government of American Samoa

Talofa!

I would like to begin by thanking SPRE? for facilitating both this meeting as well as
continued partnerships throughout the region. After learning more about SpREp's action
plan y{ strategies yesterday, I am confident that American Samoa can contribute to and
benefit from increased involvement in SPREP. We are eager to share the broad range of
technical skills and knowledge we possess, and several of our current initiatives could
certainly make use of the knowledge of our regional neighbors.

NATURAL RES OURCE MANAGEMENT
Several of the documents I provided SPREP with this morning serve to illustrate our
integrated approach to natural resource management. Our Ocean Resource Management
Plan and our Three-Year Local Action Shategy to address threats to our coral reefs were
both developed through interagency collaboriiion. Both of these management plans are
living documents, which will continue to be evaluated and adjusted so 

-as 
to continually

improve the sustainable management and conservation of our natural resources.

lncreased communication regarding the variety of management strategies and lessons
learned throughout the region will increase the effectiveness of these initiatives. Our
Coastal Management Program recently hosted several of our Samoan counterpans as part
of a shadow program. We invite other SPREP members to make similar arrangements, as
schedules permit.

POLLUTION PREVENTION
American Samoa's Environmental Protection Agency and Coastal Management program
are working to reduce the level of non-point source pollution entering the c-oastal waters.

ln cooperation with the American Samoa Community College and the Natural Resource
conservation District, we have initiated erosion controiprojects.

Our solid waste reduction efforts include an upcoming recycling contest and plastic bag
reduction campaign.

CLIMATE CHANGE
We are currently seeking funding for the construction of a territorial marine laboratory thatwill support management driven research, including climate change impacts and
adaptation research, which will be of interest throughoui the region. This laboratory will
magni$ the research efforts already underway in tlie territory, by drawing in more high-
level researchers to answer questions of importance to the suitainable mariagement of our
resources.

ENVIRONMENT MOMTORING AND REPORTING
American Samoa's Territorial Coral Reef Monitoring Program recently completed the first
round of data collection, and the Monitoring Plan will sootr be available to the public.

I
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our Community Based Marine Protected Areas Program is in the process of developing asocioeconomic monitoring program, and we recentlfcompleted and released an EconomicValuation of American Samoa's coral reefs.

HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING
Increased-regional participation in training events and workshops is important to AmericanSamoa' We would like to see SPREP provide assistance to our regional counrerparts
interested in participating in training ruenir. and workshops held wittrlitrre territory. This
assistance could take the form of both dissemination of event information as well asprovision of travel funds for regional participants.

Additionally, it is important that American Samoa is able to participate in regional
workshops and meetings regardless of funding availability or restrictions.

I have presented here just a few of our many projects that may be of interest to the SpREpcommunity' Our managers will embrace opportunities for further collaboration on any of
these issues, however it is critical to incorporate evaluation and follow-up measures into
such collaborative activities in order to ensure that we are all using our time and resourceswisely' This said, I look forward to our increased participation in SpREp undertakings,
which I am confident will stem from this meeting. rilank you ror your time and attention.
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Statement by Government of Guam

Hafa Adai, Talofa, and Bonjour, Madam Chair, distinguished delegates, Secretariat staff, and
observers. On behalf of the Government of Guam, I would like to express my appreciation to
the Secretariat for convening this important forum, and to the tenitory and country
representatives present here today for recognizing the importance of this opportunity for
strengthening environment and conservation programs in our islands, and for the opportunity
to increase our effective participation in regional initiatives. I regret that we were not able to
send a larger delegation to this meeting, but unfortunately our efforts to prepare for the 24th
Annual Pacific Islands Environment Conference, which we will host next week, and the
difficulty in obtaining reasonable travel arrangements precluded a larger presence.

Guam is committed to SPREP's prograrnmes, and we appreciate the direction and vision
outlined in the SPREP Action Plan 2005-2009 and the programmatic approach to sustainable
service delivery by the Secretariat. We are also committed to finding ways to increase
SPREP's visibility in the territories and the territories' visibility within SPREP.

The Guam Environmental Protection Agency, which I represent, is the SPREP focal point for
Guam. We also have other Govemment of Guam agencies that share close programmatic ties
with SPREP programmes, including the Guam Department of Agriculture, which
encompasses many biodiversity conservation activities under its Division of Aquatics and
Wildlife Resources and its Division of Forestry; the Guam Coastal Management Program;
and two entities at the University of Guam: its Marine Laboratory and the Water and
Environmental Research lnstitute of the Western Pacific.

Guam also benefits from the active and effective participation of several U.S. government
partners on issues related to SPREP programmes, including the U.S. Department of
Agriculture, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, the National Parks Service and the
Fish and Wildlife Service under the U.S. Department of the lnterior, and the National
Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, including the Western Pacific Regional Fishery
Management Council.

These entities and their expertise in various program areas can be an asset to SPREP and its
members, and Guam is committed to working at the local level to facilitate the
communication and coordination needed to make the connections between our experts and
the regional mechanisms that SPREP promotes - and also directly between Guam and other
SPREP members.

ln looking at specific programmes where Guam is best prepared to share experience, several
areas stand out, including: pollution prevention and waste management; marine and coastal
ecosystems and coral reef management; environmental impact assessments; invasive species;
water quality monitoring; information management and exchange; and environmental
education.

T
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Guam would also like to leam from our neighbors in the region on these and other issues. As
has been mentioned here already, we often find ourselveJ looking to mainland models for
training and programme implementation. However, in our .*p.i"n.., we,ve often found
that interactions with our Pacific neighbor countries and territoriis is vital and valuable to our
programme development process, and we would like to increase opporttrnities for our people
to engage at the regional level through trainings, workshops, country attachments, and other
interactions.

Gulm encourages the Secretariat to strongly consider the opportunities and constraints to
territory participation in SPREP initiatives at the outset of programme and project
development. Our commitment to work closely with SPREP and SpREp members
necessitates the Secretariat work closely with donors to find ways to at least integrate
territory participation for the benefit of the entire Pacific region. As we look to increiing
our involvement, however, I must stress the need for balancJd cost effectiveness. Guam has
limited financial and time resources, and we also desire to draw upon as few SpREp
resources as possible while remaining effective in our efforts. Please note that, in most cases,
we 

1re not looking to avail ourselves of resources that might otherwise go to more financially
challenged SPREP members, but instead we are simply looking for a sJat at the table and an
opportunity to share our experience and to learn fromour neigh6ors.

It is easy to be either overly enthusiastic or only cautiously optimistic about the subject of thismeeting. We hope that all participants wiil be enthusiastic yet we also hopl that our
deliberations result in a prudent and realistic course of action, even if such action takes some
time to root in the various SPREP work programme elements. I look forward to engaging
this week with the Secretariat and my cotl"ugr,er from the Pacific territories to find new
opporrunities to strenglhen 

-our 
programs at home and in the region, ond to ultimately

improve the environment and health of our islands and our people.

Thank you, Merci, and Dangkolo na Si yu'os Ma'ase.

25



tAnnex 4

Statement by Government of New Caledonia

1 | New Caledoniais

New Caledonia's administrative and political organisation is governed by the provisions of
Title XItr of the French Republic's Constitution, by the guidance of the Noumea Accord of
8 November 1998, by the amended Organic Law No 99-2A9 of 19 March 1999 and by
amended Act No 99-210 of 19 March 1999.

New Caledonia today is a sui generis entity in the French Republic, i.e., an entity with a
unique legal status and unique powers. Indeed, New Caledonia is the only entity to which a
Title in the Constitution has been devoted. The term "Overseas country", frequently used, is
thus not legally precise and has no constitutional value.

ln summary, New Caledonia's political and adminishation organisation rests on three basic
institutions:

' The Provinces (South, North and Loyalty Islands), representatives of which are
elected by direct universal suffrage.

' The Congress, New Caledonia's true parliament, whose members also belong to each
of the three Provincial Assemblies (32 members for the South Province, 15 for the
North Province and 7 for the Loyalty Islands Provincer).

r The Govemment, the executive body, is elected by proportional representation, thus
ensuring representation of the various political groups. It is responsible to Congress.
The Government is collegial and elects a president from its members.
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New Caledonia's institutions are thus the Congress, the Govemment, the Customary Senate,
the Economic and Social council (ESC) and the customary councils.

I

I

I

The French High commissioner is custodian of the French
Caledonia. He or she represents the French Government.

Republic's powers in New

In this institutional framework, New Caledonia exercises "shared sovereignty''together with
the French State' Indeed, the transfers of power carried out in favour of New Caledonia are
irreversible, and the French State can therefore no longer intervene in the areas ofjurisdiction
thus allocated to New Caledonia.

New Caledonia has jurisdiction inter alia in the following areas: direct and indirect taxes and
fees, regulation of social welfare, regulation of governirent procurement, labour law and,
without prejudice to action by the Provinces in ttris area, vocational training, customi
procedures, extemal trade, management of mining resources, the exploration, development,
conservation and management of the EEZ's biological and non-biological ,rrou.rrr,
management of water resources and biosecurity (sanitary inspection at borderf.

The French State retains jurisdiction in several areas, in particular nationality, defence,
currency' justice and criminal law, as well as entry and length of rtry by foreigners.

Each Province has jurisdiction in all matters that are not vested in the French State or in New
Caledonia by the statutory Organic Law or in municipalities by laws applyrng in New
Caledonia. In particular, this involves general jurisdiction in environmentall matters. Thisjurisdiction is thus exercised by the Provinces by default, in the legal sense of the term,

The municipalities exercise jurisdiction in relation to waste management, sanitation, and
disaster and emergency services (fire-fi ghters).

Moreover, during the coming terms, New Caledonia may, under certain conditions, request
further transfers of power. They will basically concern civil law and status, police and
security regulations regarding internal air traffic and maritime traffrc in territorial waters,
private primary education, public and private secondary education and the accounting and
financial system of public bodies.

Internally, the organisation of powers transferred by the French State rests on consultation,
dialogue and respect for all econornic and social stakeholders.
The recognition of Kanak identity contained in the preamble to the Noumea Accord bears
witness to this intention to establish political and social consensus in New Caledonia. In this
respect, New Caledonia's Govemment is elected collegially by proportional representation,
i.e. it brings together the minority and majority parties in managing tt 

" "o.tnunity's 
affairs.
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ln respect to extemal relations, New Caledonia has major powers. Indeed, in addition to the
powers traditionally acknowledged to territorial institutions in domestic law-those of
entering into decentralised cooperation agreements, requesting that international negotiations
be begun by the competent French State authorities or participating in negotiating and
entering into intemational agreements as part of the French delegation-the commencement
of the Organic Law of 19 March 1999 marked a new stage in decentralising the exercise of
what was, until then, an almost exclusive power of the French State.

Today New Caledonia can:

' directly negotiate agreements, in accordance with the French Republic's international
commitments, with one of more Pacific states, territories or regional bodies and with
regional bodies attached to the United Nations' specialised agencies.

' with the agreement of the French authorities, be a member or associate member of
international organisations or be an observer at them. It is represented there by the
President of the Government or his or her representative. It may have representation at
the European Community.

' have representation in Pacific states or territories.

The institutional legislator thus endowed New Caledonia with tools enabling it to develop its
own foreign policy, always in accordance with France's international obligations, strengthen
its links with other Pacific states and territories (in the broad sense) and therefore develop and
improve its regional cooperation and integration.

The richness of New Caledonia's marine and land natural heritage is shown both by its
diversity and by its unique and original character. For these reasons, New Caledonia is
recognised worldwide as containing one of the most important heritage areas of a greatly
endangered planet. Indeed, characterised by a land endemicity rate of 75% (on average)
including both fauna and flora, any human activity is likely to have a significant impact on
habitats and even species, which are sometimes characterised by micro-endemicity
phenomena.

Awareness by the French State and New Caledonia's local authorities and communities of
this extreme richness and the threats affecting it have drawn them together around a plan to
enshrine New Caledonia's future within sustainable development, a development that
respects ecological, economic and social balance.

As part of international commitments made by France to stop the loss of biodiversity between
now and 2010, each New Caledonian institution responsible for managing and conserving
natural heritage has, according to its jurisdiction, developed action plans for biodiversity
conservation.
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Actions concerning biodiversity conservation that are considered a priority by the three
Provinces and the New Caledonian Govemment were thus recently defined, tolether with the
High Commission, in a five-year action plan. The objective is to involve New Caledonia in
development of the National Strategy for Protection of Biodiversity, a true action plan by the
French State whose ultimate purpose is to stop loss of biodiversity throughout French
territory by 2010.

New Caledonia's draft priority action plan is in the process of being approved by all the New
Caledonian institutions. It has five objectives, each one including iriplementation sections.

objective 1 : Maintain good quality ecology in the territory

r Set up a program,for monitoring, controlling and eradicating invasive species within a
framework agreed and coordinated betwe.nlh" Provinces unO Nr* Catloonia.

' Implement an operational program for preventing and fighting bush fires.
. Develop rational management of water resources.

I

. Minimise the impact of construction
sites, especially mining sites.

operations and restore or rehabilitate degraded

' Ensure that greater account is taken of sensitive natural environments in development
plans and town planning.

objective 2 : Develop an ambitious program for conservation of land and marine
ecosystems

' Consolidate the Program for Dry Forest Conservation and extend this approach to
other threatened ecosystems.

' Increase the network of land and marine protected areas.r Register New Caledonia's coral reef siies and associated ecosystems on the World
Heritage List.r Strengthenprotection ofendangered species.

objective 3 : Get to know the biodiversity in order to better manage and conserve it
r Establish iiodiversity and natural environments observatory.. lncrease knowledge of ecosystems and species.r Set up biodiversity banks.

' set up an international centre for research on marine biodiversity.
' Develop the (CNRT) support-research focus to promote ra[ional development of

mining resources.

I
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objective 4 : Recognise the economic value of biodiversity

' Define a legal framework for the use of genetic resources and the prevention
biopiracy.

r Set up banks of local economic varieties to promote them,
' Adopt tools to estimate the value of living things in development and economic plans.. Develop ecotourism.

Objective 5 : Increase the extent to which public policy and urban, rural and
customary communities take account of biodiversity

r Promote participatory management of resources and natural environments and make
individuals more responsible.. lnclude the intemational dimension in public policy.. Develop incentive measures for various sectors.

Moreover, the action plan's ambitious objectives can only be attained effectively by
implementing these priority actions, by means of basic additional measures such as
sanitation, waste management and rational management of economic activities such as those
linked to mining development.

Given the status of New Caledonia's biodiversity, both regionally and also globally, the plan
for financing the conservation effort at the local level must be equal to the priority u.iion
plan's ambition for protecting New Caledonian biodiversity.

Thus, New Caledonia's institutions have drawn attention to the need for financial support
from France, Europe, indeed from the international community in the pacific, to meet the
very great challenge of implementing this action plan.

Already, priority actions are proposed for inclusion in the development contracts between the
French State and New caledonia's institutions for the 2006-2010 period.

However, additional resources must be found.

The Provinces

Under Article 20 of amended Organic Law No 99-209 of 19 March 1999 and by amended
Act No 99-2lO of 19 March 1999, each Province has jurisdiction in all matters that are not
vested in the French State or in New Caledonia by these Acts, or in municipalities by laws
applyng in New Caledonia.

In this case, this involves general jurisdiction in environmental matters. This jurisdiction is
thus exercised by the Provinces by default, in the legal sense of the term.

In order to do this, the Provinces are endowed with legislative powers in their areas of
jurisdiction as well as appropriate enforcement and administrative mlchanisms.

I
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New Caledonia's Government

ln exercising its jurisdiction, New Caledonia's Government takes part in environmental
management. Basically, this involves:

' Management of water resources; streams (waterways domain) and continental fresh
water are Government property and managed by the Government.

' Management of biosecurity, border inspection for both plant and animal health.
I Conservation and management of the EEZ's biological and non-biological resources.

The Municipalities

The municipalities exercise jurisdiction regarding waste management and sanitation of waste
water both in urban (public and semi-public sanitation systems) and rural areas (separate
sanitation system). Moreover, they must organise disaster and emergency protection for
persons and goods (fire-fighters) in consultation with the High Comriissibn-'s Emergency
Preparedness Department.

The French State

Finally, the French State takes part in environmental management, particularly under itsjurisdiction relating to maritime traffic interritorial waterslballast water reguiation covering
ships cruising in territorial waters) and scientific research.

There are two types of inter-institutional collaboration:

' Informal, thanks in particular to inter-departmental technical meetings on various
themes between the Provinces, the Government and the French State (wildlife
Technical G91p, Invasive Species Group, Registration of Reef on World Heritage
List Technical Group, etc).

r Formal, in particular through implementation of agreed actions arising from specific
programs (Program for Dry Forest Conservation, IFRECOR, ZONE-CO, the future
Nickel and Environment CNRT etc); environmental education benefits from activities
by the Environmental Education Centre.

Furthermore, the Mining Advisory Committee, the Research Advisory Council and the future
Environment Advisory Committee, where all the New Caledonian institutions are
represented, offer opportunities for discussion and exchange, thereby promoting resource
pooling and formulation of proposals.

However, Iimits on collaboration are set by the procedures for implementing development
strategies which overall are specific to each province.
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Each institution tailors its capacities and means to the extent of its involvement in each of its
areas ofjurisdiction, on the one hand, and to the extent of its resources, on the other.

Thus, there are approximately a hundred staff directly involved in environmental
management in the South Province (basically within the Natural Resources Offtce);
approximately thirty in the North Province (basically within the Offices of Economic
Development and the Environment, Development and Real Property) and about ten in the
Islands Province (basically within the Economic Affairs Office). Under the New Caledonian
Government, there are overall around one hundred officials who participate either directly or
indirectly in the area of environmental management (Office of Veterinary, Food and Rural
Affairs, Office of Mines and Energy, Shipping and Ocean Fishery Department) in particular
through management delegation agreement (mining, careers, waste, etc).

The level of jurisdiction varies depending on the assignments entrusted to the officials.
Engineering, design and supervision are entrusted by statute to staff with scientific and
technical skills, such as engineers, veterinarians, doctors of science. The inspection and
executing agents are generally senior technicians, and the supervisory agents and technicians
are less and less numerous, these activities being increasingly sub-contracted to the private
sector.

Each institution allocates financial resources for environment management through its annual
budget.

These are basically budgetary allocations from the New Caledonian Government and
resources procured through the five-year State/Province and State/inter-institution
development contracts, which make up the Provinces' financial resources. Government
departments receive annual budgetary allocations from the govemment budget and
development contracts with the French State. The municipalities have budgetary allocations
from the New Caledonian Govemment, resources from development contracts entered into
with the French State and their own resources (indirect taxes and royalties).

In New Caledonia, there are no indirect taxes specifically allocated to a fund for
environmental management.

Only the Provinces' spheres of action are detailed in this chapter, those of the Government,
the municipalities and the French State having been set out in Chapter 3.

Facilities classified for environmentaI conservation

' Processing statements and authorisations relating to use of facilities classified for
environmental conservation.

. Monitoring and inspection of classified facilities.

' Developing regulations and enforcement mechanisms for classified facilities.
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Hydraulics and development
r Delegated management of stream maintenance.

' Management of authorisations for sampling water resources.

' Management of development activities (prepared areas, hiking tracks etc) and
rehabilitation of sites (especially mining sitei; ano landscapes

' Technical support for the municipalities, drinking-water supply.

The environment

' characterisation, protection and rehabilitation of natural
situated in province territory.

heritage and landscapes

' Definition of management measures and enforcement mechanisms for the sustainable
use of natural environments and their components.

' Management of the allocation of certain rights and permits in the mining sector.

' Development of regulations dealing with management of the environment and their
application.

' Informing and raising of environmental awareness in those administered.
t Management of the maritime public domain.

Protected areas

. Conseryation, promotion and enhancement
provinces' natural heritage and its endemic
assets, enshrined in parks and reserves.

of the value to New Caledonia of the
components, as well as their landscape

' Development of regulations for establishing and managing protected areas and
implementation of appropriate enforcement mihanisms.

. Informing visitors and raising their awareness.

Moreover, some technical assignments under Province jurisdiction are contractually
delegated to the Government's technical services (mining procedures, industrial facilities,
management plan for special and dangerous waste etc).

Finally, expertise, indeed in some cases project supervision, is increasingly entrusted toprivate-sector consulting firms or to research institutes. Construction, rehabilitation,
development and maintenance works are also increasingly outsourced and entrusted to theprivate sector and are covered by special govemment proc--urement contracts.

Environmental education is strongly supported by the Provinces, particularly through theactivities of the Environmental Education Centre (CfE) and through implementation ofappropriate school prograrns.
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Strengths

r Structured institutional and administrative organisations involving Kanak customary
authorities (Customary Senate)

r Strong technical and administrative skills (officials' qualification levels).

' Proximity of high-quality scientific environment (IRD, IP, [AC, IFREMER, UNC).

' Gradual strengthening of local expertise capacity (private consulting firms).
r Political will to support integrated management of conservation areas, participatory

management, creation of protected boundaries and particularly registration of
outstanding sites on the World Heritage List.

r Growing awareness by communities and customary authorities of the value of
environmental conservation.

I Active Environmental Education Centre (local NGO).
r Active presence of intemational-level NGOs (WWF, CI).
. Exceptionalbiodiversity.

Constraints

Exceptional biodiversity, which implies major stakes for conservation and shong
exposure intemationally.

Conservation effort concentrated on a limited population, which implies an associated
tax pressure that is structurally "disproportionate" (budgetary resources are below
requirements).

Insularity and isolation, small population and scattered habitat.

lmbalance between the urban and economic focus of greater Noumea and the rest of
the country.

Community environmental awareness still insuffi ciently developed.

community links in the environmental area still insufficiently developed.

Overlap of multiple skills and/or stakeholders on the same problems (compelling need
for better coordination).

National scientific research programs sometimes out of kilter in relation to local
requirements.

Multi-ethnic island country, which implies plural communication strategies, increased
requirements for communication and collegiality.

Pacific area of influence largely Anglo-Saxon.

I

I

a

I

I
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Requirements

. Skills in delegating management.

. Participatory management and facilitation.

. Setting up "connections" in the community.
r Strengthening prerogative powers, in particular regulatory powers and resources

surveillance/inspection /coercion.

r Access to specific information (emergency intervention systems, scientific and

for

technical monitoring).

I Development of financial tools making it possible to increase, diversifo and
perpetuate resources and means dedicated to environmental conservation.

Desired collaborations (not exhaustivet)

. of requirements expressed (preceding paragraph).

' Feedback and expertise on legal protection of biodiversity and intellectual property
(traditional medicine, natural substances, bioprospecting and biopiracy.

' Feedback on multilateral environmental agreements, on partnerships and regional
coordination mechanisms.

' Feedback on biodiversity development (services rendered, horticulture, natural
substances, species trade, ecotourism)

' Feedback and expertise on invasive species management activities (positive or
negative lists, living-material transfer protocol, methods of inspection);

' Development of environmental indicators (annual review, policy assessment).

' Feedback and expertise on the establishment of trust funds and other financial tools
enabling freedom from the eligibility criteria imposed by national (FFEM), European
or international (GEF, WB etc) donors.

' Feedback on and training in conservation management and grass-roots technique,
particularly for community groups.

' Feedback and expertise on waste management in isolated areas/scattered dwellings.

' Feedback on promoting waste reduction at source and on waste re-
use/recycling/enhancemenVtreatment systems in the Pacific, based on small volumes.

' Feedback and collaboration on the creation of awareness tools and translation into
French of some communication materials ("Mangroves in the South Pacific").
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Workine Group I

Note: (T) indicates applicable to translation/bilingual issues; (l), (2), (3) indicate applicable to
prioritized issues

*** Our top three priorities are in a context of the bilingual issue addressed. ***

Summarized accordinq to prioritized issues

Translation / bilingualism:
(T) Bilingual issues must be a cornerstone of all improved relations between SPREP and territories,
and between territories.
(T) French speaking territories feel they should reciprocate with bilingual responses to SPREP
correspondense, as well as providing information to SPREP in bilingual format.
(T) Translation unit is necessary at SPREP. Translation is a burden on the French territories, and
translation errors are possible. Donor nations or French territories could possibly fund a permanent
SPREP translation unit.
(T) At SPREP who decides what is to be hanslated? Answer: management.
(T) Typically, there is not a discrete unit available for translation within the territories (except for
French Polynesia, which does have a translation department). The result is that fianslations are
sometimes delayed or neglected if the person with the appropriate language skills are busy or on
leave.

Priority l: Improved knowledse between SPREP and territories
(l) Appropriate documents should be tanslated into French (list should be developed by SPREP and
reviewed by French territories).
(l) Proposed that each teritory should compile a qualifications statement (or prospectus) for
disfribution to SPREP and other Territories, as a means of increasing understanding of the resources
and expertise available. Essentially, a "who we are", "what we do", and "why we do it" document
provided to SPREP.
(l) SPREP has considered creating a "country officer" or "liaison officer" at SPREP for each
territory.
(l) Territories agencies' should keep SPREP in mind as a potential resource (technical or otherwise)
when undertaking their projects.

Prioritv 2: Focal Point structure
(2) Direct contact between technical services at SPREP and counterpart technical personnel in each
country/territory, with courtesy copy to the Focal Point as a means of relieving Focal Point bottleneck.
(2) Improve timeliness of distribution of documents that require hanslation. Meetings are often
missed, or requested action items are addressed too late, due to the extra time necessary for
interpretation.

PrioriU 3: lncrease awareness of SPREP's impacts in territorv/region
(3) SPREP newsletter not always received by some territories, and it is provided in English only.
(3) Tenitories to take on some responsibility to invite SPREP to territorial activities, to increase
public awareness within territory of the benefits of being a SPREP member.
(3) Tokelau needs more attention from SPREP; little presence in Tokelau.
(3) SPREP personnel on a technical mission in-territory should make an effort to contact appropriate
government officials and the Focal Point as a means of promoting SPREP awareness within the
territory.
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FOCUSED POINTS
I - TMPROVE FUNDINGS AND PARTNERSHTPS MECANISM (6 )
2 - TMPROVE EXPERTISE MOBTLISATTON (7)
3 _ MONITORING AI\D EVALUATION
4 _ SIDS STATUS AND MEA'S
5 _ REGIONAL POLICY

R,iunion visant une meilleure intigration des Territoires insulaires octianiens au sein du programme de travail
du Seudlariat du PROE

APIA - SAMOA OCCIDENTALE
l3-l5juin 2005

Annex 5

Workins Group 2

TMPROVE FLJNDINGS AND PARTNERSHIPS MECAI{ISM (l)

EXPLORE OPPORTTIIVTIES TO DEVELOP PARTIYERSHIPS TO EXTEND
ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA TO FTJNDING

Island Biodiversiw prosraurme of work Action bodv : Kate-SPREP
Co-frnancing conponent GEF Action body: SPR-EP pursue political argument with

implement agencies + GEF+SPC
EU tunds as EDF l0 Action bodies : Satui, Dom - SPREP/ Government

NC - EU representative

IMPROVE FI,JNDINGS AND PARTI\ERSHIPS MECAI\{ISM (2)

PROMOTE & ENGAGE TERRITORIES IN TYPE U PARTNERSHIPS NSIIES AND
CREATE A PLATFORM TO DEAL WITH COMMON ISSI]ES

SPREP Type II facilitators Action body: Coral-SPREP to coordinate

IMPROVE FITNDINGS AI\[D PARTNERSIIIPS MECANISM (3)
SPREP REQUEST CONSIDERATION OF
TERRITORY INVOLVMENT AT PACIFIC PLAN
MEETING

Action body : Matt-SPREP

IMPROVE FI,JNDINGS AI\ID PARTNERSHIPS IVIECAI{$M (4)

ADVOCATE TIIT CASE OF TERRITORIES IN REGIONAL ACTIONS (reeionalism)
SPREP in programming corporately thrrough the
resourcing strategy

Action body : SPREP

IMPROVE FTJNDINGS AND PARTNERSHIPS MECANISM (5)

SPREP APPROACH/CONST]LT FRANCE & USA ABOUT TERRITORY
ELIGIBILITY/ENGAGEMENT IN RSGIONAL MEETINGS

SPREP meetine 2005 Actionbodv: A. TAKESY - DD of SPREP
GEF GEC meeting November 2005 Actionbody: A. TAKESY - DD of SPREP + Coral

_ SPREP
AFD inplications Action body ; E. CLUA - CzuSP, to pursue with

AFD
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IMPROVE FUNDINGS AI\D PARTNERSHIPS MECAI\NM (6)

TERRITORIES PURSUE SUPPORT FROM
STATES TO GET ELIGIBILITY FROM UN
FUNDTNGS + MULTILATERAL MECANISMS
WHERE IT HAS REDUCED ITS RESSOURCING
TO THE TERRITORY (NC/France and FFEM es)

Action body : Tenitories and keeping inform SPREP
in retum

IMPROVE EXPERTISE MOBILISATION (l)
DEDICATE SECTION ON WEBSITE TO ADRESS
COUNTRY/TERRITORY NEEDS OF
ASSISTANCE + REGISTER OF EXPERTISE
AVAILABLE TO BE SHARED

Action body : SPREP and CountrylTerritory focal
points

IMPROVE EXPERTTSE MOBILISATION (2)

CHECK SENDING OUT CALENDAR OF EVENTS
TO TERRITORIES

Action body : Jacques M. - SPREP

TMPROVE EXPERTTSE MOBILISATION (3)

ORGANIZE SHORT WORKSHOP TO SHARE
SPECIFIC EXPERTISE (GIS tools es.)

Action body : Program managers - SPREP

rMpRovE EXPERTISE MOBILISATION (4)

CONSULT WITH TERRITORIES AS PART OF
WORK PLANNING

Action body : Programme Officers - SPREP,
calendar ofevents

rMpRovE EXPERTTSE MOBILISATION (5)

II.[/ITE TERRTTORIES TO SPECIFIC
WORKSHOPS AS RESOURCE PEOPLE

Action body : Programme Oflicers - SPREP,
Territories identify opporhrnities for supplying
resource people (link to calendar events)

IrvtPRovE EXPERTTSE MOBILISATION (6)

HAVE A CONTINUOUS TTMESLOT AT THE
SPREP MEETING FOR A PRESENTATION ON A
SUCESSFUL TERRITORY COUNTRY
PARTNERSHIP

Action body : A. TAKESY - DD of SPREP

TMPROVE EXPERTTSE MOBILISATION (7)

TERRITORIES SHARE SUCCESS STORIES
DURING SPREP MEETTNGS. ON WEBSITES
AND DURTNG SPREP VISITS IN TERRITORIES

Action body : Territories

MONITORING AI\{D EVALUATION
Involve territories in M & E work in relation to the

Action Strategy for Nature Conservation
Action body : Kate Brown - SPREP

Stocktake of indicators and then harmonisation and

sinrolification (KISS)
Action body : Matt Mclntyre - SPREP

Agree on Country profile terrplate for members to
reDort on progress against the SPREP Action Plan

Action body : Matt Mclntyre - SPREP

Raise 2 and 3 above at next SPREP Meeting for
discussion in the context of the Countrv Profiles

Action body : Kate Brown - SPREP

I

I
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SIDS STATUS AND MEA CLARIFTCATION
SPREP offers to clariff UN SIDS Status for
territories with UNDESA if needed

Actionbody: SPREP (Coral, Matt, Amena)

Clariff role of territories with regard to MEA's Action body : Territories to clarify and inform
SPREP

Territories to have input/engagement in the pacifrc
Plan process for deeper regionalism and collaboration

Action body : SPREP to promote territory input
through Pacihc Plan taskforce, Matt Mclntyre, Coral
- SPREP

REGIONAL POLICY
SPREP needs to stengthen and facilitate involvement
of territories in Regional Policy development and
implementation

Action body ; Prograrnrne Managers + Management
SPREP

Forumwith collaboration with SPREP to encourage
engagement of territories in Regional policy
j4cluding through the Pacific Plan development

Action body : Matt, Coral, Amena SPREP

Map out Regional Policy Processes and frarneworks Action body : Coral - SPREP
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGMMME

Sixteenth SPREP Meeting
Apia, Samoa

13-16 September 2005

Agenda ltem 7.3: Effects of Human Population on the Environment

Purpose of Paper

1. To present to the Meeting a .discussion paper on the linkages between population and the
environment, as requested by the 15* SPREP Meeting last year, and for members to consider the
recommendations to cater for population matters in SPREP's strategic prograrnmes. This paper was
produced with the help of SPC and other relevant institutions as acknowledged in the References
Section. The paper is contained in Attachment l.

Background

3. Member countries and territories are experiencing massive pressures on their environmental
resources from population growth, urbanisation and in some cases population decline. At the l5h
SPREP Meeting during the discussion of the Secretariat's work prog&rnme and budget members
called for a discussion paper on this.

4. SPREP's work in biodiversity, pollution prevention and climate change consider population
as one of many influencing factors in the consideration of capacity building. However Pacific island
countries and territories (PICTs) need the ability to control the location of land use, the intensity of
development activity or the quality of development/protection measures - to minimize direct and
cumulative environmental impact.

5. SPREP's Pacific Futures prograrnme component 'Environmental Policy and Planning' has
been designed to include activities for capacity building in environmental impact assessment (EIA),
strategic environmental assessments (SEA) and integrated planning systems - all aimed to address
population and development dynamics to reduce environmental impact.

6. Pacific Small Island Development States (SIDS) were forceful in arguing for 'integrated
planning systems' at the Mauritius International Meeting in January 2005. This argument, covered in
the Pacific Position (January 2004) was included in the Mauritius Strategy as a critical means to
provide local enabling environments for sustainable development.

t
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7. To stimulate action in this area, SPREP contributed to having the 5h Asia-Pacific Ministerial
Conference on Environment and Development (MCED, March 2005) support a Pacific Initiative for
capacity development - "Sustainable Community lifestyles in the Pacific Island Countries - Planning

for Implementation". This initiative places emphasis on the integrated land use planning component
of the Type tr Partnership Initiative "Planningfor Sustainable Community Lifestyles " released by the
Pacific Leaders at the WSSD as one of 14 Pacific Umbrella Initiatives.

8. Funding for human and project resources in environmental assessment and planning has

proved elusive since 1999. With integrated planning inscribed in key internationalpolicy instruments,
and in the Secretariat's strategic programmes, it is hoped that resources would become more readily
available.

9, There are promising opportunities for resources for national and regional level capacity
development coming from the MCED planning initiative and the new opportunity area of the GEF -
Sustainable Land Management (Operational Programme 15). UNEP has pledged resources to the

MCED Pacific Initiative and UNDP/GEF has leveraged USD29m for least developed countries
(LDCs) and SIDS through the new GEF operational window which targets integrated land use

planning systems.

10. Planning approaches will need to be developed by local communities with national
government coordination, to ensure that systems and approaches incorporate customary practices and

aspirations. Case studies should inform capacity development in the initial phases - so that models

suited to PICTs situations and circumstances can be accommodated. It is of paramount importance

that capacity development be supported by education and awareness initiatives. Such support can be

delivered from the Peoples and lnstitutions component of the Island Ecosystems stategic prograrnme.

Recommendation

Members are invited to:

with the 5h MCED Pacific Initiative "sustainable Community Lifestyles in the Pacific
island countries - Planning for implementation" and encourage their continued support;

to Sustainable Land Management project for land degadation, which among other things
will avail resources for integrated land use planning;

PICTs to manage population related presstres on the environment, especially those

delivered through the Environment Policy and Planning component 2.5 of Pacific
Futures:

intended in Programme component 2.5, including the leveraging of resources to engage

the EIA officer to support these activities.

ll.

l5 July,2005
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Population, Settlements and the Environment in the
Pacific Island Countries and Territories

Summary

Pacific island countries and territories (PICTs) have experienced rapid rates of
westernization, urbanization and population increase that continues to place extraordinary
stress on natural, economic and human resources. With population growth ranging from -
0.5 to 5.6 percenl (oh), averaging 2.2 percent (%), the population of PICTs is currently
about 8.6 million, representing an increase of some l.gmillion people since 1994. With
urban populations making up 50-70% of total populations (10 of the 2l Pacific SIDs),
many countries and territories are now among the most densely populated places in the
world. South Tarawa, for instance in Kiribati with 2,330 persons per square kilometer, is
amongst the most densely populated communities in the world. Urban population growth
has outpaced rural growth in all but 2 PICTs (French Polynesia and Niue)*.

Population dynamics and urbanization have come with adverse impacts, including: land
degradation; loss of biodiversity; degradation of marine and forest resources; degraded
water resources; poor sanitation and infrastructure; poor environmental health practices
and huge problems with waste and toxicftrazardous substances.

Given the magnitude of population developments and the impacts on the environment in
the region, as well as the social, economic and political implications, it is argued that the
joint consideration of population, development and the environment - needs priority
attention. This paper explores some of the significant pressures, as well as the social and
environmental impacts of rampant population growth, urbanization and unrestrained
development - to explore useful options that may assist PICTs deal with current and
mounting challenges.

Population and the Environment: placing the issue in context

Population growth and shifts are the chief driving forces for environmental damage and
resource overexploitation (unsustainable production and consumption) especially if
planning and coordination systems and mechanisms are not in place. This is particularly so
where high population densities coincides with intense economic activity, as with the
coastal areas of most PICTs. There is concern that the unsustainable consumption and
production caused by population dynamics has exceeded the carrying capacity of many
islands.

I
'Source: Pacific Islands Environment Outlook 2004
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Poverty is an emerging issue in a number of the PICTs. Rapid population growth and in-
country migration has exacerbated urbanization and coastal developments to the point
where municipalities and national goverrrments cannot keep up with demands for basic

services. The result is diminished human quality of life, rising incidence of disease,

disruption and conflict, as well as degradation and over-exploitation of precious natural
resources. In tum with the social and environmental base under stress, economic

opportunity is affected.

Managing population dynamics can be accomplished through a series of government and

community initiatives: improving migration systems and tightening requirements, health

campaigns to reduce birth rates, improving infrastructure development, decentralizing
infrastructure development, incentives for decentralizing economic activity, economic

initiatives in outer islands focused on employment, improving engineering and building
practices, land and marine resource use planning (physical planning), integrated natural

resource management (focused on wise use of resources) and good use of environmental

assessments.

Urbanization is a common feature of communities in transition, however initiatives are

needed to curb the rate of urbanization and ensure the concentration of human and

economic activity is within the physical and environmental capacity of an area, and

development suits the social nonns and aspirations of communities. The ability to address

population pressures on basic human services and environmental systems - often depends

on the abilify to coordinate development (location, intensity, quality & timing) in a manner

that balances qualiry of life pursuits, against the need for economic activity and the desire

to minimize environmental impacts.

"Rural to urban migration is an inevitable outcome of modem development. Ilowever, if
left unmanage{ it can create serious problans for urban commugities and the cpuntry as a

whole. In Papua New Guinea, the probteurs associated with the unplanned orpansion of
urban centres are manifested in serious crime, urban squalor and public health risks...
these problems impact directly on the quality of life of all urban resiilents, and,increase

costs to ruban-based businesses"

Source: Papua New Guinea, Medium Term Development Strategy, 2005-2010: Our Plan

for Economic and Social Advancement, November 2004.

Often countries will use both national economic policy planning and sub-national land and

resource use planning systems to provide the mechanisms for the coordination of
development and the reconciling of competing demands for development. ln difference to
their SIDS colleagues, most PICTs have well instituted national economic planning

processes while they lack resource/land use planning systems for sub-national

development decision-making and coordination. ln addition there is a large gap in the

basic data and information layers and systems to institute sound integrated planning

processes. There is an advocacy in this paper therefore, to consider pursuing capacity

development in PICTI for intesrated plannin , to deal with, among other matters,

human settlement related issues. This advocacy is consistent with the Pacific Position on

Sustainable Development (January,2004), and the wider call for community based and

sub-national planning approaches in the Mauritius Strategy.
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Population Dynamics

For over a decade, the population of the Pacific islands region has been gowing steadily
between 2 - 3% each year. While the Pacific islands is still primarily rural in nature,
population gowth throughout most of the islands region has been much higher in urban
than rural areas. This can be alternatively described in statistical terms through the fact
that while cunently about 25Yo of all Pacific people live in urban areas, in over l0
countries and territories of the region about 50-70% reside in urban areas. Urbanization
and in-country migration sees population densities in some island communities exceeding
2000 persons per square kilometer (e.g. South Tarawa, Kiribati), placing them alongside
down-town Hong Kong and other mega-cities of Asia, as the most populated places on
earth. One of the consequences of the rate of urbanization being beyond government and
communities ability to plan and coordinate, is the increasing number of people living in
urban slums.

With the current trends continuing, the Pacific islands' population will reach the ten
million mark in about 15 years' time, with the fastest growth occurring in towns and cities.
About 40To of the region's population is under 15 years of age, meaning that soon there
will be huge demands for further economic development for employment - mostly in
urban areas along coastlines.

In the past century, most PICTs have experienced rapid increases in natural resource
exploitation rates, especially land, coastal waters, forests and fisheries. The concern for
many communities is that the concentration of populations coincides with sensitive local
resources that cannot be sustained.

The causes of Population shift and urbanization
The problem with dealing with population dynamics in developing countries has received
the attention of the Commission on Sustainable Development (CSD- UN DESA) over the
last two (2) years (2004-2005). The CSD papers have canvassed a number of causes of
urbanization and settlement, commonly referred to as 'driving forces' for change:

o lncreasing natural population growth;

o Rural to urban migration from economic activity;
r Perceived opportunities for higher paid jobs;

o Better services;

o Degradation of land and depletion of natural resources;

r Land disputes and fragmentation;
o Poverty in rural areas;

o Incidence of armed conflict

PICTs have previously documented the key socio-economic causes to over-consumption
and degradation that are consistent with the above (See Annex 1).
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Degradation of ecosystems and resources is most evident where population density and

economic activity are concentrated together, particularly around towns, and where

resources such as fish, timber and minerals have been over-exploited in the past.

For most PICTs, as world market prices for agricultural commodities are declining, new

investments are more visible in urban than rural areas, and towns are perceived as

important conduits for socio-economic, cultural and political innovation and change.

However, there are some worrying trends. There are indications of rising unemployment,
particularly among young people; high drop-out rates from primary schools; low
household cash incomes; and a growing incidence of substance abuse and crime.

PICTs like many SIDS colleagues also have historic influences that have impacted
settlement patterns

o Colonial settlement and investment patterns: based on economic resource exploitation:
has meant that many 'foreign' centers are suited to extraction of raw or primary
resources and materials for export. They are not based or located to address overall
population needs, nor were they planned to cater for the populations that are now
wanting to live in those centres;

o Colonial relic laws: upon independence many PICs inherited numerous colonial laws,
many related to development, but having little integration, or synthesis with customary

approaches. Discordant development patterns have resulted, many of which cannot be

dealt with retrospectively. The wise adjudication of development pressures using
'relic' laws was not possible in many of the remote islands.

Impacts of Population and Settlements on the Environment and Cultural resources

Urbanization

Expansion of urban centres has direct environmental impact through loss of coastal

habitats (destruction of wetlands, forests and reefs), or indirectly through changes to

drainage systems and concentration of consumption activities (pollution, sediment &
nutrient flows to water systems, over-fishing of coastal waters, land degradation from
intensification of land use, flooding). Decline of resource systems affect subsistence living
and food security: loss of customary food sources (fish and root crops); health problems

from polluted water systems and coastal waters; disease from poor drainage & sanitation;
poor access to basic human services. Urban expansion into marginal lands (steep slopes,

poor soils, water catchments etc) aggravates problems of infrastructure servicing and

control of land clearing, deforestation, erosion and sedimentation of streams and coastal

waters.



Environmental Implications - I{iribati as a case in point
Consisting of three groups of coral atolls and one isolated volcanic island spread over
more than 4,000 kilometres of the cenffal Pacific Ocean, Kiribati has a total land area of
just 8! 1 square kilometers. It has 

.a gopulatig.n of 93,100 people, half of whpm live on the
county's main island of Taraw4 which meisures l2.56tiiirce'mb*eters. Witii timitea
resources and access to basic servicqf,, migtation ftom.outerlstdriOs to Tarawa is pei'ieived
by many as the viable alternative, r"zultiog in a population growth rate of gpproximately
5%. At this rate the population of Tuawa witl double in just 13 year reaching 73,400
people by 2013. Tarawa is already experiencing enormous pressurcs on its uatural
resources much driven by settlement issues, with its lagoon over-exploited and polluted to
such an extent that subsistence fishing is no longer viable in tenns of livelihood or health
reasons. It is inconceivable how Kiribati's economy, society and environmental systems
will be able to cope with the expected increase in ion over the next decade.
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Source: H. Haberkorn, 2004

Many urban centres were not designed to accommodate large numbers or to cater for the
current rates of change. With the government and communities unable to supply the
necessary basic services at the required rate, urban decline prevails and adds to the
problems associated with rapid urban expansion. Often the result is sub-standard housing,
overcrowding, urban congestion and close proximity of families to hazardous materials.

High urban density can minimize opportunities for on-site measures to minimize pollution
through the retention of natural assets, or the building of special water quality control.

In the rural areas poorly located and managed rural land use and development can threaten
sensitive land and marine ecosystem through vegetation clearing, soil degradation (fertility
and structure decline, erosion), sedimentation and pollutant flows to coastal waters. For
many communities, catchment changes directly impede natural coastal processes, affecting
sand regimes, stabilization of coastal areas, coral reefs and fisheries.

ln urban, village and rural scenarios, poorly located, badly timed or over-intense land use
or development can also lead to higher energy use, high costs in infrastructure and
hydraulic services (transport, water, electricity) and/or continually high maintenance costs.

Climate change, variability and sea level rise will place increased pressure on most
communities as a majority of the Pacific population live near the coast which are
susceptible and wlnerable to severe/extreme weather events. Population pressures on the
natural barriers to climate change (reefs, stable coast lines, protected waters,
wetlands/mangroves etc) will only decrease resilience. Planning for urban growth, the
location of settlements, development activities and population distribution is therefore
essential and needs to be undertaken in unison with climate change adaptation measures.
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Source: Small islands voice e-network smallislandsvoice@sivglobal.org
www.sivglobal.ors Posting 6 July 2005

Social Impacts
Urbanisation also has social impacts for recipient communities and those from where

people have come. People with no land of their own often locate in squatter settlements,

squeezing out existing custodians and land owners, causing proximity of people to
hazardous uses or affecting the primary production of peri-urban farmers. For outer island

and rural commtrnities, population shift to urban areas increases the dependency rate (less

% of income eamers), and reduces levels of agriculture production through lack of labour

or lack of required investments due to reduced incomes.

Land conflict abounds where urbanization marginalizes landowners, or the reduced

options for people in rural areas attracts alternative developments from outsiders.

Source: Government of American Samoa, May 2000

Integrated Planning Systems
Many PICTs lack integrated planning systems which pull together cross-sectoral

initiatives in social, economic and environmental developmentn or have 'patchwork'
policy platforms led by EIA provisions, environmental pollution control provisions or
species protection based laws. Many who are at the stage of formulating and developing
their climate change, biodiversity, waste management, community conservation
progfilrnmes have come to recognize the need for an underpinning foundation to integrate

haphazard resource use, conseryation and economic development decision-making.
Contemporary environmental planning and community developrnent planning approaches

are a means to provide this foundation

lntegrated planning systems can provide mechanisms to manage competing demands for
resources; address urbanization and urban decline and instill the coordination mechanisms

required for resource management and infrastrucfure development. They can provide the

connection between national development objectives and sub-national needs in terms of
resource use and development opportunity.
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Strategic planning approaches can draw out the opportunities for development and often
reduce the burden of traditional EIA in terms of costs and bureaucratic delays. By
providing information to the community levels, enabling continued participation in
development processes and working with communities to identify opportunities - often,
integrated planning systems can provide a means to reconcile competing demands on land
and coastal resources and put in place equitable benefit sharing systems. The reduction of
conflict over land use and resource access will improve the confidence of locals as well as
foreign interests to invest.

Design and development of planning systems needs to be done within the traditional
systems and culfural practices in-country, noting that each island is unique in terms of its
specific circumstances and needs.

Where to from here!

The National Assessment Reports (NARs) to the WSSD and BPOA+I0, highlight the lack
of integrated decision-making systems to provide the means to bring disparate sector
initiatives together in the development process. The coordination and integration
necessary for confidence, certainty and equity in development processes is often missing,
especially between national govemment and locaVprovincial and outer island governance.
Coordination in development planning processes which mainstreams environment,
traditional values and participation, is essential for improving lifestyles and maintaining
environmental resource bases.

A key message from PICTs was the calling for integrated planning systems to:

o Coordinate physical development processes;

r Deal with multiple demands on land and marine resources;

o To build up and integrate ELA capacity;

o To use for decentralization of settlement;

o Cater for holistic integrated natural resource rnanagement;

o Provide the framework for economic valuation of natural assets - and integration
into decision making;

o Promote coordinated infrastructure in particular energy, sanitation,
communications, water supply;

r Enable incorporation of adaptation measures into development processes.
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Improved national and sub-national planning systems and their interrelationships,
providing the bridge between economic and physical resource use planning, is seen as the

appropriate foundation to address the void in current systems. The call for integrated
planning systems to address population, instigate and coordinate wise sanitation and water

resource management capacity development, and to balance consumption with
environmental thresholds is consistent with advocacies of Agenda 21, BPOA, the JPOI

and various MEA COP outcomes. Stimulating the wise use of EIA and strategic

assessment (SEA) methods, approaches and tools as part of integrated decision making is
seen as an important catalytic step toward integrated planning systems.

Capacity building is needed in terms of: mainstreaming population issues into decision-

making and planning; improving public participation and empowerment; promotion of
local and community development, and recognizing the role of traditional knowledge,
innovations and practices to address poverty. Initiatives need to promote the links between

land resources, land use and coastal zone management consistent with clause 30 of BPOA.

New Partnerships
Contemporary ElA, environmental planning and community development planning

approaches are a means to provide the foundation for better coordination to address

population pressures. The Pacific Leaders released, among 14 Tlpe II Pacific Umbrella
lnitiatives, an initiative to stimulate action in this area- "Planning for Sustainable
Community Lifestytes". The initiative aims to assist PICTs with choices to improve
vertical and horizontal coordination in environment and development planmng - with a

community development focus. Partnerships will aim to address capacity in four key areas

to assist with the institution of integrated planning systems:

r LegislativeFrameworks;
o lnstitutionalFrameworks;
o lntegrated land use planning systems; and,
. InformationforDecision-making.

Opportunities for Capacity building

Building on the call for partnerships a number of related initiatives have commenced in
the Pacific to assist in the leveraging of assistance and resources.

The call for integrated planning systems through community development focus, has now
been entrenched in Asia-Pacific regional policy directives with economic, finance and

environment Ministers recently calling for commitment to this capacity development at the

5th Asia-Pacific Ministerial Conference on Environment and Development (MCED,
UNESCAP, Korea, 24-2gth March, 2005). The Pacific lnitiative to the MCED,

"sustainable Community lifestyles in the Pacitic Island Countries - Planning for
Implementation'1 was supported by Asia-Pacific Ministers and included in the meeting

outcomes. Resource support for the initiative has been gained from UNEP Regional Office
for Asia-Pacific, Bangkok.



I 6SlWOfficialsn[P.T. 3/Att. I
Page 9

The Targeted Portfolio approach for Sustainable Land Management (SLM), under the new
GEF opportunity window (Operational Programrne l5), developed by UNDP/GEF with
regional stakeholders including SPREP, is now operating in the Pacific. Countries have
received funds for Medium Size Projects with include opportunities for capacity
development resources in two relevant areas:

e Mainstreaming SLM: integrating land degradation issues into National
Development Plans and sector Action Plans, such as that for Biodiversity and
Climate Change; harmonizing priorities through links to National Capacity Self
Assessments CNCSAs); integrating policies and laws; integrated resource
mobilization; awareness raising; case studies of best practice; individual and
institution skills development; national coordination mechanisms (such as national
sustainable development committees); improved land tenure dispute resolution;
local, community and traditional knowledge management & development of
information systems (such as geographic information systems [GIS]);

. fnrcgrated Land Use Planning Systems (ILUP): participatory planning &
institutional mechanisms; tools to assess & monitor ecosystem function &
production capacity; approaches for integrated decision-making - integrated
watershed or landscape planning, land suitability analysis; mapping resources &
land use scenarios; land-use conflict resolution; strategic environmental
assessment (SEA) & project EIA; resource use economics; GIS for integrated land
use planning & early waming systems; and demonstration activities on best
practices.

Conclusions
Alternative strategies for land use, resource use and development coordination will be
essential to mitigating the impacts of current and emerging population pressures.
Traditional and modem methods will need to be combined to provide decision-making
systems -which maximize participation, ownership, coordination and practical
implementation of measures to ensure the maintenance or improvernent of PICT's quality
of life.

Many PICTs do not have integrated land or resource use planning systemsr. Without these,
PICTs are missing the foundations upon which to proceed with more positive forward
interventions and processes to address urbanization and identi$ 'opportunities' for good
development. The presence and availabilities of opportunity, along with certainty and
confidence in investments are prerequisites for sustainable development.

' In the Pacific coniext a 'planning' system should be interpreted widely. Commonly it has been used to describe economic planning as
it relates to national level economic policy and development plans. ln terms of sub-national decision-making PICTS oflen rcfer to land
use or resource use planning. However converse to westen conceps of formal land use zoning regimes, planning approaches could
consist of an extension to environmental managenrent systerns, physical developme-nt or resource rnanag€m€nt laws etc. A 'planning'
regime for land use & resource management ruy be introduced in some rcmotc and customary islands as a package of administrative
mechanisms, built around existing economic systerns.
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Sustaining Pacific livelihoods and economies while maintaining essential ecosystem

function is the key challenge for PICTs, especially in the face of exacerbating socio-

economic and environmental pressures from population growth and urbanization.
Primarily the challenge will be to create economic opportunity (within carrying capacity

of the islands) in outer islands and rural areas. Whether it be pushes for sustainable

tourism, or niche agriculture - corlmunities need the best information on the utility of
their resources, the sensitivities / fragilities of the environment and their vulnerabilities
(disasters, economic and social).

Contemporary integrated planning systems that feature the environment as providing the

basis for economic and social development, have a number of redeeming features suited to

customary and subsistence cultures of the Pacific Islands. They allow earlv participation

of the community in decision making, enable local ownershio of decisions, can be easily

adapted to include traditional manasement and use repimes, allows user'Dav

mechanisms and earlv intervention in the development pipeline. They can be tailored to

existing administrative systems and can use the strategic outputs from other initiatives (eg

Climate Change, NBSAPs, Waste, Reefs and Coastal management initiatives).

Capacity development initiatives to address the challenge in PICTs ability to institute
integrated planning systems should receive the attention of all development partners in the

Pacific.

fWhile this paper has an environmental impact focus, the wider social and economic

implications have been made obvious. Broader matters of social development, fiscal and

economic incentives to address population issues could be taken up through the

advancement of the Pacific Plan.l
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Annex I

Human Settlements: Drivers for Environmental, Social and Economic degradation
[Derived from the High Level Meeting on Sustainable Development, March 2003,Nadi, Fiji.

Population pressures through growth, intemal migration and urbanisation has lead to bad
land use location, overcrowding, high intensity of land use, sprawled settlement, poorly timed
and designed development. These pressures have affected some PIC's ability to protect,
improve or sustainably use their environment, resulting in social, health, physical and
environmental degradation.

Lack of Coordination in government decision making, utility/infrastructure provision,
economic and physical planning etc is recognized as a driver to the poor balance of resource
use, sensitivities and needs of the community. PICs have identified lack of coordination in
government, between govemment and business/NGOs, and between regional and national
govemance as a major impediment to pursuing sustainable development.

Financial Leakages: The PICs have numerous examples of development by multi-national or
foreign companies where most of the multipliers ($) go offshore. For instance studies of
tourism in Fiji have indicated that up to 80-90% of financial multipliers from development
end up off shore. What is the significance of this? All development involves some form of
natural or human resource use exploitation, which may result in an environmental cost, or loss
of potential 'economic rent' by locals.

Natural disasters: Cyclones, floods, droughts, tsunamis, bushfires, earthquakes and volcanic
eruptions are huge disruptions to sustainable development endeavours. The economic costs
are high and often direct. Natural disasters cannot be averted however the impacts can be
greatly minimized.

Land Tenure and Resource Access: Dysfunction of tenure systems are many countqy's
primary problem not only in terms of facilitating sustainable economic development, but also
in terms of initiatives for biodiversity, sustainable forest management and environmental
planning. Complexities of land tenure and resource access need to be addressed to deal with
the lack of certainty that prevails in land adjudication and the poor confidence for
investments.

Marine resources are a comerstone for the sustainable social and economic development of
the Pacific Island peoples. 70o/o of PIC assets and population are within coastal areas. Poor
ability for planning and coordination of development often sees unsustainable concentrations
where natural resources were once prolific. In many Pacific island countries inshore fisheries
are declining from over exploitation and environmental degradation and the establishment of
effective management is a priority to maintain or restore maximum sustainable yields.



I 6SlWOfficials/WP. 7. 3/Att. I
Page 12

Minimising pollution: Contamination of groundwater, freshwater and the marine

environment, increasing quantities of solid waste, the lack of controls on chemicals imported
into the region and the lack of capacity to manage chemicals - are all of serious concern for
Pacific island countries. In addition to land based activities, the region's coastal and marine
resources are threatened by introduced marine species, ship wrecks and marine spills (oil,
chemicals and other hazardous materials), ships' waste (oil, sewage, chemicals and garbage),

antifouling paints on vessels, the transport of nuclear materials and the physical impacts and

pollution from dredging, sand extraction and sea-bed mining.

Energy: The dependency of Island economies on fossil fuel for electricity and domestic

transport, as well as importation of goods, leaves many Island economies are at the mercy of
foreign trade and oil markets, The PICs have little control over the technologies for energy

use, or the pricing of the fuels.

Trade and Globalisation: Globalisation and increasing trade liberalization can be a "double-
edged sword" for some PICTs. While some may realize benefits, for others there may be

'negatives' that have far reaching effects on sustainable development. Countries need

assistance in evaluating the economic as well as the cultural, moral, behavioural,

technological and environmental consequences of trade liberalization. There may also be

equity issues about the distribution of benefits that may accrue from liberalisation.

!
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

Sixteenth SPREP Meeting
Apia, Samoa

13-16 Seprember 2005

Agenda ltem 7.4: consideration and Approvar of proposed work
Programme and Budget for 2006

Purpose of Paper

l. To seek the Meeting's consideration and approval of the Secretariat's proposed
Work Programme and Budget for 2006 and to note the indicate budgets for ZO0Z ana
2008.

Recommendation

2. The Meeting is invited to:

and to note the indicative budgets for 2007 and 200g.

2 I July 2005
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGMMME

Sixteenth SPREP Meeting
Apia, Samoa

13-16 September 2005

Agenda Item 8.2: Proposed Procedures for Reappointment of
Incumbent Directors in the Future

Purpose of the Paper

1. To inform the SPREP Meeting (SM) of cunent and emerging procedures for
extending terms of CROP CEO's who have yet to reach the six year limiion tenure and to
propose changes to current SPREP procedures.

Background

2. At last year's SM in Pape'ete, while addressing the process for re-advertising the
post of SPREP Director (since Mr Asterio Takesy's first term would end in January next
year and therefore the SM would need to decide at this year's Meeting on either to
reappoint him or appoint a successor), the Secretariat was requested "to piep*e a paper
for the next SM with a view to harmonising with practices evolving 

"t 
otn.r CROp

agencies on reappointment of incumbents and a mechanism to enable all Pacific island
countries (PICTs) to comment on the performance of the incumbent Director".

3. [n respect of recruiting CEOs for the CROP agencies, the procedures are, by and
large, very similar. Pending vacancies are notified to the members and advertised widely
in the regional media and posted on websites. The notice contains the job description,
terms and conditions, requirements and selection criteria. A selection advisory committee
vets applicants and makes recornmendations to the governing body for a final selection.

4. All CROP agencies have a limit on service at 6 years - either 2 consecutive 3 year
terms (Forum Secretariat, SOPAC, FFA and SPREP) or 3 consecutive 2 year terms (SpC).

5. ln terms of reappointments after the first term, originally incumbents who wish to
seek another term or terms to reach the maximum 6 years service had to do this through
reapplication to the post which had to be re-advertised at the end of every term.

rt
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6. In the last 10 years however, the two largest regional organisations (SPC and
Forum Secretariat) have evolved reappointment mechanisms more reflective of
international practice and to take account of the fact that advertising CEO posts after every
term particularly after the first term and repeating the whole and very elaborate
recruitment procedure is expensive, time and effort consuming. This practice look
particularly odd when CEO's have performed well in their first terms, which require a
period of settling in and becoming familiar with their respective oganisations and the work
environment, and hence continuing for a second term if the incumbent is interested would
make more sense and derive more benefit to both the members and the incumbent than
triggering again the whole recruitment process.

7. The SPC had developed and approved a system whereby its CEO submits to its
Committee of Representatives of Governments and Administrations (CRGA) and onto its
Conference, a bienniel report on her achievements on selected goals and objectives and on
the basis of this report and other Secretariat reports and evaluations available to members,
determines whether the incumbent CEO is offered another term (within the 6 year rule) or
the position be advertised. This system has been in place in SPC for some 10 years now.

8. At about the same time, there has also evolved at the Forum Secretariat, a practice,
whereby the Chair of the Forum would consult ahead of the conclusion of the first term of
the incumbent Secretary-General, with fellow Pacific leaders on whether the incumbent
has performed satisfactorily and hence be offered a second term or the post be advertised,
Although less formal and structured than the SPC's, the intent and effect is similar. This
mechanism has similarly been in existence for about a decade.

9. On the other hand, the practices at FFA, SOPAC and SPREP have remained
largely as they were at the times they were established - the post is advertised at the end of
every term and incumbents who have yet to serve 6 years and are interested in continuing
would have to indicate their interest by reapplying with any other eligible candidates
although SOPAC in amending its rules for executive appointments last year foes not
require a fully documented application from the incumbent. ln every case except one thus
far, reapplying incumbents have been successful in obtaining second terms.

10. Another reason for having a mechanism for a regular evaluation of the Director is
to enable the award (or non-award) of annual performance increments to the Director
which has not been done due to the lack of a review mechanism. In the previous
harmonised CROP remuneration regime, salaries very fixed for the duration of a contract
but with the introduction of the current system in 2001102 with 9 salary steps, there is a
need for a regular or annual review of the CEO perforrnance to enable the CEO to be
awarded performance based salary increments as is the practice for all other staff.

5
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Proposed New Arrangement

11. In accordance with the 15th SM directive and the more practical and cost-effective
reappointment practices evolved by the SPC and Forum Secretariat over the past decade,
the SM consider approving a mechanism for the CEO to submit annually to the SM a
report on achievements of identified management objectives and goals upon which the
members would determine whether hisftrer performance eams a salary increment. On the
second year of office in a first term the SM coutd use these annual reports as the basis on
which it would decide whether to offer a second term or the position be advertised. The
consideration of this report be done in a closed session of the SM.

Recommendations

13. It is recommended that the Meeting:

identified management objectives and goals upon which the members would
determine whether his/trer performance earns a salary increment. On the
second year of office in a first term the SM could use these annual reports as
the basis on which it would decide whether to offer a second term or the
position be advertised. The consideration of this report be done in a closed
session of the SM

l2 July 2005
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGMMME

Sixteenth SPREP Meeting
Apia, Samoa

13-16 September 2005

Agenda ltem 8.3: Proposal from Australia to amend the SPREP Rules of
Procedure for Appointment of Director

Purpose of Paper

1. To present to the Meeting for approval proposed changes to the SPREP Rules of
Procedure for Appointment of Director to remove the requirement for government
nomination of candidates. The proposal does not alter the requirement that candidates be a
national of a member country.

Background

2. Rule 7 of the SPREP Rules of Procedure for Appointment of Director (see
Attachment) currently requires that "applicants must be nominated by a Government or
Administration". Australia notes that the Rules do not speciff exactly what "nomination"
entails, leaving open the possibility that govemments will set different criteria, potentially
disadvantaging some candidates relative to others.

3. Moreover, the requirement for nomination by governments is potentially
inconsistent with a merit-based process and with the principles of good governance that
are expected of regional organisations. The initial process of selecting a Director should
be based only on merit against the agreed criteria to ensure that the recornmendation(s)
that the SPREP Meeting receives are free of any perception of interference or favouritism.
Once this process is complete, it is, of course, open to the SPREP meeting to accept or
reject the selection committee's recommendation, in a transparent and accountable way.

4. Australia notes that other regional organisations, including the Secretariat for the
Pacific Community (SPC), the South Pacific Applied Geoscience Commission (SOPAC)
and the South Pacific Board of Educational Assessment (SPBEA) do not have such a

requirement and that their selection processes are entirely merit-based.

T

t
t
T

I



l6Slvl/OfficidsAilP.8.3
Page2

5. The proposed revision removes the first sentence of the first dot point under Rule
7. Consequently, the second dot point will be ameirded to require candidates to be
nationals of a SPREP member (rather than nominating) country. The provision from dot
point one which allows more than one candidate per country would also be amended to
provide greater clarity and moved into dot point two, which now becomes the first dot
point.

Recommendation

6. The Meeting is invited to:

Director outlined in the Attachment.

I August 2005
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SPREP Rules of Procedure for Appointment of Director

Proposed amendments to Rule 7 - Selection Criteria

Note: first two dot points are deleted; replacement dot point is in l|atics.

Rule 7

The following criteria shall be taken into account by the Selection Advisory Committee
when considering applications:

o applicants must be nationals of a member Government or Administration. More than
one applicant per country may applyfor the position;

. applicants must possess sound personal qualities;

e shortlisted applicants shall be selected on the basis of merit, with regard to:

l. relevant qualifications and experience;

2 proven management abilities; and,

3. superior representational skills.

o individuals of the Selection Advisory Committee are not eligible for consideration.

L


